
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact  
Paulina Ford on  01733 452508 as soon as possible.

Did you know? All Peterborough City Council's meeting agendas are available online or via 
the modern.gov app. Help us achieve our environmental protection aspirations and view this 
agenda online instead of printing it. 

AB
HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MONDAY 12 MARCH 2018
7.00 PM

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest and Whipping Declarations

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council. 
Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration.

3. Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Committee  Meeting Held on 8 January 
2018

3 - 8

4. Call In of any Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Key Officer Decisions

The decision notice for each decision will bear the date on which it is 
published and will specify that the decision may then be implemented on the 
expiry of 3 working days after the publication of the decision (not including 
the date of publication), unless a request for call-in of the decision is 
received from any two Members of the relevant Scrutiny Committee.  If a 
request for call-in of a decision is received, implementation of the decision 
remains suspended for consideration by the relevant Scrutiny Committee.

5. Dental Services in Peterborough 9 - 126

6. Ambulance Service - Ambulance Response Program (ARP) And The 
Impact On Peterborough

127 - 134

7. Winter Pressures 135 - 138

Public Document Pack



8. Update On The Successes And Failures Of Integrated Urgent Care 1 
Year On

139 - 144

9. Briefing Update On Key Current Local Mental Health Work Streams 145 - 164

10. Monitoring Scrutiny Recommendations 165 - 168

11. Forward Plan of Executive Decisions 169 - 206

Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385

Committee Members:

Councillors: M Cereste (Chairman), K Aitken, S Barkham,  H Fuller, M Jamil, N Khan, S Lane, 
G Nawaz, B Rush (Vice Chairman) and  J Whitby

Substitutes: Councillors: G Casey, A Clark, J R Fox, and A Shaheed

Parish Councillor Co-opted Member:  Henry Clark
Parish Councillor Co-opted Member Substitute:  Jason Merrill

Dr Steve Watson – Co-opted Member

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from  Paulina Ford on telephone 01733 
452508 or by email – paulina.ford@peterborough.gov.uk

  

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
 HELD AT 7.00PM ON

MONDAY 8 JANUARY 2018
IN THE BOURGES / VIERSEN ROOMS, TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH

Committee 
Members Present:

Councillors M Cereste (Chairman), B Rush (Vice Chairman) K  Aitken, 
S Barkham, D Fower, H Fuller,  M Jamil, N Khan, S Lane, G Nawaz, J 
Whitby, Parish Councillor Co-opted Member Henry Clark, and Co-opted 
Member Dr Steve Watson

Also present Susan Mahmoud Healthwatch

Officers Present: Dr Liz Robin
Joanna Morley

Director of Public Health
Democratic Services Officer

34. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies for absence were received. 

35. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING DECLARATIONS 

No declarations of interest or whipping declarations were received.

36. MINUTES OF THE HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD ON 6 NOVEMBER 2017 

The minutes of the meetings held on 6 November 2017 were agreed as a true and accurate 
record.

37. CALL-IN OF ANY CABINET, CABINET MEMBER OR KEY OFFICER DECISIONS

There were no requests for Call-in to consider.

The Chairman announced that due to illness, the report author of Dental services in 
Peterborough, item 5 on the published agenda, was unable to attend the meeting. The 
Committee unanimously agreed to reschedule the report to the March meeting. 

38. THE EXTENT TO WHICH PUBLIC HEALTH OUTCOMES ARE CONSIDERED IN WIDER 
COUNCIL DECISION MAKING

The report was introduced by the Director of Public Health and originated from discussion and 
approval of the Health Scrutiny Committee Forward Work programme at the start of the 
2017/18 year. The report was being presented to update the Committee on the extent to which 
public health outcomes were considered in wider Council decision making and for the 
Committee to make any appropriate recommendations.

3



The Health Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised and 
responses to questions included:

 There were four main vehicles used to promote consideration of public health issues in the 
wider work of the Council; the cross-directorate Public Health Officer board, the joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy, regular presentations and workshops for Councillors and the role 
of the Cabinet Portfolio for Public Health and the Director of Public Health.

 As many of the Council’s functions had an impact on Health and Wellbeing it posed the 
question whether there could be a more structured process around some of the decision 
making but it was an issue that needed to be considered quite carefully in terms of the 
capacity of officers and the number of decisions that got made.

 The Joint strategic needs assessment for diverse ethnic communities which had been done 
for the Health and Wellbeing board identified the need for ESOL (English as a second 
language) courses. It had become clear that there was an issue around people who had 
arrived quite recently and who did not understand English and therefore were unable to 
access preventive health services.

 Initially Public Health funding for ESOL courses had been channelled through the 
Community Serve programme which worked in more disadvantaged areas. However the 
courses were now being run by City College, Peterborough funded by a grant from the 
DCLG (Department for Communities and Local Government).

 Nationally, the Road Safety partnership was experiencing problems with casualty data and 
the new CRASH (Collision recording and sharing) system.

 The Mental Health and Wellbeing Services Conference had been held on 30 November 
2017 and had focussed on the new and improved services for children and young people’s 
mental health and wellbeing. It was well attended by professionals and officers who worked 
in the service, together with some Councillors. The presentations made at the conference 
could be viewed on the website www.keep-your-head.com 

 Referrals to Children’s mental health services could be made via various different routes 
with the objective being that children’s needs would be met whichever route they used. 
The website www.keep-your-head.com had lots of information about the different access 
routes available.

 Councillors questioned the amount and types of adaptations to homes that had been made 
for disabled and vulnerable residents and whether there had been sufficient budget for this.

 Further information on the 2016/17 Carers survey was sought.
 The Council had applied for £150k of sustainable travel funding from the Combined 

Authority but had yet to hear whether they had been successful or not.
 The National Controlling Migration Fund had funded five projects to support the health and 

wellbeing of diverse communities; Getting to Know You, Alcohol Misuse, Rough Sleeper 
Support Services, Shared Vision and Social Media Resources.

 There had been a lower uptake of the Mental Health Crisis service by the South Asian 
community so officers were working hard to promote the service and improve this.

 There were key performance indicators in place to ensure that communities facing 
particular problems (eg. heart and diabetes health in the South Asian community) were 
targeted.

 Mosques and community centres were mainly used by men so GP surgeries were being 
encouraged to refer women from the South Asian communities into these services.

 In Peterborough the uptake for cervical cancer screening was worse than the national 
average. The issues of higher population mobility, especially in the lower age group, a lack 
of trust in the local service and a preference by Eastern Europeans to get screened when 
they went back home, may have been factors leading to a poor uptake. Additionally, 

4

http://www.keep-your-head.com/
http://www.keep-your-head.com/


screening was carried out at GP surgeries which often did not offer extended opening hours 
and so working women found it difficult to schedule an appointment.

ACTIONS AGREED:

The Health Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to note the report and requested that the Director 
of Public Health;

1. Obtain a briefing note for Councillors from the Principal of City College Peterborough 
detailing timings, venues and accessibility of the ESOL courses.

2. Provides a briefing note updating Councillors on the work of CHUMS and the Mental 
Health Service.

3. Seeks further information from the Service Director: Community and Safety on 

 Adaptations to homes for disabled and vulnerable people and how the cross 
directorate group looking at the care of vulnerable people consider how their needs 
were being met under the wider housing strategy.

 The 2016-2017 Carers Strategy

4. Ascertains from NHS England, which commissions Cervical screening, whether GP 
surgeries got paid directly for achieving targets for this service.

5. Asks the task group specifically looking at screening uptake whether the uptake was 
much higher in areas where doctors’ surgeries offered an out of hours or extended 
service.

6. Feedbacks to those who promoted and were responsible for the www.keep-your-
head.com website that there were several keepyourhead domain names and that 
therefore the correct weblink, using dashes between the words, should always be used 
to avoid any confusion.

39. PUBLIC HEALTH PORTFOLIO HOLDER’S SIX MONTHLY UPDATE REPORT

The report was requested by the Health Scrutiny Committee following presentation of the 
Public Health Portfolio Holder’s Report 2016/17 at the Health Scrutiny Committee meeting in 
June 2017. The report provided an overview of the performance of the public health functions 
of the Council over the first six to eight months of 2017/18 and progress against the priorities 
set for 2017/18.

The Health Scrutiny Committee debated the report and in summary, key points raised and 
responses to questions included:

 To meet the requirements of the Health and Social Care Act (2012) the portfolio focussed 
on four key areas: advising and developing strategies, carrying out needs assessments 
(working with other parts of the NHS), campaigns and commissioning. 

 The majority of the Public Health Service’s spend was on externally commissioned 
contracts.

5

http://www.keep-your-head.com/
http://www.keep-your-head.com/


 The report also commented on the wider service which was funded from the Public Health 
grant but which was not overseen by the portfolio holder. These included Children’s centres 
and community safety services.

 The report touched on some of the joint working and funding on preventative work that was 
done with the NHS.

 The number of successful treatment completions by drug users was moving in the right 
direction and was above the national average however the programme did not have higher 
quartile funding so may not achieve the highest projection level.

 Councillors wanted to know how the projections for completed drug and alcohol treatment 
services were drawn up.

 A successful completion was defined as someone who had finished the programme, was 
recovering and who was back in the community.

 The successful completion definition was controversial as many professionals felt that the 
service should be looking to stabilise clients rather than achieve a complete recovery.

 The number of drug and alcohol users was estimated and there was always some degree 
of uncertainty because unless users took up a service or programme, or were arrested, the 
actual amount of users could not be known for certain.

 The estimated figures showed that numbers had risen in the East of England more rapidly 
than nationally but that the percentage rise in Peterborough was not as rapid as in other 
parts of the East of England.

 The number of users presenting to the services was increasing which was felt to be a good 
sign as the service wanted to see clients getting treatment.

 Drug and alcohol use was a complex picture as much of the information was collated 
nationally by Public Health England who were very cautious about sharing any data before 
it had had its annual quality check. Thus sometimes the information supplied was not very 
up to date. 

 The Director of Public Health would attempt to obtain more of the latest information by 
assuring Public Health England that material would be circulated to Members in confidence 
in the form of a briefing note, rather than being brought in a report to a public meeting.

 The Public Health department made a contribution to the domestic violence budget from 
the Public Health grant to support the overall work being done. This contribution was 
dependant on a number of factors including other demands and cuts to the Public Health 
grant.

 The drug and alcohol service had been involved in work to help prevent and reduce child 
sexual exploitation.

 The campaigns that had been run had been worthwhile but in general it was recognised 
that repeated exposure was needed to get people to act on the messages.

 The use of social media in campaigns had been successful and was very cost effective in 
comparison to a magazine run for example. 

 Poster campaigns received positive feedback with people having good recall of some 
messages when it was evaluated. 

 Pharmacies that completed training could then sign up to become a pharmacy that 
provided emergency contraception services. Caution had to be taken as it was not all 
pharmacies that had signed up and the Council did not want to stimulate activity if then the 
emergency contraception could not be obtained.

 The Council had bought a block contract of 20,000 attendances for sexual health services 
rather than a payment on demand service. Demand had exceeded this but the provider 
had coped with this and kept within budget although the Council had had to accept that 
savings that had been agreed and written into the contract could not be achieved.

6



 The sexual health services clinic had moved into new premises in Priestgate and in some 
ways had been a victim of its own success as partly because of its excellent and very 
enthusiastic clinicians, attendance rates had gone up.  

 In order to ease pressure on the service the Clinic was considering providing a service that 
had been trialled in London and Norfolk and which involved those that were low risk 
completing an assessment over the internet and then self-sampling rather than attending 
the clinic.

 There had not been any September data given for chlamydia positive patients receiving 
treatment within six weeks because of a lag time for data that came through.

 Atrial fibrillation was an irregular heartbeat that had a high risk of strokes associated with 
it if left without diagnosis and treatment. There was a need to screen as many people as 
possible so that they could be treated to avoid a serious stroke and the need to go into 
care.

 Councillor Fower recommended that the Cabinet Member for Public Health should be 
present at meetings where a report in her name was being presented. Cllr Jamil seconded 
the recommendation and a vote was taken. (4 in favour,  5  against,  2 abstentions) The 
recommendation was defeated.

ACTIONS AGREED:

The Health Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to note the report and requested that the Director 
of Public Health;

1. Provide information on the current position regarding how many successful treatment 
completions of drug and alcohol services there had been together with feedback on 
how the projections for those completions had been drawn up.

2.  Provide a briefing note giving an update on the numbers of people abusing drug and 
alcohol in Peterborough, as estimated by Public Health England.

3. Provide a briefing note giving more detail on the work of the drug and alcohol treatment 
service to safeguard children and reduce child sexual exploitation.

4. Confirm the threshold figure for the percentage of chlamydia positive patients receiving 
treatment within six weeks of their test date.

40. MONITORING SCUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Democratic Services Officer introduced the report which provided the Committee with a 
record of recommendations made at the previous meeting and the outcome and progress of 
those recommendations to consider if further monitoring was required. 

ACTIONS AGREED

The Health Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to consider the response from Cabinet Members 
and Officers to the recommendations made at the previous meeting, as attached in Appendix 
1 of the report and agreed that no further monitoring of the recommendations was required.

7



41. FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

The Committee received the latest version of the Council’s Forward Plan of Executive 
Decisions containing key decisions that the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet or individual 
Cabinet Members would make during the course of the forthcoming month.  Members were 
invited to comment on the Plan and where appropriate, identify any relevant areas for inclusion 
in the Committee’s Work Programme.

ACTION AGREED

The Health Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to note the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions.

42. WORK PROGRAMME 2017/2018

Members considered the Committee’s Work Programme for 2016/17 and discussed possible 
items for inclusion.

ACTION AGREED
The Health Scrutiny Committee RESOLVED to note the work programme for 2017/18 and 
requested that:
1. The report on Dental Services in Peterborough be brought back to the March meeting of 

the Committee and that the remit of this report be clarified and discussed at the next group 
representatives meeting.

43. DATE OF NEXT MEETING:

 14 February 2018 – Joint Scrutiny of the Budget
 12 March 2018 – Health Scrutiny Committee

The meeting began at 7.00pm and finished at 8.20pm.          CHAIRMAN

8



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 5

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: NHS England Midlands and East (East)
Contact Officer(s): Debbie Walters, Interim Contract Manager, Primary Care 

Dental
Tel. 07920 252 196

DENTAL SERVICES IN PETERBOROUGH

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee note the contents of this report for information.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The report is being presented at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This report has been produced at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3, 
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council 
- Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

3.1 The Health Scrutiny Committee has requested details of the current dental services provision in
Peterborough: 

 More detail regarding current NHS Dental Services provision in Peterborough, with 
performance information, bench marking information and financial information on current 
and future spend 

 Detailed information regarding access issues that have been identified in the 
Peterborough area and what actions are being taken to address these.

 Vision and future plans for NHS Dental Services in Peterborough - what the vision is and 
what plans are in place to get there.

 Details of the review of the out of hours dental services delivered across Cambridgeshire, 
Peterborough, Norfolk, Great Yarmouth and Waveney with particular emphasis on the 
impact on Peterborough.

 Information on the procurement of out of hours dental services - what is the strategy, do 
you have a strategy for procurement.

 Have you undertaken a Dental Needs Assessment and if so please provide this with the 
report.

 Information on how the population growth in Peterborough is being taken in to account 
with regard to current and future provision of dental services in Peterborough.

9



Current NHS Dental Services provision in Peterborough

In hours dental care is commissioned across the Cambridge and Peterborough CCG area. This
includes both routine and urgent dental care delivered by general dental practices and urgent
care by the dental access centre. 

There are 39 contracts providing dental care in the Peterborough area. The contractual 
mechanism is via 25 General Dental Service (GDS) contract and 14 Personal Dental Service 
(PDS) agreements.  GDS contracts are in perpetuity and PDS agreements have an end date.

Two of the contracts/agreements are for minor oral surgery (complex extractions), three for 
orthodontics (teeth straightening), seven for dental access (for urgent dental care) with the 
remaining 27 for general dental services (routine and urgent dental care).

The total spends for primary care dental service provision in the Peterborough area in 20117/18 
is £10,770,346.63. £9,508,921.11 is spent on general dentistry including access and minor oral 
surgery and £1,261,425.52 on orthodontics.  

Each of the contracts is managed by units of activity, Units of Dental Activity (UDAs) for general 
dental services and Units of Orthodontic Activity (UOAs) for orthodontic services.  Under GDS 
and PDS Regulations providers have to deliver at least 96% of contracted activity in each year.  
If providers fail to deliver at least 96% of activity they are subject to a financial clawback to 100% 
of contracted activity.

If between 96 and 100% of activity is delivered provides are able to carry forward the shortfall of 
activity to be delivered in the following year.  Contractors are allowed to over perform by up to 
2% however this over performance is a negative carry forward which results in less activity being 
delivered in the following year.

Contract delivery has been reasonable consistent over the last two years with the majority of 
providers delivering at least 96% of their contracted activity for general dental and orthodontic 
services.  There are however a small number of providers who have not delivered their contracted 
activity.  NHS England is currently working with all dental providers across East whom have 
consistently not been able to deliver their activity.  In most cases we would look to ‘right size’ the 
contracts to a level that can be delivered.

A list of dental practices in Peterborough area are attached at  Appendix 1.

Access issues that have been identified in the Peterborough area

Access issues have been identified in the Peterborough area, with some patients struggling to 
access both routine and urgent dental care. NHS England has recently put additional capacity in 
place for urgent care at the dental access centre and additional routine and urgent care in place 
with a small number of dental practices in the Peterborough area. This additional capacity with a 
total value of £156k will be delivered by the end of March 2018.  The funding for the additional 
activity has come from contracts which have not performed during 2017/18. The situation will 
continue to be monitored in the coming months ahead.

Vision and future plans for NHS Dental Services in Peterborough

The amount of primary care dental provision commissioned in 2017/18 remains unchanged from 
2016/17.  It should be noted that there have been no new monies for primary care dental service 
provision for a number of years. A number of providers in the Peterborough area have not 
delivered their contracted activity, which has resulted in not all of the activity commissioned being 
delivered.  As part of our commissioning strategy NHS England continues to monitor all dental 
contracts across East.  Where contracts under perform NHS England will right size contracts and 

10



will be looking as to where there are gaps in services, or under provision in certain areas, taking 
into account the size of the population and areas of deprivation.   

Review and procurement of the out of hours dental services in Peterborough, Cambridge, 
Norfolk, Great Yarmouth and Waveney

In Peterborough, the dental out of hours service is currently delivered by Cambridge
Community Services and are delivered from the Peterborough Dental Access Centre at 5
Midgate, Peterborough, Cambridgeshire, PE1 1TN. The out of hours service is available
Saturday, Sunday and bank holidays.

The current Personal Dental Service (PDS) Agreement in place with Cambridge Community
Services for out of hours is due to expire on 31st March 2019.

NHS England commenced phase one of the out of hours project during 2016/17 and 
recommissioned services in Essex.  East Anglia is part of phase two. Part one of phase two 
involved the review and recommissioning of out of hours services in Suffolk, with part two for the 
rest of East Anglia (Peterborough, Cambridge, Norfolk, Great Yarmouth and Waveney).

Each of the areas in part two, phase two currently have different contracting arrangements with 
some disparity within these arrangements. NHS England is currently reviewing the dental out
of hours services delivered across Cambridgeshire, Peterborough, Norfolk, Great Yarmouth and 
Waveney.  This review will lead to the re-procurement of these services and further details of this 
procurement will be provided in due course.

As part of the review of the current services, there will be a period of engagement with current 
providers, patients and the public to inform the development of the service specification. Activity 
monitoring will also be undertaken and current providers will be asked to supply views on how 
the current service may be improved.

Further stakeholder briefings will be provided at key stages of the review and procurement.

Following the review and re-procurement of services, patients will continue to be able to access 
urgent dental treatment, where considered clinically necessary, outside of core hours for dental 
practices, including weekends and bank holidays.

Dental Needs Assessment

See Appendix. 2

Population growth in Peterborough

Across East there are a number of areas where there is a growth of population, some of this is 
predicted and taken into account in the oral health needs assessment.  There is also population 
growth due to building programmes.  

NHS England is committed to work with public health and other colleagues to gain a better 
understanding of access to primary dental care across Essex and East Anglia and the factors 
that may affect this, including the identification of service gaps, changes in demand for services 
and identification of new builds/population changes and implications for planning the provision of 
primary care dental services.  This will also take into account the health profiles and 
areas/pockets of deprivation across East which include Peterborough.

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 None

5. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

11



5.1 None

6. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

6.1 There are no recommendations put forward in this report as the report is for information only.

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 None

8. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

8.1 N/A

Legal Implications

8.2 N/A

Equalities Implications

8.3 N/A

Rural Implications

8.4 N/A

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 N/A

10. APPENDICES

10.1 Appendix 1 - List of contracts in Peterborough area
Appendix 2 – Dental Needs Assessment

12



Surgery Name Treatment Address Line 2 Treatment Address Line 3

Treatment Address 

Line 4

Treatment 

Address 

Postcode Type

Contract 

Purpose TCV 2017-18

Total 

Contracted 

UDA 17/18

Contracted 

UOA April 

2017 to 

March 2018

Fulbridge Dental Practice 107 Fulbridge Road Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 3LE GDS Contract General £685,950.62 22500

Mydentist, Church Street Werrington Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE4 6QF GDS Contract General £620,050.62 26775

Upstairs Dental Surgery 95 Lincoln Road Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 2SJ GDS Contract General £1,302,677.60 49225

Upstairs Dental Surgery 95 Lincoln Road Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 2SJ GDS Contract General £96,032.96 3813

Mydentist, Church Street Werrington Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE4 6QF GDS Contract General £83,641.61 3321

157 Dental Group 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £29,809.73 1189

Peterborough Orthodontics Eastfield House 147 Eastfield Road Peterborough PE1 4AU PDS Contract Orthodontic £699,594.11 n/a 11474

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £192,544.72 4000

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £37,182.53 632

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £34,763.95 390

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £110,445.79 1475

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £13,159.36 148

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £609,016.81 1416

Peterborough Dental Access Centre 5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £13,581.37 40

1A Dental 1St Floor Bretton Medical Pratic Rightwell East Bretton PE3 8DT PDS Plus Contract General £526,017.75 21000

Minor Oral Surgery, Peterborough Dental Access Centre5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £499,830.41 4248

Minor Oral Surgery, Peterborough Dental Access Centre5 Midgate Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 1TN PDS Contract General £26,956.26 359

Hampton Court Dental Practice 55 Hampton Court Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE3 7JB GDS Contract General £400,870.00 13750

Bretton Dental Practice 125 Eyrescroft Bretton Peterborough PE3 8EU GDS Contract General £322,531.47 12814

Matley Dental Surgery Matley Orton Brimbles Peterborough PE2 5YQ GDS Contract General £23,729.40 1000

157 Dental Group 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £215,824.96 6208

157 Dental Group 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £322,286.32 11708

157 Dental Group 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £12,592.83 500

157 Dental Group 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £100,742.67 4000

Makwana & Patel Dentiques Ltd 52 Hargate Way Hampton Hargate Peterborough PE7 8DS GDS Contract General £87,538.94 3694

Makwana & Patel Dentiques Ltd 52 Hargate Way Hampton Hargate Peterborough PE7 8DS GDS Contract General £20,299.66 806

Herlington Dental Practice Herlington Orton Malborne Peterborough PE2 5PR GDS Contract General £484,373.46 19896

Werrington Dental Practice 14 Skaters Way Werrington Peterborough PE4 6NB GDS Contract General £432,669.66 20573

Bushfield Dental Practice Fitzwilliam House 10 Bushfield, Orton CentreOrton Golday PE2 5RQ GDS Contract General £267,868.63 10449

Broadway Dental Practice 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £42,926.52 1735

Broadway Dental Practice 157 Broadway Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 4DD GDS Contract General £120,432.48 4022

Eye Dental Practice 62 High Street Eye Peterborough PE6 7UY GDS Contract General £179,202.33 7305

Eye Dental Practice 62 High Street Eye Peterborough PE6 7UY GDS Contract General £75,556.99 3000

Newborough Dental Practice Newborough Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE6 7RG GDS Contract General £24,360.45 1000

Green Tree Dental 95 Lincoln Road Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 2SJ GDS Contract General £776,456.61 31345

Mace Dental Surgery 7 Mace Road Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE2 8RQ GDS Contract General £32,539.35 1400

Green Pepper Clinic 116 Main Street Yaxley Peterborough PE7 3LP PDS Contract General £684,456.29 25000

Campbell Huber Orthodontists Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 2TN PDS Contract Orthodontic £296,618.15 n/a 4781

Campbell Huber Orthodontists Peterborough Cambridgeshire PE1 2TN PDS Contract Orthodontic £265,213.26 n/a 4075

£10,770,346.63 320,736.00 20330

13



T
his page is intentionally left blank

14



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

1

Updated Draft 
Oral Health Needs 

Assessment for East 
Anglia Area Team 

Updated 13th October 2014

Amanda Crosse, Consultant in Dental Public Health

15



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

2

Draft Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia Area Team

1. Introduction

2. Broader Context

2.1 Call to Action
2.2 The determinants of oral health and impact of oral disease
2.3 The Steele Review
2.4 The NHS Outcomes Framework and the Public Health Outcomes 

Framework
2.5 Securing excellence in commissioning primary care-single operating 

model

3. Broad Context:  Local Priorities for East Anglia 

3.1 Local Authority Priorities in Norfolk, Suffolk, Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough

3.2      NHSE East Anglia Area Team 
3.3 Public health England 
3.4 Clinical Commissioning Groups  
3.5 Summary, Local Priorities
3.6      Priorities for investment in oral health

4. Population and Demography of East Anglia

           4.1 East Anglia Area Team population 
           4.2 Health profiles in East Anglia      

4.2.1 Cambridgeshire 
4.2.2 Norfolk 
4.2.3 Great Yarmouth
4.2.4 Waveney 
4.2.5 Peterborough
4.2.6 Suffolk  

          4.3   Population projections for East Anglia

5. Common Oral Diseases and their Causes

5.1 Definitions of Common Dental Diseases

5.1.1 Dental Decay (Caries)
5.1.2 Gum (Periodontal) Disease
5.1.3   Oral Cancer
5.1.4 Malocclusion and Orthodontics
5.1.5   Cleft Lip and Palate
5.1.6   Facial Injury and dental trauma

           5.2     Biological Determinants (Risk Factors) of Oral Disease
           5.3     Social Determinants of Oral Disease

16



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

3

5.4 Common Risk Factor Approach

5.5 Common Risk Factors
5.5.1 Obesity
5.5.2 Smoking
5.5.3 Alcohol
5.5.4 Drug Abuse
5.5.6 Vulnerable Groups

6. Epidemiology of Oral Disease

7. Oral Health in Adults

7.1 Adult Dental Health Survey 2009- Summary  
7.1.1 Inequalities in Dental Caries in Adults
7.1.2 Dental Health in Adults in East Anglia 

7.2 Gum (Periodontal) Disease in Adults
7.3 Tooth Wear in Adults in East Anglia
7.4      Urgent dental conditions and dental pain in adults in East Anglia
7.5      Preventive Behaviour and risks to oral health in adults in East Anglia
7.6 Oral Hygiene 
7.7      Risks to dental health in adults in East Anglia
7.8      Dental attendance patterns of adults in East Anglia
7.9      Oral Cancer in Adults
7.10    Prevalence of Oral Cancer in East Anglia

8. Oral Health in Children

8.1 Dental Caries in Children
8.1.1 Inequalities in Dental Caries in Children
8.2 Oral Health in Children in East Anglia 
8.2.1 Dental Caries
8.2.2 Inequalities in Oral Health of Children in East Anglia 
8.3      Orthodontic Treatment Need

9. Current Service Provision

9.1 Access to NHS primary care dental services in East Anglia
9.2 Availability of NHD dental services
9.3 Location of NHS Dental Services in East Anglia
9.4      Barriers to dental care
9.5 Access to primary care NHS dental services for children
9.6 Treatment locations and distance travelled for child patients
9.7 Dental treatment provided for children living in East Anglia 
9.8      Access to dental services for looked after children 
9.9 Access to primary care NHS dental services for adults
9.10    Treatment location and distance travelled for adult patients
9.11    Dental treatment provided for adults living in East Anglia 

17



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

4

9.12   Access to urgent care 
9.13   Access to out of hours care 
9.14      Re-attendance rates for adults and children 
9.15   Patient in flow and outflow for child and adult patients 
9.16   Deprivation and access to dental services for children and adults 
9.17   Access to specialist services in primary care 
9.17.1   Access to salaried dental services 
9.17.2   Access to domiciliary dental services
9.17.3   Access to anxiety management services
9.17.4   Sedation services as an adjunct to dental services
9.17.5   Access to sedation services for adults in East Anglia
9.17.6   Access to minor oral surgery services in East Anglia
9.17.7   Future commissioning of oral surgery services
9.17.8   Access to orthodontic primary care services in East Anglia
9.17.9   Future commissioning of orthodontic services in primary care
9.17.10 Dental treatment provided under general anaesthesia for children in East    
Anglia
9.17.11   Specialist restorative services in primary care in East Anglia
9.17.12   Prison dental services in East Anglia
9.18       Secondary care
9.18.1    Secondary care dental services in East Anglia
9.18.2    Oral and maxillofacial surgery services
9.18.3    Orthodontic services
9.18.4    Restorative services
9.19      Tertiary Care 

10. Preventive Interventions

10.1 Dental Public health Programmes
10.2    Fluoride delivery
10.2.1 Water Fluoridation
10.2.2 Targeted community based fluoride varnish programmes
10.2.3 Targeted provision of toothbrushes and fluoride toothpaste and supervised 

tooth brushing programmes established in targeted childhood settings 
10.2.4 Other targeted fluoride delivery programmes
10.3   Training of health care and other professionals
10.4   Practice based health improvement interventions
10.5   Improving oral health through the common risk factor approach (CRFA)

11. Public Voice
11.1 National Surveys
11.1.1 Dentistry Watch
11.1.2 Citizen’s Advice Bureau Survey
11.1.3 Omnibus Survey
11.1.4 Patients Association Report
11.1.5 GP Patient Survey July – September 2013
11.1.6 GP Patient Survey March 2014 
11.1.7 Healthwatch 

18



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

5

12. General Principles

13. Summary
14. Key messages

15. References

19



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

6

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Oral health in adults and children in East Anglia is generally good. It is better than 
England averages and in many cases is among some of the best in the country. 
Recent oral health surveys have shown that the dental health of both adults and 
children has improved significantly in recent years. Across most of East Anglia, 
except in Peterborough, more than seventy per cent of five years olds are free from 
dental decay.

 However, population averages mask oral health inequalities. A well- recognised 
association exists between socioeconomic status and oral health and information 
suggests that oral diseases are increasingly concentrated in the lower income and 
more excluded groups. In some parts of the area, for example Cambridge, Norwich, 
Great Yarmouth and Huntingdon, five year old children have four or more decayed 
primary teeth and most of this decay remains untreated. Nearly 1400 children in the 
area a year attend hospital to have dental extractions under general anaesthesia and 
this is still the most common reason for children’s admissions to hospital. This is 
likely to be an under estimate as it does not include some children treated under 
salaried dental services. Severe, untreated dental decay may not only cause pain, 
discomfort and disruption to sleeping and eating habits, but may also adversely 
affect child growth and school performance. 

East Anglia has an ageing population. People are living longer and keeping more of 
their teeth for longer. This will have implications for the provision of dental services in 
the future as more people will be maintaining teeth that have already been heavily 
restored. The Independent review of dentistry in England carried out by Professor 
Jimmy Steele in 2009 refers to this group as the “heavy metal generation”. In future 
there may be greater need and demand for more specialist services such as 
complex restorative care, domiciliary services, minor oral surgery services and 
anxiety management pathways.

Oral diseases are important public health issues as they are among the most 
commonly found chronic diseases and are almost entirely preventable. The causal 
relationships between sugar and dental decay and gum disease and poor oral 
hygiene, for example are well understood. Although we have seen considerable 
reductions in dental disease since the 1970s there are still improvements to be 
made. The most effective and efficient method of promoting oral health is to integrate 
oral health with generic health promotion using the common risk factor approach. 
Common risk factors include poor diet, tobacco use, poor hygiene, injuries and high 
alcohol consumption, factors associated with obesity, cancer, heart disease, 
diabetes and strokes.

In addition to this common risk factor approach targeted oral health improvement 
interventions such as community fluoride varnish schemes and tooth brushing 
programmes must also be considered for children in areas of high need. Local dental 
practices also have an important role to play in improving oral health for their 
patients by implementing the Department of Health document “Delivering Better Oral 
Health- a guide to practice based prevention” 

In April 2013 responsibility for commissioning dental services transferred to the 
newly created NHS England Area Teams and dental public health functions including 

20



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

7

oral health improvement programmes, epidemiological surveys and water 
fluoridation schemes became the responsibility of Local Authorities. These changes 
also saw the inception of Local Professional Networks who, as part of NHSE Area 
Teams, have responsibility for providing strong clinical leadership in improving oral 
health locally. Clinical engagement via the LPN, Local Dental Committees and any 
managed clinical networks is important for the success of any commissioning 
arrangements and service provision if oral health is to improve.

The priorities for East Anglia Area Team and its stakeholders are:
 Improving oral health of the population throughout the life course ensuring 

that every child gets the best start in life
 Reducing oral health inequalities
 Improving access to NHS dentistry
 Maintaining good patient experience and patient safety 
 Driving quality, innovation, productivity and prevention forward

Across East Anglia access to dental services is generally good although uptake is 
not always high.  Most patients in East Anglia report that they are able to find an 
NHS dentist when they want one and the vast majority are satisfied with the service 
they receive. Historically most dental services have been provided in more affluent 
areas and there are limited opportunities to re-commission services within the same 
budget in underserved areas because of the nature of the non- time limited GDS 
contracts. However when these opportunities do present new services should be 
commissioned in areas of deprivation and high need.

 The rural nature of much of East Anglia may affect people’s ability to access dental 
services. In addition not everyone wishes to visit a dentist on a regular basis and 
some may only require care when they have a problem. Different models of service 
provision such as Dental Access Centres, out of hours services, urgent care services 
and mobile dental units should be maintained to allow flexibility and patient choice 
and the public voice should help inform these arrangements.

A reformed dental contract, with a focus on prevention and patient registration is 
expected to be delivered in 2016. The introduction of the last new dental contract in 
2006 saw marked changes in NHS general dental service delivery. This in turn led to 
increasing demand for the provision of more specialised services such as minor oral 
surgery and restorative dentistry. Future commissioning of local dental services must 
be flexible enough to accommodate any changes in GDS delivery that these reforms 
may bring.

Until recently dental services were commissioned by PCTs and arrangements for the 
provision of these services showed local variation. With one organisation there is 
now the opportunity to achieve a consistency of services across the area using a 
single operating model. This single operating model has the potential to achieve an 
equitable provision of services which are delivered to a high standard and which 
demonstrate excellent quality. 

Although there is a wealth of information available, the way it has been collated and 
reported in the past varied. There is now the opportunity for consistent data capture 
as well as monitoring and evaluation of all services against an agreed set of 

21



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

8

outcomes which will provide valuable information for future commissioning of dental 
services in East Anglia.

22



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

9

1. Introduction

Good oral health is integral to general health as it ‘contributes to general well being’ 
and allows people to ‘eat, speak, and socialise without active disease, discomfort or 
embarrassment’.

Oral diseases are important public health issues as they are among the most 
commonly found chronic diseases.  Although we have seen considerable reductions 
in dental disease since the 1970s, there are still substantial reductions to be made. 
Dental decay, for example, is commonly found despite being almost entirely 
preventable. 

While dental decay has reduced overall, population averages mask oral health 
inequalities.  Oral disease varies according to gender, age, ethnicity, geographic 
location and socio-economic group. Trends suggest that dental disease is 
increasingly concentrated in areas of social deprivation.

From April 2013 Local Authorities (LA) were given the responsibility for improving the 
oral health of their populations.   Part of the planning for this involves an assessment 
of the local oral health needs of the population, followed by the development of an 
oral health strategy.  The local oral health strategy must incorporate the national 
priorities detailed in Choosing Better Oral Health – an Oral Health Plan for England 
as well as other key policy drivers. 

At the same time NHS England (NHSE) was given the responsibility for 
commissioning primary care dental services through the local Area Teams. 
Specialist dental public health advice is provided by Public Health England to NHSE 
and LAs.

This Oral Health Needs Assessment is designed to inform NHSE East Anglia Area 
team commissioning or primary care dental services as well as facilitate the 
development of long-term strategies aimed at improving oral health and reducing 
health inequalities.

23



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

10

2. Broader Context

2.1 Call to action  
In launching the ‘Call to Action’ in February 2014 ( http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2014/04/imprv-oral-health-info.pdf) NHS England’s Chief Dental 
Officer made the case for change by quoting from An Independent Review of NHS 
Dental Services in England, 2009:

Oral health should be for life. The two common dental disease – dental decay and gum 
disease – are chronic and the damage they cause is cumulative and costly. The NHS is still 
dealing with, and paying for, the consequences of disease that developed more than 50 
years ago. The trends in disease prevalence and the way it has been managed are visible in 
the oral health of different generations. We still need to deal with this burden of the past and 
manage the demands of the present, but keep a very clear focus on the future so that we 
can minimise the risk, discomfort and costs for future generations” 

He identified the key challenges as:
 Improving oral health: quality and prevention 
 Improving oral health: reducing health inequalities 
 Access 
 Information for patients 
 The pathway approach and integrated care 
 Patient and public engagement 
 Workforce 

The structure of this document is briefly to review the determinants of oral health and  
impact of oral disease, and to outline local strategic options to meet the key 
challenges identified in A Call to Action. A detailed report Oral Health Needs and 
Determinants in East Anglia has been produced to support local organisations 
understanding of appropropriate evidence-informed actions to maintain and improve 
oral health. 

2.2 The determinants of Oral Health and Impact of Oral Disease
Oral diseases are important public health issues as they are among the most 
commonly found chronic diseases and are almost entirely preventable.
A person’s oral health is shaped by complex set of determinants, some closely 
related to that individuals’ choices and behaviour, others more distanly determined:  

24

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/imprv-oral-health-info.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/imprv-oral-health-info.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

11

Figure 1: Determininants of oral health 

Source: Modified from Watt, 2005 in Choosing Better Oral Health. An Oral Health Plan for England. 2005   
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251

When applying this model, strategies for oral health improvement need to be 
balanced to operate at each level:

Table 1:  Strategies for Health improvement 
Levels Example of how they can be applied – Reducing 

the use of tobacco
Biological – immunisation, vaccinations, treatments Nicotine replacement therapy and cognitive tools for 

cravings

Individual Behavioural – helping individuals to stop 
smoking

Individual and group behavioural change and support

Environmental – encouraging green transport, 
reducing pollution, changing the public realm

Environmental cues, display legislation
Smokefree playgrounds

Social – changing social norms about health, e.g. 
acceptability of binge drinking, acceptability of taking 
smoking breaks

Behavioural economics, social marketing Young 
people

Structural – policy changes such as workplace 
health, school health policies

Workplace policies
Tobacco control partnerships

Legislative – the smoking ban, legislation on alcohol 
sales

The ban on smoking
Legislation on displays

Source: The Six Levels of Public Health Strategy (from the Hertfordshire Public Health Strategy.) 
Adapted from Dettels et al, 2009)

Similarly, the national burden of oral disease extends beyond the cost of NHS 
treament services, through a wide range of broader impacts both on the individual 
and society as a whole (reference nnnnnn):

25

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251
http://www.hertspublichealth.co.uk/files/Healthier%20Herts%20Public%20Health%20Strategy%202013-2017.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

12

Figure 2: Impact of oral disease 

 

2.3 The Steele Review 

NHS Dental Services in England- An independent review led by Professor Jimmy 
Steele June 2009 said that the overall ambition of the NHS dentistry service should 
be to be a lifetime-focused, evidence-based oral health service, which aims: 

 to prevent oral disease and the damage it causes 
 to minimise the impact of oral disease on your health, when it occurs 
 to maintain and restore quality of life when this is affected by the condition of your 

mouth
It is this set of priorities, in this order, that should aim to be achieved through the 
system of professional obligations, contracts, charges and regulation we create. 

Impact of 
Oral 

Diseases

Cost of Treatment

Self Esteem

Aesthetics

 Functional Limitation Fear / Anxiety

Pain / Discomfort
Sleepless Nights

Time attending dentist

Time off School Social Isolation

Social Attractiveness Time off Work

Cost to the NHS Reduced Productivity 
of the Workforce

Poor educational 
performance

Increasing Health 
and Social Inequality 

performance

26



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

13

Figure 3: Priorities for public investment in oral health

Source: NHS Dental Services in England.  An independent review led by Professor Jimmy Steele, June 2009

The priorities are as follows, in order: 

 There needs to be a strong, co-ordinated public health system, recognising the 
common risks to oral health and health overall and providing support to the 
profession and information to patients about how to minimise these risks. 

 Any dental service should then be able to provide quick and definitive pain relief to 
anyone who needs it. This should not be a large or expensive part of a service, but it 
must be there. 

High quality routine treatment of 
dental disease

Personalised disease prevention

Urgent Care & Pain Relief

Public Health

Continuing 
Care

Advanced 
and complex 

care

Reducing 
priority for 
public 
investment

27



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

14

 Preventing the damage caused by disease at an individual level is a high priority for 
investment. Every cavity or periodontal pocket represents irreversible damage, with 
lifetime consequences and costs. 

 Treating disease is still inevitable where prevention fails, but treatment can be 
damaging, so minimising damage through quality restoration is an essential step. 

 Oral health is a lifetime concept, so continuing care arrangements should be 
facilitated to allow long-term relationships to be established between dentists and 
patients. 

2.4 The NHS Outcomes Framework (2013-2014) and the Public Health 
Outcomes Framework (2013-2016)- oral health indicators

Both the NHS Outcomes Framework and the Public Health Outcomes Framework 
(PHOF) have indicators relating to oral health improvement and dental services.
The NHS Outcomes Framework (2013-14) describes overarching indicators to 
ensure that people have a positive experience of care from NHS Dental Services 
(4aiii), and improved access to NHS dental services (4.4ii)1. 
Within the Public Health Outcomes Framework (2013-16) tooth decay in five-year old 
children is the oral health outcome indicator. The data to monitor this indicator is 
sourced from the National Dental Epidemiology Programme and provides a measure 
for local authorities to monitor and evaluate children’s oral health improvement 
programmes2.

2.5 Securing excellence in commissioning primary care -Single Operating Model

NHS England is responsible for the direct commissioning of services beyond the 
remit of clinical commissioning groups, namely primary care including primary dental 
care, offender health, military health and specialised commissioning. A suite of 
documents detailing policies and procedures to support the commissioning of 
primary care are in production and are intended to achieve a “do once approach” 
intended to ensure consistency and eliminate duplication. The development process 
for the suite of documents reflects the principles set out in Securing excellence in 
commissioning primary care. 
http://www.commissioningboard.nhs.uk/2012/06/22/ssom-comm-pc/

3. Broad Context:  Local Responsibilites for East Anglia

3.1 Local Authorities

From April 2013 Local Authorities (LAs) became responsible for improving oral 
health in their population. Section 29 of the 2012 act amended the NHS Act 2006 to 
transfer primary care trust existing functions around Oral Public health to Local 

28

http://www.commissioningboard.nhs.uk/2012/06/22/ssom-comm-pc/


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

15

Authorities including responsibility for water fluoridation.3  There are four LAs in East 
Anglia, Cambridgeshire, Suffolk, Norfolk and Peterborough and their priorities for 
improving the health and wellbeing of their populations are detailed in the respective 
Health and Wellbeing Strategies
Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy: A ten year strategy 2012-2022 
http://www.waveney.gov.uk/egov_downloads/item_5_21_.pdf
 Norfolk Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2014-2017
http://www.norfolk.gov.uk/view/NCC122775
Cambridgeshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012-17 www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk
Peterborough Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2012-15 
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/health_and_social_care/health_and_wellbeing_strat
egy.aspx

3.2 NHS England East Anglia Area Team

Since April 2013 NHS England East Anglia Area team has had responsibility for 
commissioning primary care dental services and some secondary care dental 
services. http://www.england.nhs.uk/about/our-vision-and-purpose/
These changes also saw the inception of Local Professional Networks who, as part 
of NHSE Area Teams, have responsibility for providing strong clinical leadership in 
improving oral health locally. Clinical engagement via the LPN, Local Dental 
Committees and any managed clinical networks is important for the success of any 
commissioning arrangements and service provision if oral health is to improve.

3.3 Public Health England
Public Health England is the expert public health agency and it has a statutory duty 
to protect health and reduce inequalities and to promote the health and well- being of 
the population https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england

3.4 Clinical Commissioning Groups
 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG) replaced Primary Care Trusts and 
commission most services funded by the NHS in England. They now control around 
two thirds of the NHS budget and have a legal duty to support quality improvement in 
general practice. There are eight CCGs across East Anglia and their priorities are set 
out in the NHS Outcomes Framework and CCG Outcomes Indicator Set 2013/2014 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/ccg-ois-1415-at-a-glance.pdf 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nhs-outcomes-framework-2013-to-2014

3.5 Summary, Local Priorities

In terms of oral health improvement and reducing oral health inequalities there are 
common themes running between the priorities for all the local organisations that 
have a stake in improving the health and wellbeing of the local population. 

Tackling the common risk factors such as smoking, alcohol and drug use, poor diet, 
stress poor hygiene and injury that contribute to ill health will also help to tackle poor 
oral health. 

Common themes are:

29

http://www.waveney.gov.uk/egov_downloads/item_5_21_.pdf
http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/health_and_social_care/health_and_wellbeing_strategy.aspx
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/health_and_social_care/health_and_wellbeing_strategy.aspx
http://www.england.nhs.uk/about/our-vision-and-purpose/
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/ccg-ois-1415-at-a-glance.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

16

 Reduce the prevalence of smoking.
 Prevent and address childhood and adult obesity.
 Explore the potential for preventative work to reduce high rates of alcohol related 

hospital admissions
 Joint planning to meet the needs of the growing older population.
 Implementation of the Child Health Programme (CHPP) to enable early intervention 

and prevention of poor outcomes. 
 Improve outcomes for children and young people living in areas of higher 

socioeconomic deprivation and for specific population groups such as children in 
care, traveller children and children with disabilities

3.6 Priorities for Investment in oral health

30



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

17

Table 2 summarises the priorities for oral health, NHS Dental Services in England-
An independent review led by Professor Jimmy Steele June 2009.

Table 2:  Priorities for Investment in oral health

31



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

18

4. Population and Demography of East Anglia

4.1 East Anglia Area Team population 

East Anglia Area team overlaps four upper tier local authorities, Norfolk, Suffolk, 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire. There are eight CCGs with a registered 
population of 2,457,100 and an indicative running cost of £60 million. 330 out of East 
Anglia Area Team’s 1445 Local super output areas (LSOA) are in the 20% most 
deprived LSOAs in the country.

East Anglia AT has a lower proportion of 0-39 year olds in its population than the 
England average, and a higher proportion of residents aged 60+.

Graph 1 

10 5 0 5 10

0 ‒ 4

5 ‒ 9

10 ‒ 14

15 ‒ 19

20 ‒ 24

25 ‒ 29

30 ‒ 34

35 ‒ 39

40 ‒ 44

45 ‒ 49

50 ‒ 54

55 ‒ 59

60 ‒ 64

65 ‒ 69

70 ‒ 74

75 ‒ 79

80 ‒ 84

85 ‒ 89

90 and over

Percentage of total population

Ag
e b

an
d

The population as a percentage of the total 
in age bands for East Anglia compared to 

England (Census 2011)

Male East Anglia Female East Anglia

Female England Male England

32



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

19

Table 3: Population for East Anglia 

.

Graph 2: The number of people in a variety of ‘hard to reach groups’ is shown 
in the graph

The numbers are sourced from the Projected Adult Needs & Service Information 
system which applies prevalence rates from national research to resident 
populations, the Office of National Statistics and the Department for Communities & 
Local Government

Across the LAs that make East Anglia AT life expectancy at birth for men is better 
than the England average of 78.58 years in all authorities other than Peterborough 
where it is significantly worse.

For women born in East Anglia life expectancy at birth is better than the England 
average of 82.57 years, except in Peterborough where it is significantly worse.

East Anglia Census 2011 

Total Registered 2,457,100

Total Resident 2,396,328

Male Resident 1,184,032

Female Resident 1,212,296

0-4 Resident 139,941

65+ Resident 459,694

85+ Resident 64,406

33



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

20

Table 4:  Life expectancy at birth in East Anglia 
Life expectancy at 
birth

Gap in life 
expectancy 
between most & 
least deprived

AREA: LA

Male Female Male Female

Cambridgeshire 80.1 83.9 7.2 5.3

Norfolk 79.5 83.3 5.8 1.9

Peterborough 77.5 81.9 9.4 5.6

Suffolk 79.9 83.6 5.7 4.4

Worse than England Average

` Similar to England Average

Better than England Average

The slope index of inequality measures the gap in life expectancy between the most 
and least deprived communities in an upper tier authority:

 For women across all four LAs the gap in life expectancy varies between 1.9 
to 5.6 years. The gap is statistically better than the England average of 5.9 
years in Suffolk and Norfolk but statistically similar in the other two areas.

 For men across all four LA’s the gap in life expectancy varies between 5.7 to 
9.4 years. Two LA’s are statistically similar to the average across England of 
8.9 years and two LA’s are statistically better.

 Across the LAs that make East Anglia AT there is some variation in the rate of 
premature deaths per 100,000 population.

 Peterborough has a significantly worse death rate compared to the England 
average, ranked 87th out of the 150 LA’s.

 The remaining three LAs by contrast are amongst the best performing LAs in 
England.

 Common causes of high levels of premature death in England include 
smoking, poor diet, alcohol & blood pressure.

34



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

21

4.2 Health Profiles in East Anglia

4.2. 1 Cambridgeshire 

 The health of people in Cambridgeshire is generally better than the England 
average. Deprivation is lower than average, however about 14,400 children 
live in poverty. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the 
England average. 

 Life expectancy is 7.2 years lower for men and 5.3 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Cambridgeshire than in the least deprived areas. 
Over the last 10 years, all-cause mortality rates have fallen. Early death rates 
from cancer and from heart disease and stroke have fallen and are better than 
the England average.

 In Year 6, 16.3% of children are classified as obese, better than the average 
for England. The level of GCSE of teenage pregnancy, alcohol-specific 
hospital stays attainment is worse than the England average. Levels among 
those under 18 and breast feeding are better than the England average.

 Estimated levels of adult 'healthy eating', physical activity and obesity are 
better than the England average. The rate of road injuries and deaths is worse 
than the England average. Rates of sexually transmitted infections and 
smoking related deaths are better than the England average. The rates of 
incidence of malignant melanoma and hospital stays for self-harm are worse 
than average.

 Priorities include focussing on health inequalities, the ageing population and 
long term prevention of ill health across all ages.  
www.cambridgeshirejsna.org.uk

35

http://www.cambridgeshirejsna.org.uk/


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

22

4.2.2 Norfolk 

 The health of people in Norfolk is generally better than the England average. 
Deprivation is lower than average, however about 26,200 children live in 
poverty. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the England 
average. 

 Life expectancy is 5.8 years lower for men in the most deprived areas of 
Norfolk than in the least deprived areas. 

 Over the last 10 years, all-cause mortality rates have fallen. Early death rates 
from cancer and from heart disease and stroke have fallen and are better than 
the England average. 

 In Year 6, 19.2% of children are classified as obese. Levels of GCSE 
attainment and smoking in pregnancy specific hospital stays among those 
under 18 and are worse than the England average. Levels of alcohol breast 
feeding are better than the England average. 

 An estimated 20.3% of adults smoke and 24.8% are obese. Rates of sexually 
transmitted infections, smoking related deaths and hospital stays for alcohol 
related harm are better than the England average. The rate of hospital stays 
for self-harm is worse than average. 

 Priorities in Norfolk include stopping smoking, particularly in pregnancy, 
monitoring and preventing early deaths from cancer (targeting risk factors) 
and reducing diabetes by promoting healthy lifestyles. For more information 
see www.norfolkinsight.org.uk and www.norfolk.gov.uk/

36



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

23

4.2.3 Great Yarmouth 

 The health of people in Great Yarmouth is generally worse than the England 
average. Deprivation is higher than average and about 4,400 children live in 
poverty. 

 Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average. 
Life expectancy is 9.5 years lower for men and 5.3 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Great Yarmouth than in the least deprived areas. 

 Over the last 10 years, all cause mortality rates have fallen. The early death 
rate from heart disease and stroke has fallen and is similar to the England 
average. In Year 6, 22.1% of children are classified as obese, worse than the 
average for England. Levels of teenage pregnancy, GCSE attainment, breast 
feeding and average. smoking in pregnancy are worse than the England

 Estimated levels of adult physical activity and obesity are worse than the 
England average. Rates of smoking related deaths and hospital stays for 
alcohol related harm are worse than the England average. Rates of sexually 
transmitted infections and road injuries and deaths are better than the 
England average. 

 Priorities in Great Yarmouth include the reduction of smoking levels, 
especially in pregnancy, and reducing obesity, diabetes and alcohol related 
harm. For more information see www.norfolkinsight.org.uk

37

http://www.norfolkinsight.org.uk/


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

24

4.2.4 Waveney  

 The health of people in Waveney is varied compared with the England 
average. Deprivation is lower than average, however about 4,400 children live 
in poverty. Life expectancy for women is higher than the England average. 

 Life expectancy is 5.9 years lower for men and 5.3 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Waveney than in the least deprived areas.

  Over the last 10 years, all cause mortality rates have fallen. Early death rates 
from cancer and from heart disease and stroke have fallen. 

 In Year 6, 18.3% of children are classified as obese. Levels of teenage 
pregnancy, GCSE attainment, breast feeding and smoking in pregnancy are 
worse than the England average.

 The estimated level of adult obesity is worse than the England average. 
England average. The rate of road injuries and deaths is worse than the 
England average. Rates of sexually transmitted infections and smoking 
related deaths are better than the England average. The rates of violent crime 
and long term unemployment are worse than average. The rates of statutory 
homelessness and drug misuse are better than average. 

 Priorities in Waveney are to ensure that every child has the best start in life; 
residents have access to a healthy environment and take responsibility for 
their own health and wellbeing; older people have a good quality of life; 
people have the opportunity to improve their mental health and wellbeing. See 
www.suffolk.gov.uk

38



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

25

4.2.5 Peterborough 

 The health of people in Peterborough is generally worse than the England 
average. Deprivation is higher than average and about 9,500 children live in 
poverty. Life expectancy for men is lower than the England average. 

 Life expectancy is 9.4 years lower for men and 5.6 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Peterborough than in the least deprived areas. 

 Over the last 10 years, all-cause mortality rates have fallen. The early death 
rate from heart disease and stroke has fallen but is worse than the England 
average. 

 In Year 6, 19.2% of children are classified as obese. Levels of teenage 
pregnancy, GCSE attainment and average. The level of alcohol-specific 
hospital stays smoking in pregnancy are worse than the England among 
those under 18 is better than the England average. 

 The estimated level of adult smoking is worse than the England average. 
Rates of road injuries and deaths and hospital stays for alcohol related harm 
are worse than the England average. 

 Priorities in Peterborough include reducing premature mortality, reducing 
inequalities in coronary heart disease and promoting healthy lifestyles. For 
more information see www.peterborough.gov.uk and 
www.cambridgeshireandpeterboroughccg.nhs.uk

39



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

26

4.2.6 Suffolk 
 The health of people in Suffolk is varied compared with the England average. 

Deprivation is lower than average, however about 20,000 children live in 
poverty. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the England 
average. 

 Life expectancy is 5.7 years lower for men and 4.4 years lower for women in 
the most deprived areas of Suffolk than in the least deprived areas.

 Over the last 10 years, all cause mortality rates have fallen. Early death rates 
from cancer and from heart disease and stroke have fallen and are better than 
the England average.

  In Year 6, 15.9% of children are classified as obese, better than the average 
for England. Levels of GCSE the England average. Levels of teenage 
pregnancy, attainment and smoking in pregnancy are worse than alcohol-
specific hospital stays among those under 18 and breast feeding are better 
than the England average.

  An estimated 20.4% of adults smoke and 24.3% are obese. The rate of road 
injuries and deaths is worse than the England average. Rates of sexually 
transmitted infections, smoking related deaths and hospital stays for alcohol 
related harm are better than the England average. The rate of incidence of 
malignant melanoma is worse than average.

 Local priorities include lowering alcohol admissions and smoking rates 
(particularly in pregnancy) and improving breast feeding rates. See 
www.suffolk.gov.uk

A link for all the above health profiles can be found below: 
http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=P_HEALTH_PROFILES 

40

http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=P_HEALTH_PROFILES
http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=P_HEALTH_PROFILES


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

27

4.3 Population projections for East Anglia 

Population projections for East Anglia show that the population is likely to grow 
between 2011 and 2016 with further growth expected between 2011 and 2021. By 
2021 the population in Cambridgeshire is expected to grow by 11 per cent, in Norfolk 
by nine per cent, Peterborough 13 per cent and Suffolk by seven per cent. The table 
below shows the interim 2011-based subnational population projections by the Office 
for National Statistics (ONS) 2011 to 2021 by population age cohorts for all persons 
by upper tier and unitary authorities in East Anglia. The largest growth in population 
is predicted to be in the 55 years and over group and within this group there is likely 
to be a greater increase in the 85+ age group. 

Table 5: Interim 2011-based subnational population projections, 2011 to 2021 
by population age cohorts for all person

Source:http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/taxonomy/index.html?nscl=Subnational+Population+Projections#t
ab-data-tables - downloaded 10/04/14

Local authority 
area

Age group 
(years) Year

  2011 2016 2021

  
Num

Num
Change 

2011-2016
 

Num
Change 2011-

2021
 

    Num (+/-) %  Num (+/-) %
Cambridgeshire 0-18 135,522 145,169 9,647 7% 154,303 18,781 14%

 19-54 311,660 316,610 4,950 2% 314,414 2,754 1%
 55-74 127,581 140,521 12,940 10% 153,615 26,034 20%
 75-84 33,489 36,730 3,241 10% 44,658 11,169 33%
 85+ 14,060 17,251 3,191 23% 20,721 6,661 47%

 Total 622,312 656,280 33,968 5% 687,712 65,400 11%

Norfolk 0-18 175,119 180,251 5,132 3% 189,594 14,475 8%
 19-54 381,585 390,248 8,663 2% 386,165 4,580 1%

 55-74 213,053 227,257 14,204 7% 241,055 28,002 13%
 75-84 63,636 68,785 5,149 8% 80,634 16,998 27%
 85+ 26,033 30,813 4,780 18% 36,558 10,525 40%

 Total 859,426 897,353 37,927 4% 934,007 74,581 9%

Peterborough 0-18 46,445 49,899 3,454 7% 53,328 53,328 15%
 19-54 93,860 99,128 5,268 6% 101,706 101,706 8%

 55-74 31,864 34,912 3,048 10% 38,467 38,467 21%
 75-84 8,923 9,092 169 2% 9,998 9,998 12%
 85+ 3,365 3,804 439 13% 4,405 4,405 31%

 Total 184,457 196,834 12,377 7% 207,904 23,447 13%

Suffolk 0-18 160,044 164,406 4,362 3% 171,369 11,325 7%
 19-54 327,979 327,076 -903 0% 319,586 -8,393 -3%

 55-74 171,850 186,656 14,806 9% 200,646 28,796 17%
 75-84 49,312 53,762 4,450 9% 64,041 14,729 30%
 85+ 20,948 24,614 3,666 17% 29,213 8,265 39%

 Total 730,133 756,513 26,380 4% 784,855 54,722 7%

41



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

28

5. Common Oral Diseases and their Causes

5.1 Definitions of Common Dental Diseases

5.1.1 Dental Decay (Caries)

Dental decay is one of the most common chronic diseases. It occurs when tooth 
tissue is demineralised by the acids formed by dental plaque in response to dietary 
sugars.  

A wealth of evidence has consistently shown that sugars are the most important 
factor in caries development.4  ‘Free sugars’ include all monosaccharides and 
disaccharides as well as those naturally present in honey, fruit juices and syrups.4 
The annual consumption of free sugars has increased since the 1970s.5  The sugars 
naturally present in whole fruits, vegetables and milk are not thought to be harmful to 
dental or general health.

5.1.2 Gum (Periodontal) Disease

Gum or periodontal disease is caused by inflammation of the gums and bone that 
support and anchor teeth.  When severe, the bony support for teeth is extensively 
compromised causing otherwise healthy teeth to be lost.

There are a number of gum (or periodontal) diseases, however the disease with 
public health implications is chronic periodontitis. Chronic periodontitis can cause 
bleeding gums, loss of periodontal attachment, recession of gums, periodontal 
abscesses, drifting of teeth, tooth mobility and ultimately tooth loss.  These 
symptoms can have a significant impact on the individual ranging from halitosis and 
discomfort to changes in appearance and loss of function.6  Prevalence tends to 
increase with age. 

Risk factors for chronic periodontitis include poor plaque control, smoking, certain 
systematic diseases (such as Diabetes), genetic factors, stress and social 
deprivation.6

5.1.3 Oral Cancer

Oral cancer is a generic term that is used to describe all malignancies of the oral 
cavity, oropharynx and hypo pharynx (such as squamous cell carcinoma of the lip 
and tongue). 

Almost all oral cancers are thought to be preventable.  An estimated 80% are caused 
by tobacco (smoking or chewing), alcohol or a combination of the two.  Although 
tobacco and alcohol are independent risk factors, their combined effect is greater 
than the sum of the risks from exposure to either on its own.7  An estimated 10–15% 
of oral cancers may be caused by unhealthy diets.8 

42



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

29

Mouth Cancer is the largest group of head and neck cancers. 9  

It is more common in men than women and the vast majority of cases are in 
people over the age of 50, however more than one in ten cases is diagnosed in 
people below this age. Although most lesions are related to the risk factors listed 
above, some especially at the back of the mouth in the oropharynx are related to 
exposure to human papillomavirus (HPV). Although patients’ quality of life during 
and after treatment has steadily improved, survival rates from the disease have 
barely increased. Cancer Research UK (CRUK) 

5.1.4 Malocclusion and Orthodontics

Malocclusion is not a disease but the collective term given to natural variations from 
the ‘ideal’ in the relationships of the teeth and jaws.  Its presence is not synonymous 
with a need for treatment.10  There is a lack of evidence to suggest that 
malocclusions have a detrimental effect on oral health, although by affecting facial 
appearance malocclusions can have an impact on psychological well-being and 
quality of life.11  Because malocclusion is not a disease and orthodontic treatment 
carries risks (eg root resorption, decalcification and non-improvement)10 it is 
particularly important to evaluate the risk-benefit balance of any possible treatment.

In the UK, need for orthodontic treatment in the NHS is assessed using the ‘Index of 
Orthodontic Need’ (IOTN).  The IOTN incorporates both an aesthetic and dental 
health component.  Both of these aspects of a malocclusion are clinically assessed 
to determine whether a patient is likely to benefit from treatment.  The clinician 
assigns a dental health component grade of treatment need between 1 and 5 (with 5 
representing greatest need) and an aesthetic component grade of treatment need 
between 1 and 10.  Under the current regulations, a patient is entitled to NHS 
orthodontics if their malocclusion has been graded as follows:12.

 Grade 4 or 5 of the Dental Health Component of the Index of 
Orthodontic Treatment Need. 
Or

 Grade 3 of the Dental Health Component of that Index with an Aesthetic 
Component of 6 or above.

In England approximately a fifth of all twelve year olds fit into each dental health 
component  grade and approximately half the twelve year old population are likely to 
have an IOTN score of 3 ( Dental Health Component) and an aesthetic component of 
6 or above. 

When this need is combined with demand approximately a third of twelve year olds 
are likely to undertake orthodontic treatment. 

5.1.5 Cleft Lip and Palate

Cleft lip and palate is a phrase used to describe a group of congenital facial 
malformations that occur when the upper lip and/or palatal shelves fail to fuse during 
embryonic development.  There are a range of conditions within this definition from a 
simple notch of the upper lip to a full bilateral cleft of the lip and hard and soft palate.  

43



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

30

Successful management of patients requires multidisciplinary, highly specialised 
treatment from birth to early adulthood including multiple surgeries, genetic and 
psychological counselling, speech and language therapy, orthodontics and long-term 
preventive and restorative dental care.13

Orofacial clefts occur in around 1 in 500 live Caucasian births.10 Clefts occur more 
frequently in oriental people and less frequently in black people.

Patients with orofacial clefts have a high need for care from an experienced 
multidisciplinary team co-ordinated from a single regional centre.

Local data on the prevalence of cleft lip and palate are not routinely collected.

5.1 6 Facial Injury and dental trauma

Facial injury and dental trauma are associated with alcohol use, road traffic 
accidents sports injuries, domestic violence and accidental and non- accidental injury
There is risk of increased facial injury associated with alcohol consumption. There 
are nearly 1 million violent incidents each year in the UK where the victim believed 
the offender to be under the influence of alcohol (The Home Office Statistical 
Bulletin, Crime in in England and Wales 2008/09. The British Crime Survey and 
police recorded crime http//www.homwoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs09/hosb1109vol1.pdf) 
The cost to the NHS for alcohol related harm, including assault injuries is an 
estimated £ 2.7bn a year. 9 DH (2008) The Cost of Alcohol Harm to the NHS in 
England)
 
Glass inflicted injuries to the eyes and face often require stitches or surgery and can 
result in heavy blood loss and even loss of sight. Assault and alcohol consumption 
are the two major factors responsible for serious facial injuries in young adults14. 

Four times more men than women sustained facial injuries in assaults, but in the 
home the reverse was true. Nearly half of all facial injuries sustained in assaults on 
women occurred in the home and one half of these incidents were associated with 
alcohol. 

From 1977 to 1987 the proportion of patients with facial injuries sustained in road 
traffic accidents fell by 34 per cent. Road traffic accidents accounted for only five per 
cent of facial injuries and, 15 per cent of road accident victims had consumed alcohol 
within four hours of their injury.  Public policies and national legislation such as the 
compulsory wearing of seat belts have also contributed to the reduction in the 
number of facial injuries sustained as a result of road traffic accidents.  However 
facial trauma has been consistently shown to be the single most common injury to 
the occupants of vehicles involved in crashes.15  

It has long been known that participation in sports carries a considerable risk of 
sustaining dental injury16. In a 10 year review of over 21,000 cranio-maxillofacial 
injuries seen at an Austrian OMFS clinic 31% were sports-related.17 

Mouth guards offer considerable protection against sports-related dental injuries.

44



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

31

Recent national epidemiological surveys of children identified levels of accidental 
injury to children. Eleven per cent of twelve year olds and 13 per cent of fifteen year 
olds were found to have fractures into dentine of their permanent central incisors.  
NHS Epidemiology Programme for England. Dental Health 2013 

One fifth of the injuries involving children were related to assault, underlining the 
need for anti-bullying policies in schools. 

5.2 Biological Determinants (Risk Factors) of Oral Disease

The factors that are concerned with the development of poor oral health are 
generally well known to the public and the underlying science is well researched 
and understood.

The main risk factors include:
1. Poor diet and nutrition:

 High consumption of free sugars leads to dental caries.
 Poor nutrition can increase risk of oral cancer.

2. Poor oral hygiene:
 Poor plaque control will increase risk of dental caries and gum 

disease
3. Lack of exposure to Fluoride:

 Regular exposure to fluoride has a protective, anti-caries effect

4. Tobacco and alcohol:
 Smoking increases the severity of gum disease and is one of the 

main risk factors for mouth cancer.  Smoking combined with 
excessive alcohol consumption leads to a much greater risk of 
cancer than either in isolation.

5. Injury:
 Injury to teeth can occur through accidental injury or violence or 

contact sports.

5.3 Social Determinants of Oral Disease

For sustainable reductions in oral health inequalities, it is important to tackle the 
underlying causes of oral diseases.  It is now well recognised that oral health is 
determined by a wide range of factors, from individual lifestyle choices (eg amount 
of sugar in diet), to national policy (eg smoke-free environments) (see Figure 2).  A 
successful public health approach must focus on these wider determinants, as 
focusing on behaviour or lifestyle change has been shown to have a limited long-
term effect.

45



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

32

Figure 4: The Underlying Causes of Oral Health

Source: Modified from Watt, 2005 in Department of Health  Choosing Better 
Oral Health.  An Oral Health Plan for England.  2005  Available at 
URL: 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/Publi
cationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251

5.4 Common Risk Factor Approach

The provision of high quality dental services is only one aspect of the public health 
action needed to reduce oral health inequalities.  Dental services are, by necessity, 
treatment focused and cannot eliminate oral health inequalities alone, no matter 
how accessible or effective they may be.

Evidence suggests that tackling the causes of oral diseases and promoting oral 
health will reduce the oral health inequalities.  The most effective and efficient 
method of promoting oral health is to integrate oral health promotion with generic 
health promotion.  The Common Risk Factor Approach emphasises the need to 
tackle the common risk factors and conditions that are shared by common chronic 
non-communicable diseases.18  See Figure 3.

46

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

33

Figure 5: The Common Risk Factor Approach

Source: Sheiham and Watt, 2000 in Department of Health  Choosing Better 
Oral Health.  An Oral Health Plan for England.  2005  Available at URL: 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAn
dGuidance/DH_4123251

These common risk factors include tobacco use, poor diet, stress, high alcohol 
consumption, poor hygiene, injuries and a sedentary lifestyle.  Targeting these risk 
factors at a population level would simultaneously reduce the incidence of obesity, 
health disease, stroke, cancers, diabetes and mental illness, in addition to oral 
diseases.  If the Common Risk Factor Approach is broadly adopted, it has the added 
advantage that all health professionals will communicate consistent health messages 
to the public.  Strategic approaches to improving oral health will therefore be linked 
to other, more general, health promotion initiatives.

5.5 Common Risk Factors

5.5.1 Obesity

There appears to be an association between dental caries and obesity, although 
there is limited supporting evidence at this time.19 Dental teams should apply the 
Common Risk Factor Approach to health promotion and play an active role in 
promoting healthy food choices.  It is important that all health care workers give 
consistent nutritional messages.

Improving diets in this group and the promotion of consistent nutritional messages 
about making healthy choices has the potential to improve oral health by reducing 
the amount and frequency of sugar consumption as well as reduce obesity. 

47

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_4123251


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

34

In the UK 24% of men and 25 % of women are obese, BMI> 30 a rise from 13 and 
16 % respectively from 1998. By 2015 this is expected to rise to 36 and 28% 
respectively. Obesity is linked to a number of oral health problems.  A meta analysis 
of 70 studies found a link between obesity and periodontal disease.  Obese adults 
experience more dental trauma and generally dental problems are probably higher in 
the obese. 

Accessing dental care can be more difficult in this group.  The practice environment, 
narrow stairs and doorways, cramped toilets and the safe working limit of dental 
chairs, 140Kg (22 stone), limits access.  Patient factors such as excess soft tissues 
and saliva, the preference for being treated sitting up, the anaesthetic and sedation 
risk as well as possible patient embarrassment of being too heavy for the chair may 
all make patients more reluctant and less able to access care.    Obese patients may 
well not be attending for dental care with the consequent loss of opportunity to 
deliver preventative care and oral health messages. 

Other diseases and public health concerns share risks and contributory factors, for 
example childhood obesity. The 2012-13 report of the national Child Measurement 
Programme (Department of Health: Health and Social Care Information Centre 
(2013). National Child Measurement Programme: England, 2012/13 school year. 
www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13115  identifies a similar relationship between 
childhood obesity and deprivation. This is understandable given the common factors 
that lead to dental decay and obesity, and consideration should be given to this 
when preventive strategies and local interventions are being developed. 

The impact of sugar on health has recently been reviewed by the Scientific Advisory 
Committee on Nutrition (SACN) and their position statement is currently open for 
scientific consultation;  
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/reports/scientific_consultation_
draft_sacn_carbohydrates_and_health_report_-_june_2014.html

There are a variety of sugars found in the daily diet, some occurring naturally in 
foods, some added during food and drink manufacturing, or at the table.  SACN 
reports that the outcome of a number of studies, conducted in childhood and 
adolescence and looking forward to assess later health problems, indicate that 
higher consumption (i.e. the amount) of sugars, sugars-containing foods and sugars 
containing beverages is associated with a greater risk of dental decay in the 
deciduous (‘milk teeth’) and permanent dentitions. A higher frequency of 
consumption of sugars-containing foods and beverages, but not total sugars, is also 
associated with greater risk of dental caries in the deciduous and permanent 
dentitions. Sugars contained within the whole foods were not as damaging as ‘free’ 
sugars, such as those used in food manufacture.

5.5.2 Smoking

Smoking or chewing tobacco can affect oral health in a number of significant ways.  
These include increased risk of oral cancers and pre-cancers, increased severity of 
gum disease, premature tooth loss and poor wound healing.  In May 2007, the 
Department of Health published Smokefree and Smiling: helping dental patients to 
quit tobacco’ as part of their ongoing campaign to involve dental teams in supporting 
people to stop using tobacco.20 This guidance had been updated 12th March 2014.

48

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13115
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/reports/scientific_consultation_draft_sacn_carbohydrates_and_health_report_-_june_2014.html
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/reports/scientific_consultation_draft_sacn_carbohydrates_and_health_report_-_june_2014.html


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

35

5.5.3 Alcohol

There is a well-recognised relationship between alcohol misuse and oral disease.  
Research suggests that patients suffering from alcohol use disorders experience 
poor oral health (including significant levels of dental caries, gingival inflammation, 
soft tissue abnormalities, tooth erosion and an increased risk of developing 
periodontal disease).21  Excessive alcohol use is also a significant risk factor for oral 
cancer.  Of particular concern is the synergistic action of excessive alcohol 
consumption with tobacco (smoked and chewed), which when used together, will 
substantially increase the risk of developing oral cancer.22  Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessments (JSNA) have been undertaken by PHE across Norfolk, Suffolk, 
Cambridgeshire, Peterborough and Great Yarmouth and Waveney detailing the local 
issues around alcohol use. Joint Strategic needs assessments around alcohol use 
have been undertaken for East Anglia by Public Health England. 

As well as this is the risk of increased facial injury associated with alcohol 
consumption. There are nearly 1 million violent incidents each year in the UK where 
the victim believed the offender to be under the influence of alcohol.23 

The British Crime Survey and police recorded crime 

http//www.homwoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs09/hosb1109vol1.pdf) The cost to the NHS for 
alcohol related harm, including assault injuries is an estimated £ 2.7bn a year. 9 DH 
(2008) The Cost of Alcohol Harm to the NHS in England)

One half of the facial injuries in the 15 - 25 year age group are sustained in assaults, 
usually in bars or streets, and were associated with alcohol consumption by the 
victim or the assailant. There was also an increase in vulnerability of those who have 
been drinking heavily and this may be more important than the effect of alcohol on 
aggression. 

The proportion of injuries sustained in assaults increased from 40 per cent in 1977 to 
50 per cent in 1987 and since then has continued to rise. It is estimated that around 
500,000 people suffer facial injuries annually, 125,000 of them in assaults. The 
psychological legacy of facial injury can persist long after the injury has occurred, as 
facial scars serve as a constant reminder of the assault. 

Oral health promotion strategies should include joint working with other partners 
such as local authorities, the police and owners of licensed premises in known 
flashpoints. Since the 2003 Licensing Act consideration can now be given to the 
awarding of alcohol licences and this responsibility now rests with the local authority. 
Other preventive measures such as replacing glass bottles and glasses with safe 
non glass materials such as plastic or polycarbonate material should be encouraged 
and this can now be a condition of the licence.(Warburton A, Shepherd J. P. 
Effectiveness of toughened glass in terms of reducing injury in bars: a randomised 
controlled trial, Injury prevention Vol 6, pp36-40 2000) (Rickinson, B and Preston, S 
Materials for Drinking Glasses, A short test programme with one pint glasses, 
Executive Summary London IOM3 March 2009) Local data from hospitals and the 
police should continue to be collated to help identify problem areas.

49



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

36

As well as local policies brief interventions around alcohol use following NICE 
guidance have also been demonstrated to be effective in modifying future behaviour. 
These can be delivered by hospital staff, both with the victim and the assailant, at the 
time of treatment and from other health care professionals in different settings. 
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/alcohol-use-disorders/brief-interventions-for-
alcohol-use-disorders)

5.5.4 Drug Abuse

Intravenous drug use is associated with poor oral health, in particular dental decay 
and periodontal disease.  This is thought to be due to a complex relationship 
between a number of factors, which include poverty, self-neglect, consumption of 
high sugar foodstuffs, poor oral hygiene and the intake of methadone syrup.24,25 
Prolonged drug use is often associated with self-neglect and a cariogenic (decay 
promoting) diet.26  There are indications that drug addicts experience severe dental 
and periodontal tissue destruction.27  

In comparison with the general population, drug users tend to have poorer oral 
health and display lower utilisation of dental services28.  Nationally there are 9.9 adult 
drug misusers per 1,000 population.19   Joint Strategic Needs Assessments around 
drug use have been undertaken for East Anglia by Public Health England.

5.5.6 Vulnerable Groups

It is clear that despite substantial improvements in oral health, marked inequalities 
remain.  Socially deprived and/or vulnerable groups in society tend to have poorer 
oral health and poorer access to oral health care services.  

Groups of people particularly at risk from oral diseases include the following:

People living in areas of material and social deprivation 
East Anglia has relatively low levels of deprivation. In Cambridgeshire, however, 
Fenland, northeast Cambridgeshire and areas of Huntingdonshire have the highest 
levels of relative deprivation. For example 1 child in 9 in Cambridgeshire lives in a 
household dependent on means-tested benefits.  Areas of Norwich have 28 LSOAs 
in the most deprived twenty per cent and Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. Great 
Yarmouth has 17 LSOAs in the most deprived twenty per cent. Although large parts 
of Suffolk are fairly affluent some of the most deprived communities live in the towns 
around Ipswich, Lowestoft, Felixstowe and Haverhill. Peterborough also has LSOAS 
in the most deprived twenty per cent in the county, particularly Breton and 
Dogsthorpe. In Norfolk an estimated 26,200 children are living in poverty and the 
figures for Suffolk, Cambridgeshire and Peterborough are 20,000, 14,400 and 9,500 
respectively.   

People who have a learning disability 
Individuals with disabilities experience more oral disease and have fewer teeth than 
the general population.  They also have greater unmet dental needs29 as they have 
more difficulty in accessing dental care.30  Access to oral health care is affected by 
where people with learning disabilities live: evidence suggests that adults with 
learning disabilities living in the community have greater unmet oral health needs 

50

http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/alcohol-use-disorders/brief-interventions-for-alcohol-use-disorders
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/alcohol-use-disorders/brief-interventions-for-alcohol-use-disorders


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

37

than their residential counterparts and are less likely to have regular contact with 
dental services31

People with mental illness
It is estimated that one in four people in the population will suffer from a mental 
health problem at some time. While there is no direct link between mental health 
issues and poor oral health suffers may find it more difficult to access services for a 
variety of reasons to obtain the care that they need.

People in long term institutional care (including residential homes, psychiatric 
hospitals, prisons)

The standard of oral health in prison populations, is significantly worse that of the 
general population.32  

There are three prisons in Norfolk, HMP Norwich, HMP Wayland and HMP Bure and 
four prisons in Suffolk, HMP High Point, HMP Warren Hill, HMP Hollesley Bay and 
HMP Blundeston. HMP High Point is the largest prison in the country.  

Cambridgeshire has two prisons: HMP Whitemoor and HMP Littlehey as well as YOI 
Littlehey. Peterborough has one privately run prison Prisoners tend to have more 
decayed teeth, fewer filled teeth and less natural teeth than the general population, 
even when social class is taken into account (adults in social classes IV and V have 
been shown to have fewer decayed or unsound teeth than the prison population).33 
Evidence suggests that there is a substantial amount of unmet need in British 
prisons.34  A survey of prison dental services is currently being undertaken nationally 
and the results were expected in January 2014. To date this has not been published. 
Homeless people
Homeless people tend to have poorer health than the rest of the population.  The 
level of statutorily homeless households nationally is 7.8 per cent.  Data on the oral 
health status of homeless individuals is limited; however studies consistently report a 
high clinical and perceived need for oral health care within this population35.  They 
have a higher dmft (decayed, missing and filled teeth) than the general population 
and there is a greater prevalence of dental pain and periodontal (gum) disease.36  
Homeless people tend to have fewer remaining teeth and heavy plaque 
accumulation.37  Despite these high levels of need however, homeless people 
experience difficulty in accessing dental services38

Some ethnic minority groups (where they are socially disadvantaged)
There are oral health inequalities with certain Asian groups experiencing more dental 
disease. This may be linked more to deprivation than ethnic group but as data on the 
oral health of ethnic minorities are not routinely collected in the UK knowledge of the 
oral health status of different groups is limited.  Other black and minority ethnic 
groups (BME) who habitually chew tobacco may have increased risk of developing 
oral cancer. The two main ethnic groups likely to have significant oral health needs in 
East Anglia are Asian groups and Travellers.

In Suffolk, for example, the proportion of those in the non-white British ethnic group 
is 10.2% (2009) and the largest ethnic group in Ipswich is Asians which accounts for 
a third of the BME population. In Norfolk the proportion of ethnic groups has changed 

51



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

38

significantly since the Census in 2001 and has doubled to approximately 3.1% of the 
general population.

East Anglia is also seeing an increase in the numbers of settlers coming from 
Poland, Lithuania, Portugal and Latvia who may have complex needs both in terms 
of accessing dental services and communication.
 
Asian Community
Evidence suggests that the oral health of this group is poorer than that of their 
indigenous white peers and those subsequent, British born generations, tend to have 
even higher caries experience.39  Caries levels are high in children, while older 
Asians of Pakistani origin tend to suffer from periodontal disease.40

There is further evidence to suggest that, despite high levels of dental need, minority 
ethnic groups experience barriers to accessing oral health care.  These include 
language, a mistrust of dentists, cost, anxiety, cultural misunderstanding and 
concern about standards of hygiene, although perceived barriers differ across ethnic 
groups.41   It is important to consider the cultural characteristics of each subgroup 
when designing oral health promotion activities for diverse ethnic groups. 

Travelling community
There is very little published literature on the oral health of travellers.  While there 
are no robust data on the prevalence of oral disease in this population, it seems 
reasonable to assume that disease levels will be relatively high, as this is a socially 
deprived group.  A small study in the early 1990s found that 70% of traveller children 
had dental caries.42  The limited data available supports this supposition.  Access to 
health services appears to be minimal and evidence suggests that a dedicated 
dental service may be required to remedy this.  This group make little use of 
preventive services with the majority of travellers neglecting to visit a dentist 
regularly.  Those who do are more likely to be settled and literate.  Travellers report 
going to the dentist mainly when they are in pain.42  Primary care dental services are 
in place in  the East Anglia to meet the needs of this community but access may vary 
across the whole area. 

Elderly people and those living in residential care
Older people have specific oral health needs as oral health problems increase with 
age.  In particular, age related changes can lead to xerostomia (often drug related), 
root caries, recurrent decay and decreased manual dexterity can lead to reduced 
plaque control.  Systemic problems can also have an effect on oral health, for 
example, many older people suffer from progressive neurocognitive impairing 
illnesses (eg Parkinson’s disease and Alzheimer’s disease) and this may cause 
difficulties in controlling and retaining dentures.43  In older people, the retention of 
natural teeth into old age makes a major positive contribution to the maintenance of 
good oral health related quality of life and there is a clear and consistent relationship 
between retention of natural teeth and a healthy diet and good nutrition.44 People in 
East Anglia are living longer and the number of people over the age of 65 is set to 
grow by approximately 20 per cent in the next four years. This ageing population is 
also likely to retain their natural teeth for longer and may present an increased 
burden on NHS dental services.

52



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

39

The proportion of people retaining a useful number of natural teeth into retirement 
age has increased dramatically during the past forty years.  This improvement has 
been tracked by the ten yearly Adult Dental Health Surveys carried out by the Office 
for National Statistics.45  As the number of older people rises and their complexity of 
care increases there will be an associated rise in demands on the service and a 
change in the nature of care required. 

There are a number of specific dental problems and complications that occur in later 
life.  Older people for example, will generally have a reduced salivary flow and this 
effect may be worsened by the side effects of medication.  Saliva both lubricates the 
mouth during eating and speaking but it also has an important protective role in 
combating the decay-producing plaque acid. 

Gums recede as a result of the natural process of ageing or through the cumulative 
effect of chronic gum disease.  This, together with the reduction of the protective 
benefits of saliva, can bring about the onset of new decay, including attack on the 
newly-exposed soft root surface.  A healthy, sugar-controlled diet and the continuing 
use of fluoride toothpaste are needed to help contain this problem.

If manual dexterity becomes reduced with age, for example because of rheumatoid 
arthritis, then effective oral hygiene including tooth brushing with a fluoride 
toothpaste can be compromised.

Dietary habits may also change, for a variety of reasons, as people become older 
and this may impact on oral health.  If access to shops becomes harder because of 
mobility problems then fresh fruit and vegetables may not be readily available and 
there may be increased dependency on processed foods with longer shelf lives.  
Many of these products have a high sugar content.  Tooth loss can reduce the ability 
to chew effectively and diet choices may become more restricted as a result.

A lack of mobility in later life may also make accessing dental services more difficult 
and if incomes are reduced paying for dental care may not be seen as a priority.  
People may only visit the dentist when they have a problem which can result in 
treatment becoming more complex or in late diagnosis of, for example, oral cancer.

At the time of the first survey of adult dental health in 1968, a legacy of disease and 
extraction were clearly visible.  Nearly half the adult population had no teeth at all 
and, even among the relatively young, there were many who wore complete 
dentures.  However, by 1978, and the second national survey of adult oral health, 
the pattern was beginning to change.  Generations who had lost all their teeth were 
gradually being replaced by generations who had their natural teeth filled rather than 
extracted. A group between 30 and 65 could be identified who had experienced high 
levels of disease which had been treated by fillings and other restorations (the 
“heavy metal generation”) and who will have high maintenance needs as they age 
further.

Many older patients suffer from long-term conditions such as diabetes, which 
increases the risk of developing periodontal disease.46  Rheumatoid arthritis, which 
influences the ability of patients to adequately control oral hygiene, also increases 
the risk.47

53



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

40

Children at risk of neglect and abuse

Working Together to Safeguard Children HM Government, Working Together to 
Safeguard Children: A guide to interagency working to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of 2013 children is everyone’s responsibility.48 Paediatricians now 
acknowledge dental neglect as being important in child protection49 . Markers include 
visible dental decay, untreated trauma and multiple hospital admissions for dental 
care. Using the concept of Making Every Contact Count staff across healthcare, 
social care and education should have the skills and responsibility to recognise signs 
of poor oral health and neglect and be able to take appropriate action. 50

Looked after children

There is a requirement that looked after children have an annual health assessment 
and that this should include a dental check-up. Currently this requirement is not 
being met and figures for Norfolk and Suffolk are low, 65.2% and 58.1 % respectively 
completed. This group of children is likely to have poorer oral health and, if they are 
moved between different carers, more erratic and irregular access to dental care. 

6. Epidemiology of Oral Disease

In the UK data on dental caries is regularly collected to allow trends in dental 
disease to be monitored.  The key surveys that provide information on trends in oral 
disease at a national level are the decennial Adult Dental Health Survey and 
Children’s Dental Health Survey. The most recent Adult Dental Health Survey was 
conducted in 2009 and for children this was 2003. The 2013 Child Dental Health 
Survey is currently been undertaken concurrently with a survey of children 
attending special schools. 
 
At a local level, the British Association for the Study of Community Dentistry 
(BASCD) co-ordinates regular surveys of children’s teeth. This regular programme 
is now known as the NHS Dental Epidemiology Programme. Surveys of five year 
olds have been undertaken most recently in 2007/08 and 2011/12

Dental caries is commonly measured using the dmft index, which is a record of the 
number of decayed, missing and filled deciduous teeth (dmft).  By convention, 
upper case DMFT is used to denote permanent teeth while lower case dmft is used 
to denote primary teeth.

The dental health of adults and children has improved significantly in recent years 
however population averages mask oral health inequalities.  A well-recognised 
association exists between socio-economic status and oral health, and trends 
suggest that disease is increasingly concentrated in the lower income groups.

54



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

41

7. Oral Health in Adults

7.1 Adult Dental Health Survey 2009- Summary of main findings

There is a lack of local information on adult oral health. Most information on adult 
dental health is provided by the Office of National Statistics decennial Adult Dental 
Health Survey which began in 1968. The main purpose of these surveys has been to 
gain a picture of the dental health of the adult population and how this has changed 
over time. The most recent survey was undertaken in 200951. 
The Adult Dental Health Survey 2009 shows that adults’ dental health continues to 
improve over time and that accessing NHS dental services only remains difficult for a 
small minority.

 The proportion of adults in England who are edentate (no teeth) has fallen by 
31% from 37% in 1968 to 6% in 2009

 The prevalence of tooth decay in England has also fallen in all age groups 
from 46% in 1998 to 28% in 2009

 86% of dentate adults nationally had 21 or more natural teeth
 Adults under the age of 45 years were less likely to have fillings or crowns
 9% of all adults reported suffering from dental pain
 7% of all adults were observed to have any PUFA symptoms (open pulp 

involvement, ulceration, fistula, abscess)
 12% of all adults (who had ever been to the dentist) were classified as having 

extreme dental anxiety.
 A quarter of young adults (aged 16-24 years) had no fillings
 The prevalence of periodontal disease was 45% although for the majority of 

these the disease was moderate
 Over three-fifths (61%) of dentate adults said they attended the dentist for 

regular check-ups
 There is an increased need for complex dental treatment for those aged 45 

years and over

The dental health of most people in the UK has improved dramatically during the 
past 50 years due largely to the widespread use of fluoride toothpaste.52. During the 
post-war years, the nation’s oral health was poor and dental disease was rife53 and 
there was little expectation that teeth would last a lifetime.  This expectation has now 
changed, with the proportion of adults with no teeth dropping from 37% in 1968 to 
6% in 2009 (see Figure 4 and 1.5.1). 

The percentage of adults over 65 years with no natural teeth has fallen since 
1978.More people retaining their natural teeth into later life has implications for the 
provision of health services and may place a burden of more complex restorative 
care with an ageing population.

55



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

42

Graph 3: The Proportion of Adults with No Natural Teeth in England, 
1968–2009

Source: National Adult Dental Health Surveys, 1968 to 2009. Kelly M, Steele J, Nuttall N, Bradnock G, 
Morris J, Nunn J, Pine C, Pitts N, Treasure E and White D (2000). 

National surveys, conducted decennially, show that adult dental health is improving. 

It is predicted that by 2028, around 96% of the population will have their natural 
teeth. The proportion of younger adults who have a sound dentition (ie without any 
restorations or caries) has also improved dramatically, rising from 9% in 1978 to 30% 
in 1998.54

56



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

43

Graph 4: Trends in percentage of dentate adults with dental caries: England 
1998 to 2009

  NHS Information Centre (2011): Adult Dental Health Survey 2011 available at: 
http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/primary-care/dentistry/adult-dental-health-survey-
2009--summary-report-and-thematic-series
  PUFA: Open pulp involvement, Ulceration, Fistula, Abscess

The average number of decayed teeth has dropped substantially from 1.9 teeth in 
1978 to 1.1 teeth in 199855 and the proportion of younger adults, with a sound 
dentition (i.e. without any dental restorations or decay) has risen dramatically from 
9% in 1978 to 30% in 199856. 

Trends by age in adults

At the time of the first survey of adult dental health in 1968, a legacy of disease and 
extraction were clearly visible. Nearly half the adult population had no teeth at all 
and, even among the relatively young, there were many who wore complete 
dentures. However, by 1978, and the second national survey of adult oral health, the 
pattern was beginning to change. Generation who had their natural teeth filled rather 
than extracted. 

National surveys of children’s oral health were also undertaken at 10-year internals 
and in 1983 the first signs of a sustained reduction in dental decay in children were 
observed. This was probably largely the result of the widespread introduction and 
marketing of fluoride tooth paste in the early 1970s. By 1988 (the next adult dental 
health survey) this reduction was visible in young adults. 

The younger generation of 1978 (16-34 year- olds) had high levels of decay and 
many fillings, mostly of dental amalgam. The wave of restoration can be traced as 
the cohort ages, so by 1998 three groups moving through the population could be 
clearly identified, each with very different needs: 
 Older age groups (those past the age of retirement) were dominated by those 

with no natural teeth at all and a need for complete dentures. 
 A young generation (under the age of about 30) had lower levels of decay than 

their parents. They had low restorative needs and will benefit from maintaining 
this state throughout adult life. 

57



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

44

 Finally, and importantly, a group between 30 and 65 could be identified who had 
experienced high levels of disease which had been treated by fillings and other 
restorations ( the “heavy metal generation”) and who will have high maintenance 
needs as they age further. 

The independent review of NHS dental services in England (Steele 2009) uses 
trends from successive adult national dental surveys to illustrate this “heavy metal 
wave” (Figure 6) where the younger adult generation of 1978 had high levels of 
decay and many fillings, and by 1998, they were in middle age and still exhibited the 
highest treatment need and rates.

Graph 5: The heavy metal wave (Steele 2009)

Source: NHS dental services in England-An independent review led by Professor Jimmy Steele 2009

This improvement means more people are able to eat a healthy diet and talk and 
smile without embarrassment, however populations with high proportions of older 
people in the future will require significant resource to maintain past restorations. As 
people age their ability to maintain good oral health through regular brushing may 
diminish particularly if manual dexterity reduces. This will impact negatively on their 
oral health which in turn will impact on general health as diet may be influenced by 
ability to chew certain foods. 

There will be an increased demand on dental services to maintain this high level of 
treatment as restorations inevitably fail. An ageing population will add an extra 
burden to dental services.

7.1.1 Inequalities in Dental Caries in Adults

While oral health has improved generally, it is not all good news.  Population 
averages hide oral health inequalities, as seen in Figure 7.  This highlights that the 
prevalence of oral disease is highest in areas of social deprivation

58



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

45

Graph 6: Proportion of Adults with Decayed/Unsound Teeth or Periodontal 
(Gum) Disease by Social Class

Source:  Kelly M, Steele J, Nuttall N, Bradnock G, Morris J, Nunn J, Pine C, Pitts N, Treasure E, White D.  Adult 
Dental Health Survey.  Oral Health in the United Kingdom 1998.  

Adults from the most deprived areas are more likely to have one or more decayed or 
unsound teeth than those from less deprived areas, as seen in Figure 8

Graph 7: The Condition of Teeth among Dentate Adults in England by 
Jarman Area

Source: Kelly M, Steele J, Nuttall N, Bradnock G, Morris J, Nunn J, Pine C, Pitts N, Treasure E, White 
D.  Adult Dental Health Survey.  Oral Health in the United Kingdom 1998.  Available at URL: 
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/downloads/theme_health/AdltDentlHlth98_v3.pdf

Although oral health has improved, the 2009 ADHS still reported differences in dental 
status by socioeconomic status. Table 1 still describes a gradient between managerial 
and professional occupations, intermediate occupations and routine and manual 
occupations.

Table 6: Dental status by characteristics of adults- ADHS 2009

Socio-economic 
classification of 

% Dentate % Edentate

50
57

62

42 44 47

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

I, II, IIINM IIIM IV, V

Pe
rc
en
ta
ge

Social Class of Head of Household

Decayed/Unsound Teeth

Periodontal Disease

59

http://www.statistics.gov.uk/downloads/theme_health/AdltDentlHlth98_v3.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

46

household
Managerial and 
professional occupations

98 2

Intermediate occupations 96 4
Routine and manual 
occupations

90 10

Source: The Information Centre 11: Adult Dental Health Survey 2009-Key Findings.  Chenery, V. 
March 2011

Attendance for Treatment

Despite the higher level of need in adults from deprived areas, it is adults from the 
least deprived areas that are more likely to have restored teeth.  This suggests that 
those from higher socio-economic groups are more likely to seek dental treatment.  
Similarly, individuals from socially deprived groups report that they are more likely to 
attend irregularly and only when they have a problem (see Figure 9). 

Figure 9 shows that much decay goes untreated (even in the least deprived socio-
economic groups the proportion of untreated decay is as high as 50%).

Graph 8: Reported Usual Reason for Dental Attendance of Dentate Adults by 
Social Class

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

Regular check-
up

Occasional
check –up

Only with
trouble

USUAL REASON FOR DENTAL ATTENDANCE

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge II, II, IIINM
IIIM
IV, V

Source: Kelly M, Steele J, Nuttall N, Bradnock G, Morris J, Nunn J, Pine C, Pitts N, Treasure E, White 
D.  Adult Dental Health Survey.  Oral Health in the United Kingdom 1998.  

7.1.2 Dental Health of Adults in East Anglia

Local data on adult oral health are not routinely collected in the UK.  In many areas 
there is a paucity of local information on adult oral health so measures of child dental 
health are the most commonly used indicators of dental disease.  The decennial 
national surveys do however collect data to regional level.

Overall, in the most recent Adult Dental Health Survey 2009, twenty per cent of 
dentate adults in the East of England were found to have excellent oral health. That 

60



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

47

is they had twenty one or more natural teeth, 18 or more sound and untreated teeth, 
no active decay at any site, no periodontal pocketing or loss of attachment above 
4mm and no plaque or calculus. This is the highest percentage in England and 
compares with an England average of ten per cent. 

Table 7: Proportion of adults with excellent oral health by English Strategic 
Health Authority- England 2009

Dentate Adults Percentage with excellent oral 
health

All 10
North East 10
North West 7
Yorkshire and Humber 8
East Midlands 7
West Midlands 4
East of England 20
London 11
South East Coast 17
South Central 7
South West 6
Source: The Information Centre Adult Dental Health Survey 2009- England Key Findings.  Chenery, 
V.  published March 2011

The findings of the ADHS survey (2009) suggests that oral health inequalities 
continue to be geographically clustered however as tables 2 and 3 show, adults in 
the South of England tend to have better oral health than adults in the North. More 
adults are retaining more of their natural teeth and East of England compares 
favourably to the rest of England and has improved between 1998 and 2009. The 
percentage of adults who are edentulous has more than halved in the same time 
period from eleven to four per cent.

Table 8: Dental status by characteristics of adults- ADHS 2009

English Strategic Health Authority Dental Status
% dentate % edentate

North East 92 8
North West 93 7
Yorkshire and The Humber 93 7
East Midlands 94 6
West Midlands 91 9
East of England 96 4
London 96 4
South East Coast 95 5
South Central 98 2
South West 94 6
Source: The Information Centre Adult Dental Health Survey 2009- England Key Findings. V Chenery 
published March 2011

61



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

48

Dental Caries in Adults in East Anglia

 Adults in the East of England had on average 0.5 carious teeth compared with 
1.1 carious teeth for dentate adults in the North East and South West.

 Adults in the East of England with at least one carious tooth had on average 
2.2 carious teeth compared with 3.2 among adults in the North East and 
South West.

 Fifteen per cent of dentate adults had primary caries in the East of England 
compared with 28 per cent of dentate adults in the West Midlands.

7.2 Gum (Periodontal) Disease in Adults in East Anglia

It is difficult to collect robust data on periodontal disease, however national surveys 
suggest that the incidence of severe periodontal disease is declining.56  

Nevertheless, chronic periodontitis still affects a significant proportion of the 
population.  The most recent Adult Dental Health Survey, in 2009, found that 54 % 
experience bleeding in the mouth, 45 per cent had pocketing of 6mm or more and 1 
per cent had pocketing of 9mm or more .  Prevalence increases with age as 14%  of 
16-24 year olds and 85% of people aged 85 years and over have signs of the 
disease.  Approximately 5%  of the population suffer from severe disease57 and are, 
therefore, at significant risk of tooth loss. 

Thirty two per cent of dentate adults in the East of England had bleeding in the 
mouth compared with 64% of dentate adults in South Central. Thirty two per cent of 
dentate adults in the East of England had pocketing of 4mm or more compared with 
59% of adults in the South West.

Findings of national surveys suggest that the pattern of oral health inequalities in 
gum disease mirrors that of dental decay; adults who have the most severe disease 
tend to come from the more socio-economically deprived groups.  Figure 7 and 8 
shows that groups with the highest need, both in terms of dental decay and 
periodontal (gum) disease, come from the most deprived socio-economic classes. 

7.3 Tooth Wear in Adults in East Anglia 

In an ageing population, more of whom are retaining more of their natural teeth in 
later life, tooth wear is likely to become a more significant problem. It can present 
restorative challenges to general dental practitioners (GDPs) and may present more 
of a financial burden on dental commissioning services.

Seventy seven per cent of dentate adults in England had some wear in their anterior 
teeth; 15% had some moderate wear, and 2% had some severe wear on their 
anterior teeth. In the East of England 70% had any wear, 9% some moderate wear 
and 1% some severe wear on their anterior teeth.  

7.4 Urgent dental conditions and dental pain in adults in East Anglia 

Urgent conditions including dental pain, dental pulpitis and oral sepsis, and untreated 
teeth with extensive decay, are an important and sometimes dominant factor in 
dental behaviour and the prevalence and distribution of these conditions need to be 
considered alongside estimates of the current state of adult dental health. Ten per 

62



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

49

cent of all dentate adults in the East of England reported current pain compared with 
an England average of 9%. Seventy three per cent reported that they had never had 
any dental pain in the last 12 months, 20% reported occasional pain and 7% 
reported dental pain fairly or very often. This compares with England averages of 
70%, 22% and 8% respectively.

Seven per cent of all dentate adults in the East of England had PUFA symptoms 
(pain, ulceration, fistula, abscess) the same percentage as England, 7% had un-
restorable caries, compared with 8% for England and 21% had one or more urgent 
dental conditions compared with 22% for England.   

7.5 Preventive Behaviour and risks to oral health in adults in East Anglia 

Good oral hygiene helps prevent dental problems such as the accumulation of 
plaque and calculus which contribute to the development of gum disease and tooth 
decay. Daily preventive care including brushing with a fluoride toothpaste is essential 
and will help stop dental problems before they develop.

7.6 Oral Hygiene 

Seventy seven per cent of dentate adults in the East of England reported tooth 
cleaning twice a day or more often and 21% once a day. The vast majority of these 
reported using fluoride toothpaste. Eighty two per cent said they had been given 
advice on brushing.

Table 8: Reported preventive behaviour by dentate adults ADHA 2009

Reported behaviour East of England % 
dentate adults

England % dentate 
adults

Frequency of tooth cleaning- twice 
a day or more often

77 75
Frequency of tooth cleaning- once 
a day

21 22
Frequency of tooth cleaning-less 
than once a day

2 2
Frequency of tooth cleaning- never 1 1
The use of a fluoride toothpaste 
1350-1500ppm (excluding those 
who reported that the never 
cleaned their teeth)

78 76

The use of a fluoride toothpaste 
1000-1350ppm (excluding those 
who reported that the never 
cleaned their teeth)

17 19

Had been given advice on brushing 82 78
Source: The Information Centre Adult Dental Health Survey 2009- England Key Findings. V Chenery  
published March 2011

7.7 Risks to dental health in adults in East Anglia 

Smoking, poor oral hygiene and diets high in both sugar content and frequency of 
intake all present risks to oral health for dental decay, periodontal disease and oral 
cancer.

63



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

50

Twenty one per cent of dentate adults in the East of England reported smoking 
compared with 21% for England. 

Fifty five per cent in the East of England reported having a high sugar intake, (cakes, 
biscuits, puddings or pastries, sweets or chocolate or fizzy drinks 6 or more times a 
week) compared with an England average of 50%.

Forty two per cent of dentate adults in the East of England had visible plaque 
compared with an England average of 66%.

7.8 Dental attendance patterns of adults in East Anglia

Regular attendance at the dentist allows the early detection and treatment of 
conditions that may become more serious with time. For example, the early detection 
of oral cancer improves five-year survival rates dramatically, to just below 90%.58 
Often the dentist, because of the painless nature of the condition, is the first person 
to identify the condition. A dental visit is also a good opportunity to reinforce 
preventive messages. Gingivitis, the first stages of periodontal disease is reversible 
with good oral hygiene practices and the dentist is well placed to give advice about 
oral cleaning and brushing techniques as well as dietary advice.

Sixty two per cent of all dentate adults in the East of England report that their usual 
reason for attending a dentist is that they like to go regularly. This compares with 
61% in England. Eleven per cent attend only occasionally and 26% only when they 
have trouble. Fifty per cent report that they go every six months, 23% once a year, 
seven per cent once every two years, 10 per cent less than every two years and 10 
per cent only when they have a problem.

Seventy nine per cent of dentate adults in the East of England reported that they had 
attended a dentist at least every last two years compared with 76 % for England. The 
21% who reported that they did not visit a dentist at least every two years gave 
various reasons outlined in table 9.

Table 9: Reported reason for not attending the dentist in the last two years, 
England and East of England. ADHS 2009. (Dentate adults who have not been 
to the dentist in the last two years)

Reason for not attending 
the dentist in the last 
two years

East of England % who 
said

England % who said

No need to go to the dentist/nothing 
wrong with my teeth

46 40
I can’t find an NHS dentist/dentist 
changed to private

16 25
I am afraid of going to the dentist 22 23
I can’t afford the NHS charges 18 20
Keep forgetting/haven’t got round to 
it

18 18
I’ve had a bad experience with a 
dentist

15 17
I don’t see the point in going to the 
dentist

14 15
I haven’t got time to go 10 9

64



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

51

It’s difficult to get to/from the dentist 5 6
I’m embarrassed to go to the 
dentist

4 5
Source: The Information Centre Adult Dental Health Survey 2009- England Key Findings.  Chenery, 
V.  published March 2011

NICE guidance issues in October 2004 makes recommendations about intervals 
between routine dental examinations59. CG19 Dental recall: Recall interval between 
routine dental examinations. The guideline recommends that the largest interval 
between oral health reviews for patients aged 18 years and older should be 24 
months. 

Although 62 % of all dentate adults in the East of England report that their usual 
reason for attending a dentist is that they like to go regularly on average only 50%   
of the population attend within a 24 month period. 

Dentists have an important role to play in improving oral health both in the early 
detection of disease and the opportunity of a dental visit offers to promote 
preventative behaviour.

7.9 Oral Cancer in Adults

Cancers of the head and neck are a set of serious diseases. Improved outcomes 
result from early detection and treatment. The prevalence of oral cancer had been 
declining steadily over the past few decades, but it has recently begun to rise60.  In 
2001, national survey data estimated that there were 4400 new cases in the UK, 
making up 2% of all cancers. In 2003, approximately 1600 deaths were attributed to 
oral cancer. While mouth cancers account for only around 1% of all new UK 
cancers per year, the incidence is rising and now accounts for approximately 800 
deaths annually.  

The five-year survival rate in England is around 50% if the patient presents at an 
advanced stage.  However, early detection improves five-year survival rates 
dramatically, to just below 90%.61  Unfortunately, the low awareness of oral cancer 
among the public, and the painless nature of oral cancer in its early stages, mean 
that early presentation is rare.  People tend to only seek treatment when the cancer 
is more advanced and difficult to treat. The risk factors include tobacco and alcohol 
use and in the case of lip cancer sun exposure. Smokeless tobacco such as areca 
nuts betel quid and oral snuff has been found to independently increase the risk of 
oesophageal cancer.62

Incidence of oral cancer increases with age from 30 years, although prevalence is 
beginning to increase in younger adults.63  It is twice as common in men as in 
women however, the gender difference is becoming less pronounced over time.  
There are wide geographic variations in prevalence and those in lower socio-
economic groups are more susceptible.64

65



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

52

Graph 9 

Source: Office for National Statistics, Cancer statistics registrations series MB1 
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/statbase/product.asp?vlnk=8843 

Oropharyngeal cancer incidence has more than doubled in recent years, 
representing the biggest rise in any head and neck cancer. Recent research 
suggests a change in patterns of causation, with human papilloma virus (rather than 
smoking and alcohol) being the primary risk factor in a younger subpopulation. The 
incidence of palate cancer has also increased by 66% nationally. The reasons for 
this are unclear.   National Cancer Intelligence Network (2010): Oral Cavity Cancer – 
Survival Trends in England available at 
http://www.ncin.org.uk/publications/data_briefings/oralcancer.aspx

Ethnicity and oral cancer
A link has been demonstrated between ethnicity and oral cancer. Oropharangeal 
cancer was more common in Bangladeshi, Indian and Pakistani females than in 
white females even with lower smoking levels (Donaldson 2102). Moles in 2008 also 
demonstrated a higher incidence in South Asians versus non-South Asians that was 
associated with deprivation. The health Survey for England in 2004 found a higher 
incidence of oral cancer in South Asian women associated with betel quid use. 65 66 
67

7.10 Prevalence of Oral Cancer in East Anglia

Oral cancer is on the increase in Anglia with a 50% increase in age-standardised 
oral cancer incidence over the last 20 years. Table 10 shows the  new registrations 
for oral cancer  ICD-10 code C00-C14
 
Table 10: Registrations of newly diagnosed cases of cancer (3rd digit) site, sex 
and region of residence. England 2011. Registered by February 2013
site England North 

East
North 
West

Y 
and 
H

East 
Midlands

West 
Midlands

East London South 
East

South 
West

M 4,071 244 636 444 370 435 383 464 629 466Malignant 
neoplasm 
of lip oral 
cavity 

F 2,137 100 326 212 177 242 217 277 334 252

66

http://www.ncin.org.uk/publications/data_briefings/oralcancer.aspx


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

53

and 
pharynx 
ICD-10 
code 
C00-C14

The map below shows the incidence of oral cavity cancer by network 2002-2006

Map 1:  To show incidence of oral cavity cancer by network 2002-2006

8. Oral Health in Children

8.1 Dental caries In Children

Introduction

For the past 20 years nationally coordinated surveys of child dental health have been 
undertaken across the UK which produced robust, comparable information which 
could be used at local level and compared regionally, nationally and internationally. 
These surveys have been jointly run by the NHS and the British Association for the 
Study of Community Dentistry (BASCD). This is now known as the National 
Epidemiology Programme for England. 

The information produced from the nationally coordinated surveys of child dental 
health is used by Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) and now Local Authorities and NHS 
England when conducting oral health needs assessments at local level.

In recent years concern was expressed by all parties about compliance with the 
programme and the quality of the data. New arrangements were established in 
England during 2006/07 which embedded the programme within the governance of 
the NHS and maintained the important advisory role of BASCD in ensuring quality 
standards. The NHS Dental Epidemiology Programme for England was established 
(NHS DEP) and is delivered in accordance with Directions (DH, 2008) made under 

67



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

54

the Functions of Primary Care Trusts (Dental Public Health) (England) Regulations 
2006 (OPSI, 2006). 

The North West Public Health Observatory (NWPHO) and The Dental Observatory 
(TDO) worked with the Department of Health (DH), BASCD and other stakeholders 
to develop the NHS DEP. 

Following guidance from the Deputy Chief Dental Officer in 2005, the protocol also 
required that positive consent was obtained prior to the survey from the child’s 
parent or from someone with the competence to give consent on behalf of the child. 
In previous surveys, parents were informed about the survey and unless the parents 
objected, children were examined. 

The prevalence of dental caries in young children has decreased substantially over 
the past 40 years (see Figure 13).  The greatest improvement in the decay 
experience of five-year-olds was seen between 1973 and 1983, during which time 
the mean number of decayed, missing and filled teeth (dmft) per child halved and the 
percentage of children without any caries (caries free) doubled. This is associated 
with the widespread use of fluoride toothpaste. 
Other diseases and public health concerns share risks and contributory factors with 
dental decay, for example childhood obesity. The 2012-13 report of the national 
Child Measurement Programme (Department of Health: Health and Social Care 
Information Centre (2013). National Child Measurement Programme: England, 
2012/13 school year. 

www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13115  identifies a similar relationship between 
childhood obesity and deprivation. This is understandable given the common factors 
that lead to dental decay and obesity, and consideration should be given to this 
when preventive strategies and local interventions are being developed. 

The impact of sugar on health has recently been reviewed by the Scientific Advisory 
Committee on Nutrition (SACN) and their position statement is currently open for 
scientific consultation;  
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/reports/scientific_consultation_
draft_sacn_carbohydrates_and_health_report_-_june_2014.html

Graph 10 : Changes in Mean dmft/dmft Over Time for Children in UK

68

http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/PUB13115
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/reports/scientific_consultation_draft_sacn_carbohydrates_and_health_report_-_june_2014.html
http://www.sacn.gov.uk/reports_position_statements/reports/scientific_consultation_draft_sacn_carbohydrates_and_health_report_-_june_2014.html


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

55

Source: National Children’s Dental Health Surveys 1973 to 2003.  Harker R and Morris J (2005).  Office for 
National Statistics, London.  In Choosing Better Oral Health, Department of Health (2005): 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/12/32/53/04123253.pdf

Trends suggest however, that disease levels are now static.  Between 1983 and 
1993, the decline was less marked.  Since 1993, the overall trend in the oral health 
of five-year-olds seems to be one of modest worsening following a long plateau.  
Therefore, there continues to be a burden of disease in small children, which is 
difficult to address. The most recent Child Dental Health Survey 2013 is currently 
underway. 

Graph 11 shows the results of caries surveys of five year olds in England from 
National Child Health Surveys and NHS DEP surveys 1973-2012. BASCD national 
epidemiological data reflects what was found in the national decennial surveys with a 
plateau both in percentage of children with decay and dmft levels. 

Graph 11: Results of Caries surveys of five year-olds in England 

 
Source: National Child Dental Health Surveys 1973-2003. The dental caries experience of 5-year-old children in 
Great Britain1991-2012). Surveys co-ordinated by the British Association for the Study of Community Dentistry..  
NB. Pitts, J Boyles, Z.J. Nugent, N. Thomas, and C.M. Pine . Available at URL: 
http://www.bascd.org/viewdoc.php?doc_id=45&offset=0&keyword=

The methodology used for the 2012 oral health survey of children was the same as 
that used in the 2008 survey and therefore it is possible to make comparisons 
between the two. The issue of positive consent makes comparisons with earlier data 
less reliable. 

Overall 27.9% of five year old children in England whose parents gave consent for 
participation in the survey had experienced dental decay. There was wide variation 
in prevalence and severity of dental decay with poorer oral health in the north and 

69

http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/12/32/53/04123253.pdf
http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/12/32/53/04123253.pdf
http://www.bascd.org/viewdoc.php?doc_id=45&offset=0&keyword


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

56

the more deprived local authorities. The results show a reduction in the proportion of 
children with dental decay from 30.9% in 2008 to 27.9% in 2012 equating to a 
percentage change of 9.7%. Reductions in severity were also evident, with the 
number of decayed missing or filled teeth falling from 1.11 in 2008 to 0.94 in 2012 a 
reduction of 15%.

8.1.1 Inequalities in Dental Caries in Children

These averages fail to present the full picture of dental disease by masking oral 
health inequalities.  In reality, a small proportion of the population experiences a 
high proportion of the disease.  Disease experience is polarised, therefore the 
distribution of caries prevalence is skewed.  As Figures 15 and 16 shows, the mean 
dmft for 5-year-olds who have decay experience is substantially higher than the 
overall mean dmft.  This means that children who have decayed teeth will have, on 
average, between 3 and 4 decayed teeth therefore most of the decay is found in a 
small number of children.   The same pattern is found at both regional and national 
levels (see Figure 6 and 7).

Figure 6: Average number of dentinally decayed, missing (due to decay) and 
filled teeth (d3mft) among five year old children in England by region 2012

Error bars represent 95% confidence limits

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public 
Health Team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West)

The average dmft for five year old children living in the East of England, is lower than 
the England average of 1.0 and is among the best in the country, second lowest by 
region however when children who are free from decay are excluded the average 
dmft for the East of England rises to 3.3 only slightly better than the England average 
of 3.4. 

70



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

57

Figure 7: Average number of dentinally decayed, missing (due to decay) and 
filled teeth (d3mft) among five year old children with decay experienece
(d3mft>0) England by region 2012  

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental 
Public health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team (North West)

Looking at the average dmft for the whole sample population does not give a clear 
indication of the disease burden in those children that have decay. In 2012, 72.1% 
of the children included in this average have no decay and therefore all of the 
decay identified must be in the remaining 27.9% surveyed. Among the children with 
decay experience the average number of decayed, missing (due to decay) or filled 
was 3.38. A child at this age normally has 20 primary teeth. Figure 7 shows the 
England average and variation across the regions.

Dental caries, like many other diseases, is increasingly associated with social 
deprivation.68 Children from socially disadvantaged groups experience 
disproportionately high levels of dental disease.69  The 2003 National Children’s 
Dental Health Survey found that children from manual classes are more likely to 
experience caries than those from non-manual classes (see Graph 12).70 

71



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

58

Graph 12: Mean Number of Teeth with Obvious Decay Experience by Socio-
Economic Status of Household in the UK 2003*

 

Source: The dental caries experience of 5-year-old children in Great Britain (2005/2006).  Surveys co-ordinated by the British 
Association for the Study of Community Dentistry..  NB. Pitts, J Boyles, Z.J. Nugent, N. Thomas, and C.M. Pine . Available at 
URL: http://www.bascd.org/viewdoc.php?doc_id=45&offset=0&keyword=
*Hashed columns indicate primary teeth, solid columns indicate permanent teeth 

Similarly, there is a correlation between the percentage of children with decay 
experience (% of children caries free) and deprivation.  This means that deprived 
groups are more likely to have decay experience.  Graph 12  from the 2003 survey 
shows that this pattern is seen in both the primary and secondary teeth. This 
variation persists and is also evident in the 2012 survey at the lower tier local 
authority level and the severity of decay is well correlated with deprivation. 

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3

5 year
olds

8 year
olds

12 year
olds

15 year
olds

M
ea

n 
Nu

m
be

r o
f T

ee
th

 w
ith

 D
ec

ay
 

Ex
pe

rie
nc

e

Managerial and
Professional
Intermediate

Routine and Manual

72

http://www.bascd.org/viewdoc.php?doc_id=45&offset=0&keyword


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

59

Graph 13: Correlation between number of dentinally decayed, missing (due to 
decay) and filled teeth (d3mft) among five-year-old children and Index of 
Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2010) score. Lower tier local authorities in England, 
2012

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental 
Public health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team (North West)

The Care Index

The care index is the proportion of teeth with caries that have been filled. ft/d3mft 
expressed as a percentage. Opinions differ regarding the appropriateness and 
benefit of filling decayed deciduous teeth and there is a lack of definitve evidence 
based guidance on this. It is difficult thefore to make assumptions about the extent or 
the quality of clinical care available. How ever it appears that althought children visit 
the dentist their deciduous teeth, for whatever reason, are not be routinely filled or 
extracted. 

The care index was 11.2% across England as a whole showing that just over a tenth 
of decayed teeth are treated by filling them. This compares with the care index for 
the East of England of 14.2%.

Oral disease can have a significant negative impact on the quality of life of pre 
school children.71

For example, severe untreated caries may not only cause pain, discomfort and 
disruption to sleeping and eating habits, but may also adversley affect child growth 
and school performance.72  It is therfore of paramount importance for dental 
professional to provide appropriate prevention and high quality treatment for 
children. 

73



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

60

Dental teams may need more training and support to develop their clinical 
mangement skills needed for the effectove  care of preshool and young children. 
Establishing effective links between local dental practices, chilrens centres and 
primary schools may facilitate across to dental services and to provide oral health 
support and advice. 

8.2 Oral Health in Children in East Anglia

8.2.1 Dental Caries

The dental health of children in East Anglia is relatively good.  Local data on the oral 
health of children are regularly collected through the National Dental Public Health 
Epidemiology Programme (DEP) for England co-ordinated surveys.
 On 30th September 2014 the DEP published an “ Oral health survey of three year 
old children 2013”. Of the 5,259 three year old children examined in Anglia and 
Essex and 92.9% had no visible tooth decay or evidence of past dental treatment. 
For the remaining 7.1% who had some obvious decay experience, the average 
number of decayed teeth and teeth treated for decay was 2.99 per child. The 
average number of decayed, missing and filled teeth, per child, across the whole 
sample was 0.2. Table 11 shows the results across Anglia and Essex

Table 11:Local Results to upper tier LA level; 3 year old population as 
sampled: average number of teeth with decay experience and proportion of 
total sample with any obvious decay experience

Total 
number 
of 
children 
examined

Average 
number 
of teeth 
with 
decay 
experienc
e
(d3mft)

d3mft 
Lower 
95% 
confidence
limit 

d3mft
Upper 
95% 
confidence
limit

Proportio
n with 
any 
visible 
decay 
experienc
e
(d3mft>0)

d3mft>0 
Lower 
95% 
confidence
limit

d3mft>0 
Upper 
95% 
confidence
limit

England 53,640 0.36 0.35 0.37 11.7 11.5 12.0
Anglia and 
Essex

5,259 0.21 0.18 0.24 7.1 6.38 7.8

Cambridgeshire 1,103 0.16 0.11 0.22 4.8 3.5 6.0
Essex (data for 
Basildon, Braintree, 
Brentwood, Castle 
Point, Chelmsford, 
Colchester, Epping 
Forest, Harlow, 
Maldon, Rochford 
and Uttlesford only) 

1,290 0.17 0.12 0.21 6.3 4.9 7.6

Norfolk 1,173 0.27 0.20 0.35 9.9 8.2 11.6
Peterborough 134 0.46 0.11 0.8 10.7 5.1 16.4
Southend-on-
Sea

229 0.22 0.07 0.38 5.6 2.6 8.5

Suffolk 1,267 0.20 0.14 0.26 6.8 5.4 8.3
Thurrock 63 0.15 0.01 0.29 7.3 1.3 13.4

74



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

61

The report provides further information relating only to children who did have 
evidence of decay experience. Average number of teeth affected by decay (and 95% 
confidence limits) within this group is:

Table 12: dmft for three year olds in East Anglia where dmft > 0  2013 

England 3.08  ( 3.01 – 3.14 ) 
Anglia and Essex 2.99  (2.7-3.27)
Cambridgeshire 3.38  (2.67-4.1)
Essex (as above) 2.65  (2.24-3.05)
Norfolk 2.77  (2.24-3.30)
Peterborough 4.27  (1.92-6.63)
Southend- on- Sea 4.01  (2.32-5.71)
Suffolk 2.94  (2.31-3.56)
Thurrock 2.09 (2.09-2.09)

Values for Peterborough, Southend-on-
Sea and Thurrock are based on less than 
30 children in this category  examined in 
each of these LAs

The number of children examined who fell into in this category, resident in 
Peterborough was 14, Southend- on- Sea, 13 and Thurrock, 5 and therefore the 
findings are likely to be unreliable.  

The Report does provide data to lower tier LA level but these are likely to have 
limited practical value; sample numbers are small and confidence intervals wide. 

In the sample of five year old children surveyed during 2011-2012 there was 
variation across the area however. In Cambridgeshire 86% of 5 year old children are 
decay free, in Suffolk 83%, Norfolk 73% and Peterborough 64%. See Graph 14 . 
This compares with an England average of 72.5%. 

Graph 14:  National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health 
survey of five year old children 2012

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public 
health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West)

75



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

62

Although these surveys have been undertaken over a number of years the 
methodology had changes so it is not possible to make comparisons with the 1992 to 
2006 series. Data from the 1992 to 2006 series shows there was little change in the 
prevalence or severity of dental decay between 1992 and 2006. The first two points 
of the 2008 to 2012 series shows a reduction that would require further investigation 
to determine the possible causes. Surveys in Wales and Scotland have shown 
similar trends over similar period. In terms of the methodology, however, surveys 
undertaken from 2008 required that, for the first time, parents given positive consent 
for their child to be examined. This may have a bearing on the findings and there 
may be an element of self- selection in this method. Graph 15 show the comparison 
between the 2008 and 2012 epidemiological survey.

Graph 15: Percentage of five year olds children with decay experience 
(d3mft>0) in England by region 2008 and 2012

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, A report on 
the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public health team. M Robinson. A 
Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West)

The East of England averages for 5 year old children in the East of England is 0.83 
and 0.75 in 2008 and 20012 respectively and is higher only then figures for the 
South West of England. Again this reduction between 2008 -2012 may not be 
significant. 

76



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

63

The chart below also shows a reduction in the mean d3mft from 1.11 in 2008 to 0.9 
in 2012 which is an overall reduction of 15.3%. The reduction in England severity 
was recorded for all regions but not all local authorities. 

Graph 16  

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public 
health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West) 

Graph 16 :  below shows the mean decayed, missing of filled teeth (due to 
decay) in 5 year old children 2001.12 for Upper Tier Local Authorities

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, A report on 
the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public health team. M Robinson. A 
Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West

Graph 16  above shows the mean decayed, missing of filled teeth (due to decay) in 5 
year old children 2012 for Upper Tier Local Authorities

77



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

64

Across the Midlands and East Region Cambridgeshire and Suffolk Upper Tier Local 
Authorities have some of the lowest mean d3mft values of 0.5, lower also than the 
England average. Peterborough and Norfolk have mean d3mft values of 1.1 and 0.9 
respectively, closer to the average value for England.

Graph 17 shows the components of the dmft index while the average dmft in all 
areas except Peterborough is lower than the England average the largest 
component is untreated decay: Only a very small number of five year old children 
with dental decay receive active treatment for this condition, i.e. filling or extractions. 
While many decayed teeth may remain symptomless the impact of a decayed tooth 
in terms of pain, infection and sleepless nights in a child should not be under 
estimated. 

Graph 17: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health 
survey of five year old children 2012

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public 
health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West

Graph 17 shows the breakdown of dmft scores by lower tier local authorities. Local 
differences appear more marked with Norwich, Great Yarmouth and Peterborough 
exhibiting higher average dmft scores than England and the rest of the area. 

78



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

65

Graph 18 : shows the breakdown into decayed, missing and filled components 
for each of the Lower Tier Local Authorities

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public 
health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West

Average dmfts at higher tier local authority level can mask local variation. Targeted 
interventions such as community fluoride varnish schemes or brushing programmes 
in primary schools may help reduce levels of dental decay. 
8.2.2 Inequalities in Oral Health of Children in East Anglia
The pattern of oral health inequalities seen at a national level is repeated locally.  
Again national averages hide oral health inequalities and the fact that a small 
proportion of the population experiences a high proportion of dental disease.  The 
stark contrast between average d3mft values across the whole population and d3mft 
values in those with decay experience can be seen in figure 24. 

For example in Cambridge a relatively affluent part of the region the difference 
between the average d3mft and the average d3mft of those with dental decay is from 
0.7 to 4.4. Similar variation is seen most notably in areas such as Fenland, Norwich, 
Great Yarmouth and Suffolk Coastal.  

79



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

66

Graph 19: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health 
survey of five year old children 2012

Source: National Dental Epidemiology Programme for England: oral health survey of five year old children 2012, 
A report on the prevalence and severity of dental decay. PHE G Davies, J Neville, E Rooney. Dental Public 
health team. M Robinson. A Jones, C Perkins, Knowledge and Intelligence Team(North West

These figures highlight the wide variation in the levels of decay experienced by five 
year old children living in different parts of the Midlands and East Region, in 
Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, Suffolk and Cambridgeshire and even between areas 
covered by lower tier authorities. 

The figures also highlight the differences in the level of decay experienced by five 
year old children living in different life circumstances.  The cause of dental decay is 
well understood and is related to the frequent exposure of teeth to fermentable 
carbohydrates, most commonly through eating and drinking sugary snacks and 
drinks. 

These are also contributory factors to other issues of public health concern in 
children, for example childhood obesity. The variation in dental decay reported at the 
local authority ( lower-tier level) is well correlated with the index of multiple 
deprivation, with the highest levels of disease tending to be seen in the most 
deprived areas. The 2011-12 report of the national Child Measurement Programme 
(Department of Health: Health and Social Care Information Centre (2012). National 
Child Measurement Programme: England, 2011/12 school year. Available at: 
https://catalogue.ic.nhs.uk/publications/public-health/obesity/nati-chil-meas-prog-
eng-2011-2012/nati-chil-meas-prog-eng-2011-2012-rep.pdf) identifies a similar 
relationship between childhood obesity and deprivation. This is understandable given 

80

https://catalogue.ic.nhs.uk/publications/public-health/obesity/nati-chil-meas-prog-eng-2011-2012/nati-chil-meas-prog-eng-2011-2012-rep.pdf
https://catalogue.ic.nhs.uk/publications/public-health/obesity/nati-chil-meas-prog-eng-2011-2012/nati-chil-meas-prog-eng-2011-2012-rep.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

67

the common factors that lead to dental decay and obesity, and consideration should 
be given to this when preventive strategies and local interventions are being 
developed. 

The 2011/12 survey is the second one to be carried out following a number of 
methodological changes including the requirement to seek positive written consent in 
2007. It is likely that the non-responders have different levels of dental decay beyond 
that explained by deprivation alone. No clinical data exists on this non-consented 
part of the sample and therefore it is not possible to model or measure the impact 
this has had. Direct comparisons between this survey and surveys conducted before 
2008 should not be made, as response bias may have resulted in lower estimates of 
levels of decay. .73 74

There is also consistency in the relationship found between dental decay and 
deprivation, the most deprived local authorities having the highest decay levels. This 
relationship is supported by other studies.75 76

Between 2008 and 2012 there was a reduction in the proportion of children affected 
by dental decay and its severity. The last time a substantial change in the levels of 
dental decay was observed among this population was in the Child Dental Health 
Surveys of 1973 and 1983. The reduction was widely considered to have been a 
result of the wholesale introduction of fluoride toothpaste in the late 1970s. 

The increasing focus on prevention in general dental practice may also have had an 
influence. Evidence from the Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC) 
shows an almost three-fold increase in dentists’ prescriptions for fluoride-based 
products between 2007 and 2012,19 and a continuing increase in the application of 
fluoride varnish for children (a 63% increase between 2010-11 and 2011-12)20. 

Although further work is needed to determine the reasons for the changes, 
widespread inequalities related to deprivation are still present and, under the 
arrangements introduced by the Health and Social Care Act 2012, upper-tier local 
authorities now have a duty to address dental health within their public health 
responsibilities. Data from this survey will be used to produce the dental indicator 
(4.2 tooth decay in children aged five) in the PHOF. 

8.3 Orthodontic Treatment Need in East Anglia 

The most recent Children’s Dental Health Survey in 2003 found that 35% of 12-year-
olds in England would benefit from orthodontic treatment.77  While this figure is often 
used to plan commissioning of orthodontic services, it would be wrong to assume 
that all of these children will seek, accept or be suitable for orthodontic treatment. 

Unlike most oral conditions, malocclusion does not vary between genders or social 
classes (although racial characteristics mean that there is some ethnic variation).  
Despite this, there have historically been inequalities in the receipt of orthodontic 
treatment10, e.g. girls receive more treatment than boys and adolescents in deprived 
areas are more likely to have untreated malocclusion.78  Local data on the 
prevalence of malocclusion are not routinely collected.

81



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

68

A review of orthodontic services across East Anglia was undertaken in July 2014. 
This document, An orthodontic needs assessment and service review for East Anglia 
2014, can be viewed separately. 

In summary the main findings indicate that orthodontic provision across East Anglia 
is variable. In some areas such as Cambridge and Great Yarmouth and Waveney 
there appear to be areas of over commissioning orthodontic services while other 
areas such as Fenland, East Cambridgeshire, Kings Lynn and Thetford are more 
poorly served. At the same time the 12 year old population has fallen by 
approximately 1000 between 2008 and 2012. The majority of orthodontic services 
are provided under time limited personal dental services (PDS) contracts and this 
gives the Area Team opportunities to re-commission services to more appropriately 
meet the needs of the population.            

82



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

69

9. Current Service Provision

9.1 Access to NHS primary care dental services in East Anglia 

The vast majority of primary care NHS dental services are provided by ‘high street’ 
dentists working under General Dental Services (GDS) non time limited contracts. 
Salaried dental services also provide NHS dental services and they tend to be small 
and well established and are intended to be complementary to the ‘high street’ 
provision. They generally offer services to patients who, for various reasons may find 
it more difficult to access routine care. These groups of patients include adults and 
children with special needs, irregular attenders, older patients requiring domiciliary 
care, adults with anxiety and dental phobia, prisoners and people living in long term 
institutional care. 

The Department of Health defines access as “the percentage of children in the 
population who have seen the dentist within the last 24 months”. This is a very 
narrow definition of access.

 The priorities for dental service provision are access to:
 Routine and preventive services
 Urgent care services
 Specialist services

9.2 Availability of NHS dental services

Since the inception of the new dental contract in March 2006 the number of dentists 
with NHS activity has increased everywhere in East Anglia apart from in 
Peterborough (see Table 13). It is interesting to note that Peterborough, with the 
highest level of childhood decay, has a much higher number of dentists per 100,000 
population than England. 

Table 13: The number of dentists with NHS activity Cambridgeshire, Norfolk, 
Peterborough, Suffolk and Great Yarmouth and Waveney March 2007 and 
March 2012

March 2007 March 2012

Total 
number 
of 
dentists

Population 
per dentist

Dentists 
per 
100,000 
of 
population

Total 
number 
of 
dentists

Population 
per dentist

Dentists 
per 
100,000 
of 
population

England 20,160 2,518 40 22,920 2,279 44

Cambridgeshire 232 2,521 40 331 1,862 54

Norfolk 301 2,444 41 350 2,186 46

Peterborough 90 1,861 54 88 1,971 51

83



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

70

Suffolk 249 2,335 41 315 1,911 52

Great 
Yarmouth and 
Waveney

92 2,305 43 129 1,664 60

Source: NHS Dental Statistics for England: 20011-12.  Annex 2: PCT & SHA Factsheet, Activity Statistics.  
Available at URL: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/primary-
care/dentistry/nhs-dental-statistics-2011-12

9.3  Location of NHS dental practices

Most NHS dental practices are located in the towns and cities. There is good 
provision in some of the most deprived areas of East Anglia for example 
Peterborough, Great Yarmouth and Lowestoft but not in others for example Wisbech, 
Kings Lynn and Thetford. Map 2 shows the distribution of NHS dental practices 
mapped to deprivation across the Anglia area and demonstrates that dental 
practices are mainly based in urban areas and do not map to the areas of highest 
deprivation. It is unclear whether this mis-match in provision contributes to poor 
dental health but should be considered when planning new services.

Map 2: Treatment locations and IMD Score 2010 by LSOA 2013/ 2014

9.4 Barriers to Dental Care

Access to dental services is not just about the location of the practices. Most dental 
practices in East Anglia are situated in towns and cities where most of the population 

84

http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/primary-care/dentistry/nhs-dental-statistics-2011-12
http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/primary-care/dentistry/nhs-dental-statistics-2011-12


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

71

reside yet still only just over half the population in East Anglia (54.2%) visit the 
dentist in a two year period. The way people use services depends on other factors 
as well including acceptability, affordability, availability, accessibility and the 
appropriateness of the service offered. 

Obstacles to attending the dentist include dental anxiety, cost of treatment and the 
attributes of the dental practice.79808182Just over a quarter of adults (26%) surveyed 
in the ADHS 2009 said that the type of dental treatment they had opted for in the 
past had been affected by cost and almost a fifth (19%) said they had delayed dental 
treatment for the same reason.

The rural nature of the area and poor public transport will affect peoples’ ability to 
access dental services as well as lack of availability of appointments at evenings and 
weekends.

9.5 Access to primary care dental services for children

Access to dental services is defined by the Department of Health as the percentage 
of the population who have visited the dentist within the last 24 months. The data is 
based on where the patient is resident irrespective of where the visit took place.
In March 2014 67.4% of the child population had visited the dentist. This is 
unchanged since March 2011. Graph 20 shows the access rates for children across 
East Anglia at March 2014

Graph 20 : Child access rates trend by lower tier local authority in East Anglia 
March 2014

Source:  NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report: East Anglia June 2014

85



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

72

The map below shows child access rates by ward. Those shown in red (>60%) have 
the lowest access rates and this is mostly in Fenland, Forest Heath, Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, parts of Peterborough and the North Norfolk coast.

Map 3: Access rate resident child patients in East Anglia (24 months to March 
2014)

Source: NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report: East Anglia June 2014

9.6 Treatment locations and distance travelled for child patients

Most dental services are located in the towns and cities in Peterborough, Norwich, 
Cambridge and Ipswich. The maps below show the treatment locations for child 
patients in East Anglia by the number of Units of Dental Activity ( UOAs) 2013 -2014 
and the distance travelled by those patients to access dental care.

Map 4 : Treatment locations for child patients in East Anglia by the number of 
Units of Dental Activity ( UOAs) 2013 -2014.

86



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

73

Map 5 : Average distance travelled by resident child patients in East Anglia (24 
months to March 2014)

Not surprisingly access is lowest when children have to travel furthest to visit a 
dentist. Again patients from areas such as Forest Heath, Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, Fenland, North Norfolk and Suffolk Coastal are affected.

9.7 Dental treatment provided for children living in East Anglia

87



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

74

Most children who visit an NHS dentist (72.1%) receive a Band I course of treatment 
only. This covers an examination and may include preventive advice, scaling and 
polishing and application of fluoride varnish. A further 22.7% receive this plus any 
further treatment such as fillings, root canal work or extractions. A very small number 
0.6% may also receive crowns, dentures or bridges. 4.7% of courses of treatment 
are for urgent care.  Just under half of those who visit a dentist (46.5%) will re attend 
within 6 to 12 months. 13.9% re attend within 3 months and 19.8% between 3 to 6 
months. National Institute of Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines recommend an 
interval of between three months and two years, depending on the oral health of the 
patient. Intervals shorter than three months may indicate poor quality treatment or 
diagnosis. This may also indicate that patients are at greater risk of poor oral health, 
for example from deprived communities and more frequent interventions are 
required. 

Access to urgent care is a priority for the relief of pain and for accidental damage. In 
2013/2014 4.7% of all courses of treatment provided for children were for urgent 
care compared with an England average of 4.6%. This may not reflect need as 
children are dependent on others, such as parents to arrange urgent dental care.
Delivering Better Oral Health: an evidence based toolkit for prevention, third edition, 
June 2014 recommends that all children over 3 years should receive a professional 
application of fluoride varnish to the teeth two times a year. Children aged from 7 
years who give concern to the dentist, including those with current active decay and 
those with special needs should have their permanent molars fissure sealed. 
However, compared to national averages the percentage of children living in East 
Anglia who receive a preventive intervention as part of a course of treatment is low, 
about half the rate for England. 

Table 14: Rate of fluoride varnish or fissure sealant application per 100 
courses of treatment by age group for children resident in East Anglia 
2013/2014

Children aged 0-2 
years

Children aged 3-5 
years

Children aged 6-12 
years

England E. 
Anglia

England E. 
Anglia

England E. 
Anglia

Fissure 
sealants

0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.4 0.7

Fluoride 
Varnish

5.4 2.6 24.6 13.6 30.7 22.1

Source: NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report: East Anglia June 2014

9.8 Access to dental services for looked after children 

There is a requirement that looked after children have an annual health assessment 
and that this should include a dental check- up within the last year. Currently this 
requirement is not being met and figures for Norfolk and Suffolk are low, 65.2% and 
58.1 % respectively. Table 15 Interestingly, Peterborough achieves the highest take 
up of annual health assessment compared to other areas, and much higher than 
then England average. It should be noted that attendance at a dental check- up does 
not provide any information about the quality of care or if any necessary treatment 

88



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

75

was completed. This group of children is likely to have poorer oral health and, if they 
are moved between different carers, more erratic and irregular access to dental care. 

Table 15 : Percentages of looked after children attending for a dental check- up 
2011 and 2012

England East of 
England

Cambridgeshire Norfolk Peterborough Suffolk

2011 82.4 74.7 92.6 27.2 84.4 68.8
2012 82.4 79.9 92.4 65.2 93.2 58.1

Source: Fingertips 2012

9.9 Access to primary care dental services for adults

The Department of Health defines access as the percentage of patients who have 
seen the dentist within the last 24 months. Access was highest in Waveney and 
Great Yarmouth and lowest in Cambridge, Fenland, Forest Heath, Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk and Peterborough where less than fifty per cent, and in some case less 
than forty per cent of the population have visited the dentist within the last two years, 
Figure ?. Again this does not include access to private services for which there is no 
data.

Overall the percentage of the adult population visiting an NHS dentist within the last 
24 months has not changed and remains stable at 54.2%. A visit to the dentist also 
provides the opportunity to deliver evidence based preventive interventions such as 
oral hygiene and diet advice smoking cessation advice and scaling and polishing 
(DBOH).

Graph 21: Adult access rates by Local Authority in East Anglia  March 2011- 
March 2014

89



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

76

The map below shows adult access rates by ward. Those shown in red (>60%) have 
the lowest access rates and this is mostly in Fenland, Forest Heath, Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk, parts of Peterborough and the North Norfolk coast.

Map 6 : Access rate resident adult patients in east Anglia (24 months to March 
2014)

9.10 Treatment locations and distance travelled for adult patients

 Most dental services are located in the towns and cities in Peterborough, Norwich, 
Cambridge and Ipswich. The Maps below show the treatment locations for adult 
patients in East Anglia by the number of Units of Dental Activity ( UOAs) 2013 -2014 
and the distance travelled by those patients to access dental care.

Map 7: Treatment locations for adult patients in East Anglia by the number of 
Units of Dental Activity ( UOAs) 2013 -2014.

90



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

77

Map 8: Average distance travelled by resident Adult patients in East Anglia 
2013/2014

Again, as in children access is lowest when adults have to travel furthest to visit a 
dentist. Again patients from areas such as Forest Heath, Kings Lynn and West 
Norfolk, Fenland, Thetford North Norfolk and Suffolk Coastal are affected

91



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

78

9.11 Dental treatment provided for adults living in East Anglia

52.3% of adults who visit a dentist receive a Band 1 course of treatment. This may 
include an examination, diagnosis (including X rays), advice on how to prevent future 
problems, a scale and polish and application of fluoride varnish or fissure sealant. 
29.5% receive a Band 2 course of treatment which may include everything in a band 
1 plus any further treatment such as fillings, root canal work or removal of teeth. A 
further 5.6% receive a band 3 course of treatment which may include all of the above 
plus crowns, denture and bridges.

Across all ages the examination rate was approximately 80%. This seems low as an 
examination should be an integral part of any course of treatment. Around 25% 
received fillings and about 6% extractions. Around half were provided with a scale 
and polish. Very few had crowns (2.0%), bridges (0.2%), root fillings (2.0%) and 
dentures (0.1%)

9.12 Access to urgent dental care

Access to urgent care is a priority for the relief of pain and for accidental damage. 
One in four, (26%), of the adult population in the East of England report that they 
only go to the dentist when they have problem. (ADHS 2009).  Just under half the 
population in East Anglia (45.8%) has not visited the dentist in the last two years and 
may not have a regular dentist when they have a problem. 

Patients’ use of urgent care services is more complex than just a failure to access 
preventive or routine care and a range of services should be available to meet the 
needs of patients who choose to access dental services in different ways

Figure 4 shows the percentage of courses of treatment that were recorded as urgent 
treatment and compares this with national levels.

Figure 4: Percentage of claim forms (FP17s) that were for Band I urgent 
courses of treatment for adults March 2014. 

92



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

79

Source: BSA Dental Public Health Report June 2014. R. Wise

Levels for urgent care are highest in Fenland (5,466 claims), Great Yarmouth 
(10,078 claims), Ipswich (8,730), Kings Lynn and West Norfolk (8,434), Norwich 
(11,148), Peterborough (10,026) and Waveney (10,933).  All of these are higher than 
the national average. Higher levels of urgent care can indicate an issue with the 
quality of diagnosis and treatment planning, patients not able to access routine 
dentistry or patient choice. Dental Access Centres (DAC) in Wisbech, Cambridge, 
Kings Lynn and Norwich provide only access to urgent care and this may have 
skewed the data. 
 
Research indicates that DACs are offering treatment to a different population of 
patients from that seen in neighbouring ‘high street’ practices.  Patients attending 
DACs were younger and from a more disadvantaged background. They had worse 
oral health, experienced more frequent episodes of dental pain, were more likely to 
be dentally anxious and had different attitudes to dental health than their ‘high street 
‘ counterparts’83. It is important that access to urgent care is offered to patients when 
they need it and to enable different sectors of the population to access dental 
services in different ways. 

9.13 Access to out of hours dental care

From April 2006 the provision of out of hours (OOH) dental care became the 
responsibility of the Primary Care Trusts. From April 2013 this responsibility was 
transferred to NHSE and the Area Teams.

Out of hours dental services across East Anglia are provided by a number of 
different providers including local general dental practitioners and salaried dental 
services. The opening hours vary and in some areas are only accessible at 
weekends and bank holidays.  Acceptance and triage criteria vary across the patch 
and in some instances telephone only advice is available. There is no evidence that 
the provision of these services is related to need .Data collection on service use is 
not consistent across the area. Some patients may choose to attend Accident and 
Emergency services in local hospitals or use the primary medical care out of hours 
services and information about this is not routinely collected or reported. Information 
about out of hours dental services is poor and this will impact on future 
commissioning of these services

9.14 Re-attendance rates for adults and children

Re-attendance patterns are based on the length of time between re-attending at an 
NHS dentist for patients resident in the area.  NICE guidelines recommend that the 
recall interval should be appropriate to the level of risk of dental disease for each 
patient. For adults and children the recommendations are that the shortest interval 
(exceptionally) should be 3 months. The longest should be 12 months for children 
and 24 months for adults, where there is no sign or risk of dental disease in the 
patient. If guidelines were being followed then a relatively small proportion of 
treatments would be expected to be within 3 months of a previous course of 
treatment.

93



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

80

The chart below shows the proportion of total courses of treatment by re-attendance 
intervals under a year for adult patients resident in the area by the relative 
deprivation of the patients’ resident area, defined as before using by IMD National 
Quartiles.

 A high proportion of re-attendance interval within 3 months could signify greater 
dental need whilst high levels in the 6-12 month interval may suggest that a 
significant number of patients and their dentists are continuing with the long 
established pattern of twice yearly dental attendance, it is feasible for some patients 
that such an attendance pattern is required, but for others a longer recall may be 
appropriate. The pattern for children is similar.

Graph 22: Adult re-attendance intervals as a percentage of total courses of 
treatment 201/2014

9.15 Patient flow in and out for child and adult patients

Patient flow in details where the patients treated in an area reside. Significant 
numbers of patients from outside an area can limit access to services for residents. 
In East Anglia 97.7% of adults and 97.5% of children who live in East Anglia are 
treated in East Anglia.

Patient flow out details where patients living in an area have received their dental 
treatment. Significant numbers of patients travelling outside may be an indication of 
poor quality or a lack of services in the area. Very few people, (2%) travel outside the 
area for treatment and this may be related to other factors for example where 
patients work.

9.16 Deprivation and access to dental services in children and adults

Socio-economic factors have often been cited as a crucial determinant in dental 
health. (Impacts of poor oral health, Department of Health Annual report 2007). 

94



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

81

Table below shows the proportion of the child and adult population in East Anglia 
attending an NHS dentist by IMD quartile.

Table 16: Child and Adult Access rates by IMD quartiles
Quartile rank Children Adults

East Anglia England East Anglia England
25% most 
deprived

64.4 67.5 52.6 53.3

25-50% most 
deprived

66.9 66.2 53.9 52.0

50-75% least 
deprived

69.0 71.1 54.4 51.0

25% least 
deprived

71.0 72.3 55.4 51.0

Source: NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report: East Anglia June 2014

Generally it is expected that Band 1 treatments are the most frequent courses of 
treatment provided. However the proportion that is made up of Band 1 treatments 
may differ depending on deprivation. In the most deprived areas, Band 1 treatments 
often account for a noticeably lower proportion than the overall proportion, with 
higher levels in each of the other treatment bands. An inference from this is that in 
more deprived areas there are higher levels of more serious treatment, reflecting 
increased dental need. In the least deprived areas, treatments involving check-ups 
and examinations reflect lesser needs. The graph below show the types of treatment 
provided by IMD quartile.

Graph 23: Treatment bands for child patients resident in East Anglia 2013/2014 
as % of the total courses of treatment by IMD National Quartiles

95



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

82

Graph 24 : Treatment bands for adult patients resident in East Anglia 
2013/2014 as % of the total courses of treatment by IMD National Quartiles

9.17 Access to specialist services in primary care 

9.17.1 Access to salaried dental services

The salaried dental services traditionally provide a number of specialist services. 
These include;

Oral health promotion, the key strategic features include links to other health 
promotion programme delivery to maximise impact through common risk factor 
approaches and programmes are targetted to reduce inequalities.
 
Clinical Treatment the key strategic features include provision of  services, 
complementary to those available in ‘high street ‘dental practices, offering routine 
care for people unlikely to be successful in obtaining necessary  routine care in such 
practices, as a provider of services requiring specialised facilities or expertise and a 
provider of safety net services to the general population.   

Dental inspection (screening) of school age children the key strategic features 
include Screening for disease without mechanisms to ensure provision of follow-up 
treatment when needed has no health benefit. 

Epidemiological Fieldwork is still a formal requirements under formal regulations the 
key strategic features include calibrated/trained examiners are needed and links to 
national programme leads required for data analysis and reporting.

Teaching and Training the key strategic features include a need to ensure quality of 
service maintained by existing staff and ensuring continuing availability of 
appropriately trained dental workforce in the future.

96



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

83

More detail on these functions is attached at Annex 1

9.17.2 Access to domiciliary dental services

Domiciliary dental care can be the only care available to patients who are 
housebound. Poor access to timely domiciliary services has the potential to further 
increase oral health inequalities in the most vulnerable groups of patients particularly 
elderly people and those suffering from dementia. (Borreani E et al – ref 80)  A lack 
of preventive interventions increases the risk of poor oral health and dental pain and 
infection, which when left untreated, is likely to affect the ability to eat and speak. 
There is a clear and consistent relationship between good oral health, the retention 
of natural teeth and a healthy diet and good nutrition especially in older people. ( 
Gerodontology 2005) 

Domiciliary visits undertaken in East Anglia included an examination,( 64.4%). 
provision of a denture(12%), extractions (6%) and  permanent fillings (11%). Most 
visits, (72%) are provided for people who are seventy five years and over.
The level of service across East Anglia varied and was not associated with age, level 
of deprivation or level of disability across the population graph 25.

Areas with the highest level of deprivation, for example East Cambridgeshire, 
Fenland and Ipswich had little or no service provision.

 In 2011 Suffolk had the second highest number of people over the age of 75 years 
and yet Ipswich, South Suffolk and Suffolk Coastal had little or no service provision 
(Peterborough 12,288, Cambridgeshire 47,549, Suffolk 70,260, Norfolk 89,669). 
(ONS). Figure 5 and Table W

Graph 25:  Percentage of adult FP17s by local authority with a domiciliary visit 
for patients resident in East Anglia 2013/2014

Source: BSA Dental Public Health Report June 2014. R. Wise

97



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

84

The percentages for domiciliary visits in Broadland, Great Yarmouth and South 
Norfolk were higher than the national average and much higher than the average for 
East Anglia.

 There are marked discrepancies across East Anglia and eight districts had almost 
no services at all Table W. No information is available about the quality of the service 
and because referral criteria vary across East Anglia there is no information about 
whether patients who have the most need of this service are able to access it. This 
variation is of concern.

 In future there may be greater demand for these services as population projections 
from the Office for National Statistics indicate that by 2021 the population of adults 
over 75 years living in East Anglia is likely to increase by about 30% ( source: 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/taxonomy/index.html?nscl=Subnational+population=Proje
ctions#t ) (KITS PHE) 

Table 17: number of courses of treatment provided as domiciliary services 
2013-2014

Lower tier LA Total claims with 
domiciliary

Babergh 52
Breckland 176
Broadland 352
Cambridge 20
East Cambs 12
Fenland 34
Forest Heath 15
Great Yarmouth 206
Huntingdonshire 19
Ipswich 13
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 144
Mid Suffolk 9
North Norfolk 171
Norwich 197
Peterborough 65
South Cambs 12
South Norfolk 298
St Edmundsbury 3
Suffolk Coastal 17
Waveney 240

Source: NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report June 2014. R. Wise

9.17.3 Access to anxiety management services 

In East Anglia 232,796 (12%) of the adult population (19 years and above), (ONS 
2011), is likely to suffer from dental phobia and avoid dental care as a result. (ADHS 
2009)
The ADHS 2009 also found that the proportion of adults with extreme dental anxiety 
varies by socioeconomic occupation of the household and is higher in adults from 

98

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/taxonomy/index.html?nscl=Subnational+population=Projections#t
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/taxonomy/index.html?nscl=Subnational+population=Projections#t


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

85

routine and manual occupation households (15%) than professional and managerial 
occupation households (10%)

The provision of adequate anxiety control is an integral part of the practice of 
dentistry. Child dental anxiety, for example, is widespread and many anxious 
children, and adults, can be satisfactorily treated using behaviour management 
techniques.

Dental anxiety is a potential barrier to those seeking dental care and its association 
with oral health is of central importance. 79 There is a continuum of dental anxiety 
ranging from those who feel relaxed during dental treatment to those who are 
dentally anxious but cope, through to those who are dentally phobic and avoid care 
81 82 In the 2009 ADHS dental anxiety was assessed by the Modified Dental Anxiety 
Scale (MDAS)100  Using this scale 12% of the adult population had a score of 19 or 
more suggesting extreme anxiety. 
http://medicine.st-andrews.ac.uk/supplemental/humphris/MDASscale.pdf
 
Adequate provision of anxiety management services, including behaviour 
management and sedation techniques is important in reducing barriers to accessing 
dental care as well as reducing the health inequalities associated with deprivation.

9.17.4 Sedation services as an adjunct to dental services.

Some patients will have reasons, other than anxiety, to have need of sedation to 
complete dental treatment for example to manage the pain and discomfort of surgical 
dentistry where local analgesia alone is not adequate or effective. Certain groups of 
patients for example those with learning or physical disabilities such as cerebral 
palsy benefit from the provision of sedation services.

When sedation services are offered the quality of the clinical dental care provided in 
these situations must be excellent to minimise the risk of repeat procedures.

Seven per cent of courses of treatment including sedation are provided for children 
up to the age of five years Most (61%) are provided for children between the ages of 
six and twelve years and are mostly for fillings (42%) and extractions (67%).

9.17.5 Access to sedation services for adults in East Anglia

Only 0.1 % of adults who attend for NHS dental treatment in East Anglia receive 
sedation as part of that course of treatment. Most of the care provided under these 
arrangements is for extractions, (71%), or fillings (44.5%). Nearly half of the patients, 
(49%) are aged 25 to 44 years.

Provision across the area shows a great deal of variation and this may reflect ease 
of access to NHS services rather than patient need. It is not known how many 
patients may visit private providers to use these services. 

Graph 26: Percentage of adult courses of treatment by Local Authority with 
sedation for patients resident in East Anglia 2013/2014

99



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

86

Source: NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report June 2014. R. Wise

Patients in seven districts have almost no access to sedation services and this is 
unlikely to be related to need.  Areas with higher deprivation and consequently 
higher need and higher anxiety levels such as Fenland, East Cambridgeshire, 
Peterborough, have very limited access to sedation services and this is of concern 

Table 18:  Number of courses of treatment provided by Lower Tier Authority in 
East Anglia including sedation services 2013/2014

Lower tier LA Total claims with sedation 
Adults Child

Babergh 18 -
Breckland 128 1
Broadland 200 5
Cambridge 15 -
East Cambs 17 -
Fenland 16 -
Forest Heath 36 -
Great Yarmouth 93 28
Huntingdonshire 38 -
Ipswich 105 -
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 43 1
Mid Suffolk 27 -
North Norfolk 133 -
Norwich 340 -
Peterborough 30 -
South Cambs 17 1
South Norfolk 167 2
St Edmundsbury 60 1
Suffolk Coastal 39 3
Waveney 169 -

Source: NHSBSA Information Services (dental) Dental Public Health Report June 2014. R. Wise

100



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

87

 9.17.6 Access to Primary Care Minor Oral Surgery Services in East Anglia 

Despite the promising reports from the 2009 adult health survey of improving dental 
health, recent data has demonstrated a trend for an increasing demand for 
extractions, possibly related to less complex care being offered in primary care by 
GDPs due to the current General Dental Services contract, which will hopefully be 
rectified by the currently trialled dental contract84 . The population is ageing and 
may provide a singular challenge with regard to increasing difficulty of surgery and 
increased pathology85 . These patients are also likely to be more medically 
complex. Furthermore, research from 2012 highlighted the increasing age of 
patients undergoing third molar removal, probably due to the introduction of 
surgical guidelines instituted by the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) 
between 1997 and 2000.86

Cambridgeshire 

 Minor Oral Surgery services have been operating in Dental Access Centres in 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough since April 2006 and more recently in Wisbech 
and Huntingdon. These are provided by dentists who are on the GDC specialist list 
for oral surgery or dentists who were recognised by the former PCTs to have a 
special interest (Dwsi).  This service provides a range of Minor Oral Surgery 
procedures, including routine extractions, surgical extractions and apicectomies, 
and accepts referrals directly from local dentists.  The primary care services also 
provide a clinical triage process with on- ward referral to secondary care services 
where appropriate. These services are currently provided by Cambridgeshire 
Community Services (CCS) and Oasis in Peterborough.

A service review was carried out in March 2013 to look at patient pathways. The 
document can be viewed in full but the main findings are detailed below.

Table 25 below shows the breakdown of the total number of patients accepted for 
treatment by CCS Primary Care MOS service between April 2012 - Jan 2013, after 
the initial paper triage assessment. This is essentially the number of “please 
contact” letters that are sent out to patients. 

Between April 2012 - Jan 2013, 14.3% of patients failed to respond to the initial 
contact letter, and after 6 weeks were discharged back to the referring GDP. 6.3% 
of patients then fail to attend their scheduled appointment for assessment and likely 
treatment. 

Table 19: Total number of patients accepted for treatment to PCMOSS April 
2012 - Jan 2013

Centre Number of patients 
Brookfields 1900 
Huntingdon 1148 
Wisbech 390 
Total 3438 

101



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

88

Table 20 demonstrates the complexity of treatment undertaken. Non-surgical 
treatment includes extractions that require simple elevation. Surgical procedures 
include any extraction involving raising a flap, bone removal and/or suture 
placement; apicectomies; OAC closure; and frenectomies. From the table below it is 
evident that the vast majority of treatment undertaken is non-surgical in nature.

Table 20: Total number of patients treated by PCMOSS April 2012 - Jan 2013

Non surgical surgical Total
Cambridge 970 533 1503
Huntingdon 860 236 1096
Wisbech 213 20 233
Total 2043 789 2832

Peterborough 

In the same time period the MOS service provide by Oasis in Peterborough received 
1885 referrals and accepted 989 for treatment. 108 referrals were referred on to 
secondary care. The failure rate for patients was approximately seven per cent.

Overall a service review completed in July 2013 found that patients were being 
treated in an appropriate setting either in primary or secondary care. Areas of good 
practice were identified and these should be taken forward in any new 
commissioning arrangements. These include strategies for reducing the failure rate, 
up-skilling referring GDPs and managing referrals that are inappropriately sent 
directly to secondary care. Challenges still remain however including reducing the 
number of inappropriate referrals, inconsistent data recording and improving the 
quality or referrals particularly the quality of radiographs.

Suffolk 

 A minor oral surgery service is also in operation in Suffolk using a central Referral 
Management Service (RMS) commissioned from CCS. Referrals that meet the 
acceptance criteria are referred on to a number of Any Qualified Providers or 
secondary care.  A review of this service in being undertaken currently and results 
are expected in 2014. 

Norfolk

Norfolk also operates a RMS and patients are referred to a number of specialist 
providers. Information from 2010-2013 oral health needs assessment suggested that 
the service receives approximately 1,300 referrals a year. A third of these were 
referred on to secondary care and the remainder to specialist providers. The annual 
spend is around £514,000. 

No other information in minor oral surgery services in primary care in Norfolk and 
Suffolk has been supplied. 

9.17.7 Future commissioning of oral surgery services

102



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

89

Patients should be treated in the most appropriate setting, it is important that there is 
collaboration between GDPs, primary care MOS units OMFS departments in 
hospitals and commissioning organisations to allow effective patient pathways to 
develop. It is also important that there are clear acceptance criteria for each stage of 
the pathway as well as an availability of suitably trained staff, appropriate treatment 
tariffs and longevity of commissioned contracts. 

It is likely that in the future oral surgery procedures will be classified according to 
complexity into 3 levels. The expectation is that level 1 procedures will be carried out 
by GDPs under mandatory services and that treatment in levels 2 and 3 will be 
undertaken by practitioners with more specialised skills. 

A single operating model framework for the commissioning or oral surgery services 
is expected from NHS England detailing a MOS patient pathway. Any future 
commissioning will need to follow these standard operating policies.

9.17.8 Access to Orthodontic Primary Care Services in East Anglia

A review of orthodontic services across East Anglia was undertaken in July 2014. 
This document, An orthodontic needs assessment and service review for East Anglia 
2014, can be viewed separately. 

In summary the main findings indicate that orthodontic provision across East Anglia 
is variable. In some areas such as Cambridge and Great Yarmouth and Waveney 
there appear to be areas of over commissioning orthodontic services while other 
areas such as Fenland, East Cambridgeshire, Kings Lynn and Thetford are more 
poorly served. At the same time the 12 year old population has fallen by 
approximately 1000 between 2008 and 2012. The majority of orthodontic services 
are provided under time limited personal dental services (PDS) contracts and this 
gives the Area Team opportunities to re-commission services to more appropriately 
meet the needs of the population. 

9.17.9 Future commissioning or orthodontic services in primary care.

In November 2013 NHD England published Transitional commissioning of primary 
care orthodontic services- Single Operating Model. Gateway reference 00642. 
November 2013 and National guidance is expected in March 2015. Future 
commissioning of primary care orthodontic services will need to comply with these 
standard operating policies and procedures for primary care. 

9.17.10 Dental treatment provided under general anaesthesia for children in 
East Anglia

Dental extractions, carried out under general anaesthesia (GA), in children with 
decayed teeth occur when all other interventions have failed. 
Dental decay is almost entirely preventable and the causal relationship between 
sugar and dental decay is well understood.
The decision to use GA is complicated by the knowledge that there is a small but 
real risk of death associated with GA. The knowledge that the majority of operative 
care can be carried out using either local analgesia (LA) or LA with conscious 

103



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

90

sedation sets dentistry aside from other paediatric surgical specialties where GA is 
the norm (Blain KM et al) (Shaw A et al).  (Smallridge JA), (Holt R D et al)
Tooth decay was the most common reason for hospital admissions in children aged 
five to nine years old in 2012/13.87

Dental extractions carried out on children under the age of ten are most likely to be 
because of dental decay. Extractions for older children could also include teeth 
removed to relieve crowding as part of a course of orthodontic treatment.
Approximately 0.1 to 0.6 per cent of the child population visit hospital to have dental 
extractions under general anaesthesia each year. These figures are likely to be an 
under estimate as any extractions carried out as part of a PDS salaried dental 
service contract may not be recorded. 

Table 21 : Number of finished consultant episodes (FCEs) for children and 
adolescents aged 0-19 years in East Anglia admitted to hospital for extraction 
during 2012/ 2013

Lower tier LA 0-4 5-9 10-14 14-19 Total 2012/13 Total 
2011/12

Babergh 28 16 19 63 65
Breckland 25 19 44 41
Broadland 15 12 27 41
Cambridge 14 10 24 44
East Cambs 6 21 9 36 31
Fenland 20 36 28 16 100 107
Forest Heath 10 10 20 32
Great Yarmouth 6 22 28 46 66
Huntingdonshire 23 62 57 32 174 207
Ipswich 29 115 46 24 214 172
Kings Lynn and 
West Norfolk

9 51 70 130 125

Mid Suffolk 9 19 14 42 58
North Norfolk 24 11 35 39
Norwich 9 26 14 49 37
Peterborough 11 19 39 30 99 99
South Cambs 12 42 17 71 81
South Norfolk 22 19 41 53
Suffolk Coastal 24 18 25 75 97
Waveney 8 29 27 64 85
Total 89 337 524 406 1356 1480

Source: http://www.nwph.net/dentalhealth/

The picture is complex. Increasing numbers of children undergoing dental 
extractions under general anaesthesia may not, in itself, reflect a growing burden of 
disease. Increasing provision and improved access to general dental services may 
increase the number of children referred on for the service who otherwise may not 
have received treatment. 

The majority undergoing treatment under GA however are likely to be children living 
in deprived areas who suffer the poorest oral health and who are less likely to visit 
the dentist unless there is a problem. 

104



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

91

Following the publication of A Conscious Decision: A review of the use of general 
anaesthesia and conscious sedation in primary dental care. Department of Health 1 
July 2000. Gateway 21967 dental treatment can only be provided under GA in a 
hospital with a critical care facility For children living in rural areas without a family 
car and poor public transport accessing these services, especially in a timely 
manner, can be difficult. Any delay in the provision of care can result in pain, 
infection, sleepless nights and failure to thrive.

9.17.11 Access to specialist restorative services in primary care in East Anglia

At present there are no local restorative dental services provided in primary care in 
East Anglia. Until March 2013 Norfolk PCT commissioned a small amount of 
restorative services provided by local dentists who were prepared to accept referrals 
for patients requiring more complex care but who did not meet the acceptance 
criteria for the most complex level of care required by patients who would benefit 
from a multi- disciplinary approach offered by secondary care services. Treatment 
was generally carried out under the guidance of the consultant restorative dentistry 
at the NN&UH and followed a prescribed treatment plan. Triage to this service was 
carried out by the local dental practice adviser. 

9.17.12 Access to prison dental services in East Anglia

Public Health England Anglia and Essex Centre has undertaken health needs 
assessments of all the prisons within the patch and this is likely to include an oral 
health needs assessment. This will be reported separately. A national survey, A 
survey of dental services in adult prisons in England and Wales July 2014 has been 
carried out by Public Health England Gateway 2013420 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32817
7/A_survey_of_prison_dental_services_in_England_and_Wales_2014.pdfput in link.

9.18 Access to secondary care dental services

9.18.1 Secondary Care Dental Services in East Anglia

The principal hospital dental specialties are orthodontics and oro-maxillofacial 
surgery.  Other specialties provided in hospital may include paedodontic and 
restorative dentistry.  All referrals into secondary care are now subject to the 18-
week rule.  The Operating Framework for the NHS 2008-2009 has as one of its 
targets: Improving access through achievement of the 18-week referral to treatment 
pledge.  These principles apply to pathways that involve or could potentially involve 
care led by a dental consultant.  This includes oral surgery, orthodontics, paediatric 
dentistry, perodontics, prosthetics, endodontic oral medicine, and dental and 
maxillofacial radiology.

9.18.2 Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery Services (OMFS)

The OMFS department of Cambridge University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 
Hospital, Peterborough City Hospital, NHS Foundation Trust Norfolk and Norwich 
University Hospital (N&NUH), James Paget, Queen Elizabeth Hospital Kings Lynn 
and Ipswich Hospital will see patients requiring more complex care mostly on 
referral, but also via the accident and emergency route.  This includes reconstruction 

105



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

92

of the mouth and jaws, oral cancer, treatment of patients with cleft lip and palate and 
facial trauma.

They also receive, mostly from local dentists, a significant number of referrals for 
more routine care including wisdom teeth removal and simple or surgical extractions 
of single or multiple teeth.  

Although many treatments carried out are most appropriately provided in a hospital 
setting, a significant number could be offered in primary care either by local GDPs or 
in a specialist minor oral surgery service. In recent years services have been 
developed in primary care to meet this need.

9.18.3 Orthodontics Services

Most orthodontic treatment is provided in primary care.  More complex cases, 
including cleft lip and palate, hypodontia and severe dental skeletal discrepancies 
are more appropriately treated in secondary care.

Hospital data collection is measured as outpatient visits and recorded only as first or 
subsequent appointments.  This is unsatisfactory as it gives no indicators of the 
length or complexity of the treatment. 

Training for orthodontic specialist is also carried out in secondary care. 

9.18.4 Restorative Services 

Consultants in restorative dentistry make up part of the multidisciplinary team in 
secondary care required to treat patients with the most complex problems. At 
present Addenbrookes NHS Foundation Trust Hospital and Peterborough City 
Hospital employ part time consultants for six and two sessions per week 
respectively. N&NUH is carrying a part time vacancy as there have been problems 
with recruitment.

There is a potential, where capacity exists, to use these specialist services to 
support local GDPs with advice and treatment planning. The ageing population and 
the increasing demands from this population for more complex restorative services 
to address the increasing problems of tooth wear may lead to an increased need for 
this type of support service.

Information about hospital procedures is limited and the only data available to the 
East Anglia Area Team are procedures carried out from April 2013

Table 22 shows a summary of all procedures carried out in all secondary care 
services from April 2013

Table 22: Procedures in all hospitals April 2013-September 2013
April May June July August September Total

Dental 
medicine 
specialities

27 35 39 24 24 25 174

Maxillo- 534 12 16 352 340 473 1727

106



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

93

facial 
surgery
Oral 
surgery

3012 2969 2771 3365 3212 3267 18596

orthodontics 1720 1189 1211 1745 1503 1714 9082
Paediatric 
dentistry

14 28 21 25 10 17 115

restorative 201 178 180 201 143 168 1071
Total 5522 4423 4249 5726 5244 5674 30,838

Under patient choice arrangements patients are able to choose where they wish to 
access secondary care services. The main providers of dental secondary care 
services are still the local hospitals in the three counties. Table 23 shows the number 
of out- patient procedures carried out from April to September 2013 by provider.

Table 23: All dental specialities outpatient procedures by secondary care 
provider April-September 2013

April May June July August September Total
Cambridge 
University 
Hospital

1426 1033 85 1303 4,618

Ipswich 1188 1462 1467 1469 1443 1410 8,439
N&NUH 1264 1229 1158 1378 1286 1215 7,330
Peterborough 
& Stamford 
Hospital

732 753 737 815 779 815 4,631

Queen 
Elizabeth

564 617 515 636 579 629 3,537

UCL London 139 141 143 144 137 140 844
Other 209 221 229 251 935 165 2010
Total 5,522 4,423 4,249 5,726 5,244 5,674 30,838

The majority of out- patient procedures for the dental secondary care specialities are 
coded as oral surgery procedures. From April to September 2013 18,596 were 
coded as oral surgery procedures although the detail of what the intervention was for 
the vast majority appears to be blank. Table 24 summarises a selection of the most 
common procedures carried out in secondary care.

Table 24: Summary of the most commonly recorded reasons for an oral 
surgery procedure in secondary care April-September 2013
Procedure Number
Surgical removal of impacted wisdom 
tooth

14

Extraction of multiple teeth 162
Surgical removal of retained root 19
Surgical removal of tooth 181
Surgical removal of non- impacted 
wisdom tooth

33

Blank 15,767
Total 18,596

107



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

94

9.19 Tertiary Care

Patient across East Anglia are also referred to the London dental hospitals either 
as a tertiary referral from the local secondary care providers for more specialist 
care or directly by local GDPs for patients who may benefit from specialist 
restorative care. This service is provided on referral to Guys and Thomas Hospital 
and the Eastman Dental Hospital where the AT now holds contracts.  Data about 
referral and treatment patterns within these services is not readily available and 
patient pathways appear unclear and ill defined. The following figure, 29 -33  show  
the number of contacts seen by the six main London dental hospitals by CCG 
compared to the rest of the East of England and figure 29 shows the distribution 
across the specialities. Relatively few patients from the eight East Anglia CCGs 
receive care from the London dental hospitals.

Graph 27: Number of contacts by East of England CCG for London dental 
hospitals April – September 2013  

Source : The information is taken from a spread sheet listing all contacts by residents of CCGs in Anglia, Essex and Herts & 
South Midlands with secondary care dental specialties is created monthly by the North and East Commissioning Support Unit. 
Data from April to September 2013 has been used. Data before April 2013 is not available to the CSU.

The main specialities that patients are referred for are restorative dentistry, 
orthodontics, paedodontics, oral surgery, maxillofacial surgery, periodontics and 
prosthodonics. The vast majority of patients that are referred and accepted are for 
restorative dentistry but the numbers from the eight East Anglia CCGs are small.

Figure 30: All contacts at London dental hospitals by speciality April- 
September 2013

108



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

95

10 Preventive Interventions

10.1 Dental public health programmes

Dental public health programmes, which are the responsibility of local authorities, 
should be commissioned following strategic planning. Guidance for local authorities 
is available from Local authorities improving oral health: commissioning better oral 
health for children and young people, An evidence-informed toolkit for Local 
Authorities.  June 2014, PHE gateway number 2014147
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/32150
3/CBOHMaindocumentJUNE2014.pdf
 Other guidance is currently in preparation through NICE and is expected in 
November 2014. There is good evidence that in addition to place-based generic 
health improvement activities, which will address some of the common risk factors 
for dental decay, strategies to increase the exposure to fluoride are effective. 

10.2 Fluoride delivery

10.2.1 Water Fluoridation

Water fluoridation is defined as “the controlled adjustment of a fluoride compound to 
a public water supply in order to bring the fluoride ion concentration up to a level 
which effectively prevents caries”.56 The optimal concentration in temperate climates 
is 1 part per million (ppm). Approximately 10% of the UK population (6 million 
people) are currently receiving water with a fluoride content adjusted to the optimal 
level (including naturally and artificially fluoridated areas). The water supply to East 
Anglia is not artificially fluoridated and the naturally occurring level is around 0.3 to 
0/7ppm.88  

The best available evidence suggests that the fluoridation of drinking water reduces 
the prevalence of caries, both in terms of the proportion of children who are caries 
free and by the mean change in dmft.  There is also evidence to suggest that water 
fluoridation reduces the severity of caries (as measured by dmft) across social 
groups and between geographical locations.89  Research has shown that socially 
deprived areas benefit more from fluoridation.90  Water fluoridation is consequently 
one of the few public health interventions that directly reduce health inequalities. 

Following a local oral health needs assessment PCTs, before April 2013 and now 
the Local Authorities may elect to fluoridate their water supply in order to reduce oral 
health inequalities.  Until recently, water companies have had the right to refuse to 
fluoridate, which has limited the number of people in the UK receiving fluoridated 
water.  This changed with the Water Act 2003, which gave Strategic Health 
Authorities (SHAs) and now Local Authorities the authority to make this decision, 
following a public consultation.  Public opinion has not been formally tested in East 
Anglia.  

In the recently published best practice guidance on Fluoridation of Drinking Water 
Gateway 9361, the Department of Health states that water fluoridation schemes 
would ideally ‘serve precisely only the high-need target population’ where the 
prevalence of disease is high,Error! Bookmark not defined. although it is likely that any 

109



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

96

scheme will also serve some areas with low decay levels.  A further consideration is 
that any feasible scheme may cross AT, and LA and regional boundaries 
necessitating a joint consultation process.

PHE has a national lead for water fluoridation and any feasibility study proposed in 
East Anglia would be led by PHE.

PHE, on behalf of the secretary of state for health, is required to monitor the effects 
of water fluoridation schemes on the health of people living in the areas covered, and 
to produce reports at no greater than four yearly intervals. In March 2014 PHE 
published Water Fluoridation, health monitoring report for England 2014, gateway 
number 2013547. The main findings of the report were that, on average, there are 15 
per cent fewer five year olds with tooth decay in fluoridated areas than non-
fluoridated areas and 11 per cent fewer 12 year olds with tooth decay. When 
deprivation and ethnicity are taken into account (both important factors for dental 
health) 28 per cent of five year olds and 21 per cent of 12 year olds have tooth decay 
in fluoridated areas than non- fluoridated areas.

In fluoridated areas there are 45 per cent fewer hospital admissions of children aged 
one to four for dental caries (mostly extraction of decayed teeth under a general 
anaesthetic) than in non- fluoridated areas.

Dental fluorosis (mottles or flecks on teeth caused by fluoride) has been found to be 
higher in fluoridated areas than non -fluoridated areas but the difference, one per 
cent, is low.

Other non-dental health indicators were examined, such as hip fractures, bladder 
cancer, osteosarcoma and Down’s syndrome and there was no evidence of 
increased harm associated with water fluoridation. The report provides further 
reassurance that water fluoridation is a safe and effective public health measure.

10.2.2 Targeted community based fluoride varnish programmes

These schemes involver the application of fluoride varnish to children’s teeth carried 
out by dental personnel outside dental practices. There is strong evidence of 
effectiveness. These programmes can have a positive impact on inequalities if high 
risk populations are targeted. 91 92 93

10.2.3 Targeted provision of toothbrushes and fluoride toothpaste and 
supervised tooth brushing programmes established in targeted childhood 
settings 

The effectiveness and benefit of fluoride toothpaste is firmly established. These 
schemes rely on targeted and timely provision of free toothbrushes and toothpaste 
either through health visitors, schools or postal schemes.  The success of brushing 
programmes will rely on co-operation with parents, schools and early years settings.
94 
10.2.4 Other targeted fluoride delivery programmes
Commissioning better oral health (CBOH) found that fluoride rinsing programmes, 
provision of fluoridated milk schemes in schools and community based fissure 
sealant programmes were of limited value.

110



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

97

10.3 Training of health care and other professionals

The document Commissioning Better Oral Health recommends oral health training 
for the wider health, social care and education workforce, based on capacity building 
( i.e. increasing the knowledge and skills of others) to support oral health 
improvement in their daily role. Oral health should also be integrated into targeted 
home visits by health and social workers. There is little evidence to support one off 
dental health education by the dental workforce to the general population. It is short 
term in nature and improvements are unlikely to be sustained in the longer term.

10.4 Practice based oral health improvement interventions 

Delivering better oral health- an evidence based toolkit for prevention was first 
published in 2007. The third edition was published June 2014, PHE gateway 
number: 2014126.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/delivering-better-oral-health-an-
evidence-based-toolkit-for-prevention    
This practice based toolkit puts a greater emphasis on prevention of ill-health and 
reduction of inequalities of health by the giving of advice, provision of support to 
change behaviour and application of evidence-informed actions. It is important
that the whole dental team, as well as other healthcare workers, give consistent
messages and that those messages are up to date and correct. Recent thinking 
suggests that all patients should be given the benefit of advice and support to 
change behaviour regarding their general and dental health, not just those thought to 
be ‘at risk’. Delivering better oral health lists the advice and actions that should be 
provided for all patients to maintain good oral health. For those patients about whom 
there are greater concern (e.g., those with medical conditions, those with evidence of 
active disease and those for whom the provision of reparative care is problematic) 
there is guidance about increasing the intensity of generally applied actions. 

10.5 Improving oral health through the common risk factor approach (CRFA)

Diet

Improving diets in the population and the promotion of consistent nutritional 
messages about making healthy choices has the potential to improve oral health by 
reducing the amount and frequency of sugar consumption as well as reduce obesity. 
Sugar Reduction-responding to the challenge June 2014 PHE Gateway number 
2014155 details the problems with eating sugar and says that diet and obesity 
related diseases including cardiovascular disease and some cancers cost the NHS 
at least 11 billion pounds per year. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/sugar-reduction-responding-to-the-
challenge

Smoking and Tobacco use- Preventive interventions

There is a close relationship between, periodontal disease and oral cancer and 
smoking. The Department of Health published Smokefree and Smiling: helping 
dental patients to quit tobacco’ as part of their on-going campaign to involve dental 
teams in supporting people to stop using tobacco.95 This guidance had been updated 
12th March 2014.

111



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

98

Public health policies and legislation such as banning smoking in public places, 
warnings on tobacco products and the ban on advertising products have all been 
introduced in an attempt to reduce smoking. Smokeless tobacco such as areca nuts 
betel quid and oral snuff has been found to independently increase the risk of 
oesophageal cancer. Recommendations to decrease their use focus on the provision 
of brief advice and training for health practitioners.

Alcohol-Preventive interventions

Oral health promotion strategies should include joint working with other partners 
such as local authorities, the police and owners of licensed premises in known 
flashpoints. Since the 2003 Licensing Act consideration can now be given to the 
awarding of alcohol licences and this responsibility now rests with the local authority. 
Other preventive measures such as replacing glass bottles and glasses with safe 
non glass materials such as plastic or polycarbonate material should be encouraged 
and this can now be a condition of the licence.(Warburton A, Shepherd J. P. 
Effectiveness of toughened glass in terms of reducing injury in bars: a randomised 
controlled trial, Injury prevention Vol 6, pp36-40 2000) (Rickinson, B and Preston, S 
Materials for Drinking Glasses, A short test programme with one pint glasses, 
Executive Summary London IOM3 March 2009) Local data from hospitals and the 
police should continue to be collated to help identify problem areas.

As well as local policies brief interventions around alcohol use following NICE 
guidance have also been demonstrated to be effective in modifying future behaviour. 
These can be delivered by hospital staff, both with the victim and the assailant, at the 
time of treatment and from other health care professionals in different settings. 
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/alcohol-use-disorders/brief-interventions-for-
alcohol-use-disorders)

HPV vaccinations

Oral cancers associated with the human papilloma virus (HPV) are increasing in 
cadence in anew population. Between 1990 and 2008 there was an increase of 
160% in males and 110% in females.  Since 2008 all girls aged 12-13 years in the 
UK are offered the HPV vaccine. It is effective for eight years or more. The US and 
Australia offers the vaccine to both sexes. 

Prevention of injury

CBOH indicates that the use of mouth guards during contact sports can reduce the 
risk of injuries. There are clear individual benefits although it is limited as population 
measure.  Commissioning arrangements would need to be in place in NHS England 
to support widespread use otherwise there is the potential to increase inequalities as 
mouth guards may be in greater use in more affluent population groups. There 
should be additional complementary action to create safe environments.

112

http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/alcohol-use-disorders/brief-interventions-for-alcohol-use-disorders
http://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/alcohol-use-disorders/brief-interventions-for-alcohol-use-disorders


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

99

11 Public Voice

11.1 National Surveys

11.1.1 Dentistry Watch

In 2007, the Commission for Patient and public involvement in Health conducted a 
national survey to find out what patients really think about NHS dental services. The 
resulting Dentistry Watch report was published in October 200796.

The main findings of this survey were as follows:96

 93% of NHS patients are happy with the treatment they receive.
 Almost a fifth of patients have gone without treatment because of the cost.
 Almost half of all NHS patients do not understand NHS dental charges.
 78% of patients using private dental services are doing so because either their 

dentist stopped treating NHS patients (49%), or because they could not find an 
NHS dentist (29%).

 35% of those not currently using dental services stated it is because there is not 
an NHS dentist near where they live.

11.1.2 Citizen’s Advice Bureau Survey

The Department of Health recommended that people searching for an NHS dentist 
should contact either their PCT or NHS Direct.  A 2007 report from the Citizen’s 
Advice Bureau, however, suggested most people found a dentist (63%) by asking 
family or friends.97  In the East of England, for example, around 63% of patients 
heard about their current dentist from friends and family and around 42% do not 
know how to get emergency treatment outside office hours. This means that even 
where services are available, people may not be able to access them.  

Graph 29: Citizen’s Advice Bureau Data on How People Go About Finding an 
NHS Dentist

113



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

100

Source: CAB Evidence Briefing Gaps to fill.  CAB evidence on the first year of the NHS dentistry reforms.  March 
2007  Available at URL: http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/pdf_gaps_to_fill.pdf

The CAB found that 65% of people who were unable to find an NHS dentist simply 
went without treatment, 9% went to A& E, 19% went to a private dentist and 2% went 
to their GP.

11.1.3 Omnibus Survey

The Omnibus survey gathered data about the impact of oral problems on the quality 
of life of adults.  Population representative samples of 2,507 adults across the UK 
were briefly interviewed on oral health related quality of life.  The results were 
analysed by the Dental Observatory.

The main findings of this survey were as follows:98

 7% of adults in England and 5% of adults in the East of England, 
experience ‘painful aching in the mouth fairly or very often’.  The figures for 
men and women are equal

 Experience of painful aching in the mouth varied little between counties.
 As age of respondents increased, there was a general reduction of 

reported painful aching.
 The prevalence of painful aching ‘fairly or very often’ and experience of 

oral problems compare closely with the values arising from the Adult 
Dental Health Survey 1998.  This finding suggests that this parameter 
varies little over time.

11.1.4 Patients Association Report

The Patients Association published their report, The New Dental Contract - Full of 
Holes and Causing Pain, on the new dental contract in March 2008.

The report was based on the Association’s survey of PCTs (although they are 
unspecific about their methodology).  Their main findings were as follows:99

 The NHS dentistry service provided by PCTs varies from PCT to PCT 
creating a ‘postcode lottery’.

 Patients are confused about how to access dental services in their locality.
 Patients are at risk of inadequate care because ‘UDAs, rather than patient 

need, is being funded’.
 Prevention of oral disease is at risk under the new contracting system.

11.1.5 GP Patient Survey July – September 2013

Dental questions were originally added to the GP survey in January to March 2010 
as the Department of Health wanted information on NHS dental access and demand 
for services based on peoples reported experience. THE GP patients survey was 
chose to capture this information as a portal to access the proportion of the 
population who do not use NHS dental services (or have not recently) to give a fuller 
picture of people’s dental behaviour and experience. 

114

http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/pdf_gaps_to_fill.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

101

The following graph shows the overall survey population breakdown of dental 
behaviour. 

Graph 30 

 Nationally just under three fifths (58%) of all respondents stated that they had visited 
an NHS dentist in the last two years.  Of the remaining, 10% didn’t try to see an NHS 
dentist because they stated they “ didn’t need to go “ or “ don’t like going “ and 8% 
didn’t try because they prefer private dentistry. 

Midlands and East show a much higher use of NHS Dental services that the south of 
England and London. (Just over 60% of all respondents compared to 54% of the 
south and 51% of London respondents) 

In the Midlands and East the vast majority of dental patients were successful at 
getting an NHS dental appointment in the last two years. This is the highest across 
England. 

115



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

102

Graph 31 

The graph below show that Midlands and East of England had the highest positive 
patient experience at 85 percent across England. 

Graph 32 

11.1.6 GP Patient Survey March 2014 – Responses to questions about dental 
services 

In January to March 2014 the GP survey for NHSE East Anglia Area Team  / CCGs 
in East Anglia was repeated.

116



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

103

This large survey samples adult patients registered with General Medical Practices 
in the local CCG area with questions mainly related to their primary medical care. 
41,368 survey forms were distributed, and 18,123 returned (44% response rate). 
Several questions cover experience of dental practice. It is important though to 
recognise that responses may relate to dental practices outside of the specific CCG 
or NHSE Area boundary used for the data presentation, as analysis relates to the 
location of the respondents medical practice only, not the dental practice.  
The weighting strategy applied is described in the Technical Annex:   http://gp-survey-
production.s3.amazonaws.com/archive/2014/July/1301375001_Technical%20Annex%202013-
2014_FINAL%20v1.pdf

Table 25:  When did you last try to get an NHS dental appointment for 
yourself? by number and proportion of respondents

All East Anglia
Number of 

respondents 
Percentage of 
respondents

In the last 3 months 4,846 24%
Between 3 and 6 months ago 3,458 17%
Between 6 months and a year ago 2,875 14%
Between 1  and 2 years ago 1,522 8%
Over 2 years ago 3,602 18%
Never tried to get an NHS appointment 3,905 19%

Table 26: When did you last try to get an NHS dental appointment for 
yourself?, by proportion of respondents

East Anglia CCGs
In last  

3 
months

3- 6 
months 

ago

6-12 
months

ago

12-24 
months 

ago 

Over 
24 

months 
ago

Not tried 
in last  

24 
months

All East Anglia 24% 17% 14% 8% 18% 19%
NHS Cambs  & 
Peterborough CCG

23% 16% 12% 7% 19% 22%

NHS Ipswich & E Suffolk 
CCG

24% 18% 14% 7% 18% 19%

NHS Gt Yarmouth & 
Waveney CCG

30% 19% 18% 9% 13% 12%

NHS N. Norfolk CCG 26% 19% 16% 6% 15% 19%
NHS Norwich CCG 24% 19% 15% 10% 17% 16%
NHS S. Norfolk CCG 26% 17% 18% 6% 17% 16%
NHS W .Norfolk CCG 21% 16% 14% 9% 19% 21%
NHS W. Suffolk CCG 21% 15% 15% 7% 21% 22%

Table 27: Last time you tried to get an NHS dental appointment, was it with a 
dental practice you had been to before for NHS dental care?

Yes No Can’t Remember
All East Anglia 88% 10% 3%
NHS Cambs  & 
Peterborough CCG

86% 10% 4%

NHS Ipswich & E Suffolk 
CCG

87% 11% 2%

117

http://gp-survey-production.s3.amazonaws.com/archive/2014/July/1301375001_Technical%20Annex%202013-2014_FINAL%20v1.pdf
http://gp-survey-production.s3.amazonaws.com/archive/2014/July/1301375001_Technical%20Annex%202013-2014_FINAL%20v1.pdf
http://gp-survey-production.s3.amazonaws.com/archive/2014/July/1301375001_Technical%20Annex%202013-2014_FINAL%20v1.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

104

NHS Gt Yarmouth & 
Waveney CCG

92% 7% 1%

NHS N. Norfolk CCG 90% 8% 2%
NHS Norwich CCG 87% 11% 2%
NHS S. Norfolk CCG 89% 7% 4%
NHS W .Norfolk CCG 91% 11% 3%
NHS W. Suffolk CCG 87% 9% 2%

Table 28: Respondents who last tried to get an NHS Dental Appointment in the 
last 2 years;

Proportion who said they were they successful in getting the appointment. 
East Anglia CCGs

Successful Unsuccessful Can’t Remember
All East  Anglia 94% 4% 2%
NHS Cambs  & 
Peterborough CCG

93% 6% 2%

NHS Ipswich & E Suffolk 
CCG

96% 3% 1%

NHS Gt Yarmouth & 
Waveney CCG

95% 4% 2%

NHS N. Norfolk CCG 97% 2% 1%
NHS Norwich CCG 93% 4% 3%
NHS S. Norfolk CCG 94% 4% 2%
NHS W .Norfolk CCG 93% 5% 2%
NHS W. Suffolk CCG 96% 3% 1%

Table 29: Overall experience of NHS dental services [respondents visiting 
dentist in past 2 years]?

East Anglia CCGs
Very 
good

Fairly 
good

Neither good 
nor poor

Fairly 
poor

Very poor

All East Anglia 47% 38% 9% 4% 2%
NHS Cambs  & Peterborough 
CCG

43% 39% 10% 5% 3%

NHS Ipswich & E Suffolk CCG 48% 36% 9% 5% 2%
NHS Gt Yarmouth & Waveney 
CCG

56% 33% 7% 3% 1%

NHS N. Norfolk CCG 48% 38% 8% 4% 2%
NHS Norwich CCG 48% 37% 10% 4% 1%
NHS S. Norfolk CCG 46% 39% 8% 4% 2%
NHS W .Norfolk CCG 42% 37% 13% 4% 4%
NHS W. Suffolk CCG 47% 39% 8% 4% 2%

Table 30: Why haven’t you tried to get an NHS dental appointment in the last 
two years [single main reason]? 
All East Anglia

Percentage 
of 

respondents
I haven’t needed to visit a dentist 18%
I no longer have any natural teeth 8%
I haven’t had time to visit a dentist 20%

118



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

105

I don’t like going to the dentist 7%
I didn’t think I could get an NHS dentist 11%
I’m on a waiting list for an NHS dentist +
I stayed with my dentist when they changed from NHS to 
private 

21%

I prefer to go to a private dentist 22%
NHS dental care is too expensive 4%
Another reason 9%
Please note, these figures should only be compared to January to March 2012 and January to March 
2013 results, due to changes that were made to the GP Patient Survey methodology prior to these 
dates. 

GP Patient Survey website      http://www.gp-patient.co.uk/

Questions relating to NHS Dentistry

Q46 When did you last try to get an NHS dental appointment for yourself? 

In the last 3 months 
Between 3 and 6 months ago 
Between 6 months and a year ago 
Between 1 and 2 years ago More than 2 years ago ...............Go to Q50 I have never 
tried to get an NHS dental appointment.............Go to Q50 

Q47 Last time you tried to get an NHS dental appointment, was it with a dental 
practice you had been to before for NHS dental care? 

Yes 
No 
Can’t remember 

Q48 Were you successful in getting an NHS dental appointment? 

Yes 
No 
Can’t remember 

Q49 Overall, how would you describe your experience of NHS dental services? 
Very good 
Fairly good 
Neither good nor poor 
Fairly poor 
Very poor 

Q50 Why haven’t you tried to get an NHS dental appointment in the last two years? 
If more than one of these applies to you, please tick the main ONE only 
I haven’t needed to visit a dentist 
I no longer have any natural teeth 
I haven’t had time to visit a dentist 
I don’t like going to the dentist 
I didn’t think I could get an NHS dentist 
I’m on a waiting list for an NHS dentist 
I stayed with my dentist when they changed from NHS to private 
I prefer to go to a private dentist 
NHS dental care is too expensive 
Another reason 

119

http://www.gp-patient.co.uk/


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

106

11.1.7 Healthwatch 

Healthwatch is the national consumer champion in health and social care. They have 
been given significant statutory powers to ensure the voice of the consumer is 
strengthened and heard by those who commission, deliver and regulate health and 
care services. Across East Anglia there are four services in Cambridgeshire, 
Peterborough, Suffolk and Norfolk. Healthwatch is an important stakeholder for East 
Anglia Area Team and representation on the Local Professional Network would 
strengthen that link. There are opportunities for Healthwatch to use the public voice 
to help influence the commissioning of local dental services.

120



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

107

12. General Principles

Oral diseases are important public health issues as they are among the most 
commonly found chronic diseases and are almost entirely preventable. The causal 
relationships between sugar and dental decay and gum disease and poor oral 
hygiene, for example, are well understood.

Primary prevention, employing the principles of universal proportionalism and 
integrating oral health with generic health, using the common risk factor approach 
(CRFA) is the most effective way of improving the oral health of the population of 
East Anglia. Working with other agencies such as local authorities is important to 
tackle these common risk factors such as poor diet, tobacco use, poor hygiene, 
alcohol consumption and injuries, factors which are also associated with obesity, 
cancer, heart disease, diabetes and strokes. This is consistent with Commissioning 
Better Oral Health June 2014

Secondary prevention, using targeted interventions such as fluoride varnish and 
brushing schemes, are important in areas where oral health is worse.
Access to high quality dental services, delivering consistent oral health promotion 
interventions such as preventive advice, tooth brushing instruction and fluoride 
varnish applications is key and is consistent with Delivering Better Oral Health, third 
edition June 2014

13. Summary

Oral health in East Anglia is generally good. This, however, masks oral health 
inequalities and a small number of people bear the burden of disease. They are 
children and adults living in material and social deprivation and people in at risk 
groups, such as older people and people living with disability or in long term 
institutional care. This health divide is of concern.

Access to dental services is variable across East Anglia and, for some marginalised 
groups, access is poor.  Not much is known about the quality of these services or 
how accessible patients find them. Referral criteria and access for specialist dental 
services vary.
 
Access to a range of dental services is available but there is little evidence that this 
is meeting the differing needs of the population. At present these inequities in service 
provision have the potential to increase rather than decrease oral health inequalities.

The quality and availability of information both about the oral health status of the 
population and the services provided is poor and provides little information for future 
commissioning of these services.

121



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

108

14. Key messages
 

  
Prevention
Oral health problems are not being prevented in adults and children from 
marginalised and deprived groups in East Anglia.

 
Access 
Dental service provision in East Anglia bears little relation to oral health need. There 
are discrepancies between the availability of services and need, and patients do not 
always get the right care when they access dental services.

 
At risk groups
People in marginalised or deprived groups in East Anglia are more likely to have 
poor oral health and less likely to access services. This includes people living in 
areas of material and social deprivation as well as those with physical and learning 
disabilities, dementia sufferers or people in long term institutional care.

Data
Information about services and the quality of those services is limited. There is some 
local data about the oral health of children but no local data available about the oral 
health of adults.

122



Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

109

15 References

1     Department of Health NHS Outcomes Framework 2013/14 published in 2012
2     Department of Health, Improving Outcomes and supporting transparency: Part 1 A public Health  Outcomes 

Framework for England 2013 -2016 published in 2012
3    Local Authorities public health responsibilities (England) Sn06844 13th March 2014 
4 Moynihan P.J.  The role of diet and nutrition in the etiology and prevention of oral diseases.  Bulletin of the 

World Health Organization 2005; 83:694-699  Available at URL 
5 Office of Public Management.  2005  A futures study of dental decay in five and fifteen year olds in England.  

Available at URL http://www.opm.co.uk/resources/papers/children_bhlp/dental_children_reportWEB.pdf.
6 Corbet E ‘Public Health Aspects of Oral Diseases and Disorders – Periodontal Diseases.’ In Pine C, Harris 

R.  Community Oral Health 2nd edition.  2007  Surrey: Quintessence.
7 Downer MC. Oral Cancer. In: Pine C, editor. Community oral health. Oxford: Wright; 1997. p.88–93.
8 Nuttall N et al.A guide to the UK Adult Dental Health Survey 1998. London: British Dental Association; 2001. 

9     Statement on mouth cancer diagnosis and preventions C. Scully and J Kirby BDJ January 10th 2014 pg 
37-38 

10 Shaw WC, Turbill EA.  ‘.  ‘Public Health Aspects of Oral Diseases and Disorders –Dentofacial Irregularities’ 
In Pine C, Harris R.  Community Oral Health 2nd edition.  2007  Surrey: Quintessence.

11 De Oliveira CM, Sheiham A.  Orthodontic treatment and its impact on oral health-related quality of life in 
Brazilian adolescents.  J Orthod 2004; 31:20-27.

12 Statutory Instrument 2005 No. 3361 The National Health Service (General Dental Services Contracts) 
Regulations 2005.  Available at URL.

13 Department of Health  Specialised Services National Definition Set: 15 Cleft lip and palate services (all ages)  
2007  Available at URL 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Commissioning/Commissioningspecialisedservices/Spec
ialisedservicesdefinition/DH_4001685

14   Trends in Facial Injury. P Magennis, J P Shepherd, Iain Hutchinson, Andrew BrownBMJ 1998;   
316:325.2 Published 31January 1998 
15   Brookes CN; Maxillofacial and ocular injuries in motor vehicle crashes. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 
2004 May;86(3):149-55. [abstract] 
16  Davies and Bradley 1977, Sane and Ylipaavalnimei 1988, Rodd and Chesham 1997
17 The dentist’s role in the prevention of sports related oro-facial injury. Newsome. P, Owen, S. 
Reaney,D International Dentistry SA Vol12 No 1 p 50-60
18 Watt RG.  Public Health Reviews.  Strategies and approached in oral disease prevention and health 

promotion.  Bull World Health Organ website 2005; 83(9):711-718.  Available at URL 
www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/711.pdf.

19 Kantovitz KR, Pascon FM, Rontani RM, Gaviao MB  Obestity and dental caries – A systematic review.  Oral 
Health Prev Detn.  2006;4(2):137-44.

20 Department of Health  Smokefree and Smiling: helping dental patients to quit tobacco.  2007  Available at 
URL 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_074970.

21 Araujo MW, Dermen K, Connors G, Ciancio S.  Oral and dental health among inpatients in treatment for 
alcohol use disorders: a pilot study.  J Int Acad Periodontology 2004 Oct;6(4):125-30

22 Gelbier S, Harris C.  Oral and dental health in the alcohol misuser.  Addictive Biology 1996;1(2):165-9.
23    The Home Office Statistical Bulletin, Crime in in England and Wales 2008/09
24 Zador D, Lyons Wall PM, Webster I.  1996  High sugar intake in a group of women on methadone 

maintenance in south western Sydney, Australia.  Addiction.  91(7): 1053-61.
25 Titsas A, Ferguson MM.  2002  Impact of opioid use on dentistry.  Australian Dental Journal.  47(2):94-8 
26 Titsas A, Ferguson MM.  Impact of opioid use on dentistry.  Australian Dental Journal 47:94-8, cited in Jones 

CM, McCann M, Nugent Z.  Scottish Prisons Dental Health Survey 2002.  Scottish Executive: Edinburgh.  
2004  http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/47210/0013527.pdf.

27 Pilinova A, Krutina M, Salandova M, Pilin A.  Oral health status of drug addicts in the Czech Republic.  J 
Forensic Odontostomatol.  2003 Dec;21(2):36-9.

28 Robinson PG, Acquah S, Gibson B.  Drug users: oral health-related attitudes and behaviours.  British Dental 
Journal  2005  Feb 26;198(4):219-24.

123

http://www.opm.co.uk/resources/papers/children_bhlp/dental_children_reportWEB.pdf
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Commissioning/Commissioningspecialisedservices/Specialisedservicesdefinition/DH_4001685
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Commissioning/Commissioningspecialisedservices/Specialisedservicesdefinition/DH_4001685
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?cmd=Retrieve&db=PubMed&dopt=Abstract&list_uids=15140296
http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/711.pdf
http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/711.pdf
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_074970
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_074970
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Araujo+MW%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Dermen+K%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Connors+G%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Ciancio+S%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Gelbier+S%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Harris+C%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/47210/0013527.pdf


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

110

29 Waldman HG, Perlman SP.  Dental care for individuals with developmental disabilities is expensive, but 
needed.  J Calif Dent Assoc.  2002 Jun; 30(6): 427-32.

30 Glassman P, Miller CE.  Preventing dental disease for people with special needs: the need for practical 
preventive protocols for use in community settings.  Spec Care Dentist.  2003  Sep-Oct; 23(5):165-7.

31 Tiller S, Wilson KI, Gallagher JE. Oral health status and dental service use of adults with learning disabilities 
living in residential institutions and in the community. Community Dent Health. 2001 Sep;18(3):167-71.

32 Jones CM, McCann M, Nugent Z.  Scottish Prisons Dental Health Survey 2002.  Scottish Executive: 
Edinburgh.  2004  http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/47210/0013527.pdf.

33 Jones CM, Woods K, Neville J, Whittle JG.  Dental health of prisoners in the north west of England in 2000: 
literature review and dental health survey results. Community Dent Health. 2005 Jun;22(2):113-7.

34 Wright D, Allen C, Gibson B.  A study of the perceived oral health and treatment needs of prisoners.  2001  
Unpublished.

35 King TB, Gibson G.  Oral health needs and access to dental care of homeless adults in the United States: a 
review.  Spec Care Dentist 2003 Jul-Aug; 23(4): 143-7.

36 Luo Y, McGrath C  Oral health status of homeless people in Hong Kong.  Spec Care Dentist. 2006  Jul-
Aug;26(4):150-4.

37 De Palma P, Frithiof L, Persson L, Klinge B, Halldin J, Beijer U.  Oral health of homeless adults in 
Stockholm, Sweden.  Acta Odontol Scand.  2005  Feb; 63(1): 50-55.

38 Conte M, Broder HL, Jenkinds, G, Reed R, Janal MN.  Oral health, related behaviours and oral health 
impacts among homeless adults.  J Public Health Dent.  2006  Fall; 66(4): 276-8.

39 Godson JH, Williams SA.  Oral health and health related behaviours among three-year-old children born to 
first and second generation Pakistani mothers in Bradford, UK.  Community Dental Health.  1996  
Mar;13(1):27-33.

40 Mattin D, Smith JM.  The oral ehalth status, dental needs and factors affecting utilisation of dental servies in 
Asians aged 55 years and over, resident in Southampton.  Br Dent J.  1991  May 25;170(10): 369-72.

41 Newton JT, Thorogood N, Bhavnani V, Pitt J, Gibbons DE, Gelbier S.  Barriers to the use of dental services 
by individuals from minority ethnic communities living in the United Kingdom: findings from focus groups.  
Prim Dent Care.  2001  Oct;8(4):157-61.

42 Edwards DM, Watt RG. Oral health care in the lives of Gypsy Travellers in east Hertfordshire Br Dent J. 
1997 Oct 11;183(7):252-7.

43 Chiappelli F, Bauer J, Spackman S, Prolo P, Edgerton M, Armenian C, Dickmeyer J, Harper S.  Dental 
needs of the elderly in the 21st century.  Gen Dent. 2002 July-Aug; 50(4):358-63.

44 Gerodontology 2005; 22 (Supplement 1):2-48.
45 45  Adult Dental Health Survey 2009  https://catalogue.ic.nhs.uk/publications/primary-care/dentistry/adul-dent-
heal-surv-summ-rep-them-seri-2009/adul-dent-heal-surv-summ-them-exec-2009-rep2.pdf

46 Chavarry, N.G. et al The relationship between diabetes mellitus and destructive periodontal disease: a meta- 
analysis. Oral Health and Preventive Dentistry,7(2) 2009: pp 107-127
47 Lewis, D. et al Access to Special Care Dentistry, part 7 Special care Dentistry Services: seamless care for 
people in their middle years- Part 1 British Dental Journal, 205(6), 2008
48  Working Together to Safeguard Children HM Government, Working Together to Safeguard 
Children: A guide to interagency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of 2013 children is 
everyone’s responsibility
49  Royal College of Paediatricians and Child Health, Child Protection Companion-2nd Edition 2013
50  Making Every Contact Count
51 NHS Information Centre (2011): Adult Dental Health Survey 2011 available at: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-
and-data-collections/primary-care/dentistry/adult-dental-health-survey-2009--summary-report-and-thematic-series
52 Sheiham A. Oral health, general health and quality of life. Bull World Health Organ website 2005;83(9):644. 

Available at URL www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/644.pdf 
53 Department of Health. An Oral Health Strategy for England. London: Department of Health; 1994.
54 Daly B et al. Essential dental public health. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2003.
55 Nuttall N et al. A guide to the UK Adult Dental Health Survey 1998. London: British Dental Association; 2001.
56 Daly B et al. Essential dental public health. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2003.
57 Office for National Statistics Adult Dental Health Survey 1998, accessed November 2005. Available at URL 

www.statistics.gov.uk/downloads/theme_health/AdltDentlHlth98_v3.pdf.
58 Cancer Research UK Information Resource Centre. Open Up to Mouth Cancer. London: Cancer Research 

UK; 2005. Available at URL 
http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/healthyliving/openuptomouthcancer/healthprofessionals/statistics/.

124

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez?Db=PubMed&Cmd=Search&Term=%22Tiller%20S%22%5BAuthor%5D&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_RVAbstract
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez?Db=PubMed&Cmd=Search&Term=%22Wilson%20KI%22%5BAuthor%5D&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_RVAbstract
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez?Db=PubMed&Cmd=Search&Term=%22Gallagher%20JE%22%5BAuthor%5D&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_RVAbstract
javascript:AL_get(this,%20'jour',%20'Community%20Dent%20Health.');
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/47210/0013527.pdf
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Jones+CM%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Woods+K%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Neville+J%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/query.fcgi?db=pubmed&cmd=Search&itool=pubmed_Abstract&term=%22Whittle+JG%22%5BAuthor%5D
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez?Db=pubmed&Cmd=Search&Term=%22Edwards%20DM%22%5BAuthor%5D&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DiscoveryPanel.Pubmed_RVAbstractPlus
http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sites/entrez?Db=pubmed&Cmd=Search&Term=%22Watt%20RG%22%5BAuthor%5D&itool=EntrezSystem2.PEntrez.Pubmed.Pubmed_ResultsPanel.Pubmed_DiscoveryPanel.Pubmed_RVAbstractPlus
javascript:AL_get(this,%20'jour',%20'Br%20Dent%20J.');
http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/644.pdf
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/downloads/theme_health/AdltDentlHlth98_v3.pdf
http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/healthyliving/openuptomouthcancer/healthprofessionals/statistics/


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

111

59    CG19 Dental recall: Recall interval between routine dental examinations
60Department of Health. Choosing Better Oral Health. An Oral Health Plan for England. London: Department of 

Health; 2005. Available at URL www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/12/32/53/04123253.pdf.
61 Cancer Research UK Information Resource Centre. Open Up to Mouth Cancer. London: Cancer Research 

UK; 2005. Available at URL 
http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/healthyliving/openuptomouthcancer/healthprofessionals/statistics/.

62    International Agency for Research on Cancer (ARC) and
Saeed A, Sheikh A, Qureshi H. Chewing areca nut, betel quid, oral snuff, cigarette smoking and the risk of oesophageal 
squamous-cell carcinoma in South Asians: A multicentre case–control study. European Journal of Cancer 2011

63 Daly B et al.  Essential dental public health. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2003. 
64 Downer M.  ‘Public Health Aspects of Oral Diseases and Disorders – Oral Cancer’ In Pine C, Harris R.  

Community Oral Health 2nd edition.  2007  Surrey: Quintessence.
65 Donaldson D, Jack R, Møller H, Lüchtenborg M, Oral cavity, pharyngeal and salivary gland cancer: Disparities in ethnicity-    
specific incidence among the London population, Oral Oncology, 2012, Vol. 48, pp. 799-802
66 Moles D, Fedele S, Speight P, Porter S, dos Santos Silva I, Oral and pharyngeal cancer in South Asians and non-South 
Asians in relation to socio-economic deprivation in South east England. 2008, British Journal of Cancer , pp. 633-635
67 Health Survey for England 2004, The health of minority ethnic groups, The information centre, 2006
68 Watt RG.  2005  Public Health Reviews.  Strategies and approaches in oral disease prevention and health 

promotion.  Bulleting of the World Health Organisation Website  83(9):711-718.  Available at URL 
www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/711.pdf.

69 Department of Health.  NHS Dentistry: Delivering Change.  Report by the Chief Dental Officer (England) July 
2004.  London: Department of Health: 2004.  Available at URL 
www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/08/59/75/04085975.pdf.

70 Office for National Statistics.  2003 Children’s Dental Health Survey.  London: ONS; 2004.  Available at URL 
www.statistics.gov.uk/children/dentalhealth/.

71 Martins-Junior PA. Vieire- Ardrade RQ, correa – Faria P, Oliverira- Ferreira F, Mauquesh LS, Ramos-     
Jorqe ML. Impact of early childhood caries on the oral health related qualitty of life of preschool childrean and 
their parents. Caries RES 2013; 47: 211-218
72 Guarnixo-Herreno CC, Wehby GL). Childrens dental health, scholl performance and psychololigcal well-being 
J Paediatr 2012; 161: 1153-1159 
73  ONS social division 2003 children’s dental health survey 
74 Department of Health prescribing and primary care services, health and social care information centre(2013) 
prescribing by dentists: England 2012 
75 Mellor AC 2000) Tooth decay and deprivation in young children British Dental Journal 189:372
76 76    KAY E. Locker DA. A Systematic review of the effectiveness of health arrived at the oral health promotion 
aimed at improving oral health,  2002. The University of York Centre for reviews and dissemination 

77 Office for National Statistics. 2003 Children’s Dental Health Survey. London: ONS; 2004. Available at URL 
www.statistics.gov.uk/children/dentalhealth/.

78 Tickle M, Kay EJ, Bearn D.  Socio-economic status and orthodontic treatment need.  Community Dent Oral 
Epidemiology 2001;29:315-17.

79 Finch et al  1988 Barriers to the receipt of dental care. Social and Community Planning Research
80 Borreani E, Wright D, Scambler S, Gallagher J. Minimising Barriers to dental care in older people 
BMC Oral Health 2008,8:
81 Freeman R. (2004) Practice building-relationships around the patient. In FJT Burke and R 
Freeman. Preparing for dental practice. OUP Oxford.
82 Swallow JN. (1970) Fear and the dentist. New Society: 5; 819-821)
83  K. M. Milsom1, C. Jones2, P. Kearney-Mitchell3 & M. Tickle4 British Dental Journal 206, 257 - 261 (2009) Published online: 

14 March 2009 | doi:10.1038/sj.bdj.2009.165 A comparative needs assessment of the dental health of adults attending 
dental access centres and general dental practices in Halton & St Helens and Warrington PCTs 2007

84    NHS Dental Contract reform Pilot Programme – phase 2 2012. Primary Care Commissioning  
85  Renton T challenges of exodontia in an ageing patient FDJ 2011:2: 110-117
86  McArdle and LW Renton T. The effect of NICE guidelines on the management of third molar teeth. BR Dent J 
2012: 213 EB 
87    Health and Social Care Information Centre. Monthly topic of interest: Children in Hospital Episode 
Statistics –July 2012 to June 2013. 2013
88 British Fluoridation Society 2004 One in a million - the facts about water fluoridation.  2nd edition.  

http://www.bfsweb.org/onemillion/onemillion.htm.
89 University of York NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. Mc Donagh M. et al. A Systematic Review of 

125

http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/12/32/53/04123253.pdf
http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/12/32/53/04123253.pdf
http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/healthyliving/openuptomouthcancer/healthprofessionals/statistics/
http://info.cancerresearchuk.org/healthyliving/openuptomouthcancer/healthprofessionals/statistics/
http://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/83/9/711.pdf
http://www.dh.gov.uk/assetRoot/04/08/59/75/04085975.pdf
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/children/dentalhealth/
http://www.statistics.gov.uk/children/dentalhealth/
http://www.nature.com/bdj/journal/v206/n5/full/sj.bdj.2009.165.html#a1
http://www.nature.com/bdj/journal/v206/n5/full/sj.bdj.2009.165.html#a2
http://www.nature.com/bdj/journal/v206/n5/full/sj.bdj.2009.165.html#a3
http://www.nature.com/bdj/journal/v206/n5/full/sj.bdj.2009.165.html#a4
http://www.bfsweb.org/onemillion/onemillion.htm


Oral Health Needs Assessment for East Anglia October 2014 
_________________________________________________________________________________________________

112

Water Fluoridation. York: NHS Centre for Reviews and Dissemination. University of York, 2000. Available at 
URL www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd/fluores.htm.

90 Jones CM et al.   Water fluoridation, tooth decay in 5 year olds, and social deprivation measured by the 
Jarman score: analysis of data from British dental surveys. BMJ 1997;315:514–517. Available at URL 
http://bmj.bmjjournals.com/cgi/content/full/315/7107/514.

91    Marinho, V.C., Worthington, H.V., Walsh T. & Clarkson J.E. Fluoride varnishes for preventing dental caries in children    
and adolescents. Cochrane Database 2003 Syst Rev 7, CD002279,doi:10.1002/14651858.CD002279.pub2 (2013)
92  National Health and Medical research Council. A systematic review of the efficacy and safety of 
fluoridation. Part A Review of methodology and results. Australian Government (2007)
93    Rogers J.G. Evidence based oral health promotion resource. Prevention and Population Health Branch  
2011. Government pof Victoria, Department of health, Melbourne (2011).
94    Marinho, V.C. Higgins, J.P. Sheiham, A and Logan, S. Fluoride toothpastes for preventing dental 
caries in children and adolescents. Cochrane database Syst Rev, CD002278, doi;10.1002/14651858. 
CD002278 (2003)

95 Department of Health  Smokefree and Smiling: helping dental patients to quit tobacco.  2007  Available at 
URL 
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_074970.

96 Commission for Patient and Public Involvement in Health.  Dentistry Watch.  National survey of the NHS 
dentistry system with views from both patients and dentists.  October 2007  Available at URL 
http://www.cppih.org/campaigns.htm.

97 CAB Evidence Briefing Gaps to fill.  CAB evidence on the first year of the NHS dentistry reforms.  March 
2007  Available at URL http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/pdf_gaps_to_fill.pdf.

98 The Dental Observatory.  Measuring the impact of oral problems on the quality of life among adults.  An 
Omnibus survey.  April 2008  Available at URL http://www.bascd.org/info_home.php.

99 The Patients Association  ‘The New Dental Contract – Full of Holes and Causing Pain?’  March 2008  
Available at URL http://www.patients-association.org.uk/Research-Publications/194.

71 General Anaesthesia for Dental Treatment in a hospital setting with critical are facilities – 8 August 2001.

100 HUMPHRIS GM, MORRISON T and LINDSAY SJE (1995) 'The Modified Dental Anxiety Scale: Validation and United Kingdom Norms' 
Community Dental Health, 12, 143-150.

ANNEX 1  

BD CDS matrix 
final.rtf

126

http://www.york.ac.uk/inst/crd/fluores.htm
http://bmj.bmjjournals.com/cgi/content/full/315/7107/514
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_074970
http://www.cppih.org/campaigns.htm
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/pdf_gaps_to_fill.pdf
http://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/pdf_gaps_to_fill.pdf
http://www.bascd.org/info_home.php
http://www.patients-association.org.uk/Research-Publications/194


HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 6

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Contact Officer(s): Paul Marshall – Interim Sector Head Tel. 07841 764751

AMBULANCE SERVICE - AMBULANCE RESPONSE PROGRAM (ARP) AND THE 
IMPACT ON PETERBOROUGH

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

     It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee note the contents of the report.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The report is being presented at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This report has been produced at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee to update the 
Committee on the NHSE Ambulance Response Programme and the impact on Peterborough.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3, 
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council 
- Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

3.1 ARP

Following the largest clinical ambulance trials in the world, NHS England implemented new 
ambulance standards across the country known as the Ambulance Response Program (ARP).

In a letter to Jeremy Hunt, Secretary of State for Health, Sir Bruce Keogh outlined why the results 
from the trial demonstrate that changes should be adopted nationally. The new system updated 
a decades old system that addresses the issue that most aspects of UK ambulance services 
have changed beyond recognition: 

 a large number of responses now focus on the frail elderly rather than traditional medical 
emergencies, 

 half of all calls are now resolved by paramedics without the need to take patients to 
hospital, 

 for specialist care the focus of the ambulance service is increasingly on getting patients 
to the right hospital rather than simply the nearest. 

Over the last four decades, however, ambulance services have had to remain organised around 
an eight minute response time target.

127



3.2 Impact
 
ARP has been trialled for about two years in three ambulance services – West Midlands, 
Yorkshire and South West. The learning form these trials are that the changes are safe for 
patients and better for the ambulance service and our staff.  With half our calls previously being 
‘red’, this has put a huge pressure on our service as we are held to account by commissioners, 
regulators, politicians and the public about how well we perform against this. Yet we know that 
the vast majority of these patients get no clinical benefit form an 8 minute response. 

So, moving forward under the new standards we will be afforded more time to get to patients. 
That does not mean that we will plan to take longer, but the regulatory expectation based on 
clinical evidence means we can operate more efficiently and effectively for those patients not in 
the C1 category. This means that we will need to change how we operate and deploy our 
resources and importantly focus on more ambulance cover as we will need less rapid response 
vehicles given the extra time we will have for most patients. This ultimately is a good thing and 
has to be finely balanced with being able to increase ambulance capacity through improved 
commissioning.

18th October marked the start of ARP and we still have much to do over the next few months and 
even years. It will take us time to phase in the changes as we need to make sure we implement 
them safely for patients and in consultation with staff. At the same time we have an independent 
service review, commissioned by NHS England and NHS Improvement, to understand what 
funding and staffing we actually need to meet demand – we have been arguing for some time 
that we believe we need more staffing. 

One important consideration we have right now is with increasing hospital handover delays; we 
will need to keep in place some additional solo responders to ensure safety of our patients in the 
community. We have been spending time with our stakeholders briefing them on what ARP 
means and why we need investment and real focus on hospital flow.

We have already been able to increase our ambulance cover and reduce some of our RRV 
numbers but our next step is to look at how we can further increase ambulance cover with a 
corresponding reduction in RRVs. We will do this in consultation with the staff affected and we 
will be discussing this with UNISON to agree the change management process, as it is absolutely 
vital we work in partnership to achieve the best for patients and staff. 

128



3.3 Issues

Capacity Gap

We have been working with Commissioners and Regulators on the assertion that EEAST has a 
significant capacity gap compared to the demand on the service and pressures such as hospital 
delays. An independent service review (ISR) was commissioned by NHS England to 
independently recommend whether further funding to EEAST is required. 
This report is due for release imminently and is expected to confirm that EEAST requires 
additional funding for several hundred more staffing positions in order to accommodate the 
growing pressure on the service

Demand/Performance

Cambridgeshire activity - We have experienced an increase in call volume every month except 
July when compared to 2016/17

We are experiencing ever increasing demand, but conveying fewer patients to ED.

Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

40.00%
41.00%
42.00%
43.00%
44.00%
45.00%
46.00%
47.00%

Total calls
Conveyed
Percentage conveyed

Peterborough conveyances

 

Handover delays

EEAST continues to experience the highest number of lost ambulance hours from hospital 
handover delays in England. This means that we are forced to ‘stack’ 999 callers who we are 
waiting to send ambulances to because they are waiting to offload their patients at hospitals. 
EEAST levels exceed every other service in England and have been higher than the national 
average for 5 years.

129



Cambridgeshire Hospitals compared to Trust wide (December 2017)

Patient handover experience at Peterborough City Hospital

November December January
0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

No ≤15m
No. > 15min
No. > 30min
No. > 60min
No. > 75min
No

Patient handover experience

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 N/A

5. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

5.1 In its 18 month trial phase, the ARP covered over 14 million calls, testing a new operating model 
and new set of targets. In summary this new system would:

130



 change the dispatch model of the ambulance service, giving staff slightly more time to 
identify patients’ needs and allowing quicker identification of urgent conditions.

 introduce new target response times which cover every single patient, not just those in 
immediate need. For the most urgent patients we will collect mean response time in 
addition to the 90th percentile, so every response is counted.

 change the rules around what “stops the clock”, so targets can only be met by doing the 
right thing for the patient.

ARP is in 2 phases; phase 1 below relates to EOC process and phase 2 involves changes to the 
categories (code sets) that ambulance service triage 999 callers into.  

In October 2016, EEAST joined a national pilot for phase 1 that aims to give patients a more 
clinically appropriate response to people who call 999 for help, implementing the following:

Dispatch on Disposition (DOD): Where a maximum clock start of 240 seconds for all calls except 
predicted or confirmed Red 1s (where we continue to dispatch as soon as possible). The 
additional time to triage 999 calls (compared to the previous 60 seconds) means they can be 
more appropriately resourced “first time” as it gives more time to find out the clinical need of the 
patient. New deployment guidelines were also introduced in line with this change to clock start 
for Red 2 and Green calls. 

Changes to the opening call taking process for 999 calls to “predict” Red 1 calls before full coding:
 new “pre-triage questions” (PTQ) opening the call to assist with immediate identification 

of patients that are not breathing or have a potential airway problem. 
 introduction of the Nature of Call (NoC) which allow selection of “key words” (for example 

“choking”) based on the initial description of the problem by the caller. These key words 
cover the most likely conditions to result in a Red 1 and Red 2 coded call.

Phase 2 saw ambulance services move from having 6 triage codes (Red1,2 Green 1-4) to 4 that 
are outlined here:

Cat 1: Immediately Life Threatening
Response Time Standard: 
Mean response time ≤ 7 Minutes 
90th percentile ≤ 15 Minutes
Clock start Triggers the earliest of:

• The call is coded 
• The first resource is assigned
• 30 seconds from call connect

Clock stop by: 
• Trust resource arriving on scene including 

PAS/VAS deployed by Trust
• CFR, Co Responder
• HCP with a defib next to the patient

Cat 2: Emergency
Response Time Standard: 
Mean response time ≤ 18 Minutes
90th percentile ≤ 40Minutes
Clock start Triggers the earliest of:

• The call is coded 
• The first resource is assigned
• 240 seconds from call connect

Clock stop by: 
If a patient is transported by an emergency vehicle, only the 
arrival of the 
transporting vehicle counts. If the patient does not need 
transport the first response arrives at the scene of the incident.

Cat 3: Urgent
Response Time Standard: 
90th percentile ≤ 120 minutes
Clock start Triggers the earliest of:

• The call is coded 
• The first resource is assigned
• 240 seconds from call connect

Clock stop by: 
If a patient is transported by an emergency vehicle, 
only the arrival of the 
transporting vehicle counts. If the patient does not 
need transport the first response arrives at the scene.

Cat 4: Less Urgent
Response Time Standard: 
90th percentile ≤ 180 minutes
Clock start Triggers the earliest of:

• The call is coded 
• The first resource is assigned
• 240 seconds from call connect

Clock stop by: 
If a patient is transported by an emergency vehicle, only the 
arrival of the 
transporting vehicle counts. 

131



Impact on Peterborough

We continually look to improve patient care and patient outcomes, often through innovative 
schemes or pathways. 

Currently in Cambridgeshire:

 We are providing Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officers at both Addenbrookes and 
Peterborough City Hospital

 We have introduced a Patient Safety Intervention Team to work closely with the Hospitals 
to keep patient safety as the highest priority whilst  working to release our queuing 
Ambulances to respond to those patients in the community who are at risk

 We are providing an Urgent Vehicle; a dedicated response for the increased HCP demand

 We are in talks with commissioners to provide an Early Intervention Vehicle (EIV) to 
respond to the many elderly fallers in a collaborative and integrated way. 

 We are discussing with Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service to provide a joint 
response to the elderly non-injury fallers in the community, where EEAST will provide a 
clinical oversight and CFRS will provide a community Fire safety check. 

 We are exploring a possible collaboration with First Response Service to provide a joint 
emergency Mental Health response service.

Performance is expected to improve as the recommendations from the ISR are introduced and 
the Handover delays are reduced.

EEAST continually work with system partners through external groups and meetings such as:

 Health & Care Exec
 System Delivery Board
 Clinical Advisory Group
 Joint Strategic Operability Board
 Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Local Resilience Forum
 Urgent & Emergency Care Delivery group
 A&E Delivery Boards
 JET steering group

To provide a collaborative approach to delivering the best possible health and care to the 
communities of Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.

Oct Nov Dec Jan
0

5

10

15

20

C1
C1 90th

C1 performance

132



Our biggest challenges remain:

 Historical under funding and investment with more demand and unmatched 
funding

 Loss of ambulance capacity with delayed handover at hospitals locally and 
regionally. This displaces resources, introduces long distance travelling and longer 
waiting times

 Demand increases on 999

6. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

6.1 In its 18 month trial phase, the ARP covered over 14 million calls, testing a new operating model 
and new set of targets. In summary this new system would:

 Change the dispatch model of the ambulance service, giving staff slightly more 
time to identify patients’ needs and allowing quicker identification of urgent 
conditions.

 Introduce new target response times which cover every single patient, not just those in 
immediate need. For the most urgent patients we will collect mean response time in 
addition to the 90th percentile, so every response is counted.

 Change the rules around what “stops the clock”, so targets can only be met by doing the 
right thing for the patient.

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 N/A

8. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

8.1 N/A

Legal Implications

8.2 N/A

Equalities Implications

8.3 N/A

Rural Implications

8.4 N/A

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

133



This page is intentionally left blank

134



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 7

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: North West Anglia NHS Foundation Trust 
Contact Officer(s): Neil Doverty, Chief Operating Officer Tel. 01733 677841

WINTER PRESSURES

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

     It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee: 

1. Note the increase in emergency activity at the hospitals run by North West Anglia NHS 
Foundation Trust

2. Support the plans for managing capacity pressures for the coming year

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The report is being presented at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This report has been produced at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee to update the 
Committee on the NHSE Ambulance Response Programme and the impact on Peterborough.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3, 
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council 
- Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

3.1 This winter, our emergency departments at both Peterborough City and Hinchingbrooke Hospitals 
have seen an increase in people needing emergency care. In the three month period Nov 17 – 
Jan 18 we recorded an increase of well over 10% in emergency admissions compared to the 
same three-month period last year. This activity growth is notably above our commissioner’s 
plans and our available physical bed capacity. Growth in emergency admission demand is 
particularly correlated to the A&E 4hr performance standard. 

Admission avoidance schemes, such as the JET service, has grown in this time and we are 
diverting more patients to the Trust’s Ambulatory Care Unit in order to reduce emergency care 
activity in line with the System-wide Transformation Plan.

However, increased emergency admission pressures at ‘the hospital front door’ were 
compounded by an outbreak of Norovirus at Peterborough City Hospital which saw four wards 
closed to new admissions at its peak over Christmas. This meant there were even fewer beds 
available during such a busy time of year. The Trust takes a very vigilant and proactive stance at 
managing the risk of outbreaks and has an excellent team of infection prevention and control 

135



professionals providing a 24/7 service. This, together with our high proportion of single ensuite 
rooms throughout the PCH site, we are well-placed to isolate and contain outbreaks optimally.

In addition, we saw increased sickness levels among our staff (despite 70% compliance with the 
flu vaccine campaign) and also experienced some difficulties in sourcing agency locum doctors 
for Emergency and Medicine and Acute and Specialty Medical areas, which meant some shifts 
ran with rota gaps, despite best endeavours to cover with agency staff. Staffing gaps receive 
constant attention from hospital managers and we have well-established escalation and real-time 
monitoring arrangements in place to underpin quality of care and safe staffing levels.

The number of patients whose discharge into another healthcare setting was delayed (DTOC) 
were considerably higher than previously planned and agreed with commissioners – at peak 
times this amounted to almost four-wards-worth of patients (100 beds in total). This is a key result 
area for the health system partners to achieve together, requiring sustained inter-agency joint 
working. The Trust continues to support actions taken by other commissioner and community 
bodies to drive down the level of DTOCs in our hospitals and throughout the winter period we 
have benefited from the NHS Regional Team oversight from the regulators.

The Trust led on a comprehensive system winter plan from early Autumn 2017 and took into 
account the learning from the previous winter. We established new services, such as the 
Community Front Door Team of acute therapists to help increase admission avoidance from A&E 
at PCH. The Trust also invested in creating 12 new additional acute beds which opened in 
December 2017. Actions agreed under the STP to reduce Emergency Care activity at the hospital 
are also supporting this activity. This includes:

 The Ambulance Service has increased its use of See and Treat and Hear and Treat and 
is regularly achieving its targets; this reduces ambulance journeys to hospital;

 JET has grown over the year and has increased the number of potential hospital 
admission avoided;

 The Trust’s GP-Consultant phone has increased the hours it is available and more 
patients are being diverted to Ambulatory Care 

 The MIIU activity at the City Care Centre in Peterborough has increased notably during 
the year; as has MIU activity in locations such as Doddington;

 An Admission Avoidance Team – comprising Occupational Therapists and 
Physiotherapists – is supporting A&E and they are reducing the number of patients that 
need admitting.

Notably, the number of Ambulances has not increased since last year, but, based on clinical 
information from the Ambulance Trust, the acuity of the patients they are transporting is higher, 
on average.  The presumption is because the less acute have been treated by the relevant 
services set out above.

Despite all the above, admission reduction schemes, admitted patient numbers has increased 
compared to last year.  Over the year to the end of January 2018 the level of acute admissions 
has increased by 5%, but proportions of medical and surgical admissions over the last three 
months has risen by 14%.  The increase is across all CCG areas but with some notable increases 
from the Lincolnshire population at Peterborough City Hospital (PCH).

All of the above were contributory factors towards our Trust’s performance against the four-hour 
waiting time standard falling considerably short of the 95% target. This also resulted in 1,100 
ambulance handover delays in December 2017 – although this improved to 700 in January 2018.

Our aim is to get patients to the right place at the right time, in order to ensure a good experience 
that can result in better clinical outcomes for our patients. That said, the A&E 4hr standard is 
regarded as a key system metric – indicating the importance to be placed on how well the wider 
health and social care community is functioning as a united system. We know there is much 

136



improvement to be made to processes within our local system and since Christmas this has been 
our primary focus, working closely with statutory partner bodies.

We are also currently working to an in-house improvement programme with the support of an 
expert group of professionals who have a track record for supporting other hospitals to achieve 
improvements, plus the national Emergency Care Improvement Programme team. The aim of 
this recovery action plan is to help the Trust recover the A&E 4hr performance and then sustain 
that improvement as we head out of winter.

Key areas of focus:
 Recruitment of Emergency Department / Urgent Care staff at both our main acute 

operating sites, including some additional clinical and operational posts.
 Focused work to enable clinical leaders within our emergency and urgent care service to 

regain their control of waiting times and patient flow despite the stepped increase in 
demand and staffing challenges.

 Improving the way we manage our emergency care pathways by introducing more 
efficient processes, for example changes to our Medical Assessment Unit and more 
activity channeled through our Ambulatory Care services.

 Working with our health and social care partners across Lincolnshire, Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough to reduce the number of patients with a delay to their transfer of care.

 Working with our Ambulance Trust colleagues to further reduce ambulance handover 
times by taking steps within the hospitals to speed up transfer of care and free up the 
paramedics. In support of this we are keen to ensure ambulance services are   optimising 
alternatives to transfer to A&E Departments, where safe and practicable to do so.

Planning for future activity
The NHS Planning Guidance for the financial year 2018-19 has recently been published. It 
highlights that the NHS needs to plan jointly with all providers and commissioners to agree activity 
and service plans. 

The guidance recognises that there will be an average 2.3% growth in emergency admissions 
and a 1.1% growth in A&E attendances – although Peterborough is forecast above average 
growth due to the growth in population. We will need to reflect this in our local plans. In addition, 
there is an expectation that elective activity will rise next year – a 4.9% growth in outpatient 
attendances, a 3.6% growth in elective admissions and a 0.8% growth in GP referrals.

Our Trust board is currently considering this guidance to understand the implications upon bed 
capacity plus the outpatients department.  

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 N/A This report has been provided for information

5. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

5.1 This report has been provided for information

6. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

6.1 This report has been provided for information

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 N/A  

8. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

137



8.1 N/A  

Legal Implications

8.2 N/A This report has been provided for information

Equalities Implications

8.3 N/A  

Rural Implications

8.4 N/A  

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

9.1 N/A  

10. APPENDICES

10.1 N/A  

138



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 8

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Head of Urgent and Emergency Care, Cambridge and Peterborough 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Contact Officer(s): Ian Weller Head of Urgent and Emergency Care Tel. 01480 387101

UPDATE ON THE SUCCESSES AND FAILURES OF INTEGRATED URGENT CARE 
1 YEAR ON

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S

     It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee note the contents of this report and 
acknowledge the actions being undertaken.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The report is being presented at the request of the Committee for an update on the status and 
performance of Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) service 1 year on.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 Update on the IUC service provided by Herts Urgent Care.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3, 
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council 
- Public Health and Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

In Oct 2017 following a procurement the CCG launched a new Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) service 
which saw the coming together of NHS 111 and Out of Hours (OOH) urgent primary care services, 
supported by a clinical hub, under a single provider contract with Herts Urgent Care (HUC).  

The C&P IUC was the first service of its kind across the NHS and was set up to provide a single 
service for patients to access for all their urgent care needs.  999 should be reserved for serious 
injury and life threatening illness only, which is provided by acute hospitals with all the necessary 
skills and equipment to deal with these types of presentations.

The aim of the service is to direct patients to the right service at the right time based on their level 
of need and to where possible direct patients away from unnecessary use of the A&E departments.  

The table below sets out how the IUC works and shows the patient’s journey through the system.

IUC is available 24/7 and starts when a patient calls NHS 111 (see fig 1).

139



Fig 1 NHS 111 Patient Journey

Initially the patient is greeted with a menu of 4 pre-recorded interactive voice messages (IVRs) see 
below.  This allows patients to select the most appropriate option for them.  For example, C&P 
CCG offer a dedicated mental health crisis First Response Service (FRS), which is accessed by 
pressing option 2.  This then automatically transfers patients to the FRS service located on the 
Hinchingbrooke site.  

 Option 1 – Speak to a Health Advisor 
 Option 2 – Speak to a Mental Health Practitioner as part of FRS
 Option 3 – Request call back/discuss repeat prescription
 Option 4 – Speak to a clinician (Healthcare Professionals only)

If the patient selects option 1 ‘speak to a Health Advisor’ then they will be asked some initial 
demographic information before being asked some questions associated with serious/life 
threatening conditions via module 0. These questions form part of a nationally approved/standard 
Clinical Decision Support Service (CDSS) algorithm use across all IUC services.

If the patient is deemed to need an emergency response following the initial module 0 assessment, 
then a (Red) ambulance is immediately dispatched.  If the patient need is deemed not an 
emergency, then they are then assessed using NHS Pathways modules 1 & 2 where further 
questions are asked to determine the final disposition (what level of advice or treatment the patient 
needs).  

Once a disposition has been determined the patient is then advised which service to use from the 
Directory of Services (DoS) and the patient’s location.  The DoS holds details of the service opening 
times and postcode and a brief description of what the service offers.  This is a key element of the 
service and supports the integration of care across the patch.

Furthermore, patients can be transferred to a clinical advisor (registered practitioner) at any time 
should this be needed to clarify any medical issues with a view to obtaining the most appropriate 
disposition.  

The Clinical Hub Service offers (at peak times) specialist advice and guidance to deal with the most 
common medical issues such as:

 Medication/repeat prescriptions
 Primary care related conditions
 Dental issues

140



During the Out of Hours (OOH) period, there are limited services available, apart from A&E and 
GP OOH services.  Patients, following a call to NHS 111 and the associated NHS Pathways 
assessment can get to see a GP at one of 4 service bases located at:

 Doddington (Doddington Hospital)
 Ely (North Cambs Hospital)
 Huntingdon (Hinchingbrooke Hospital)
 Peterborough (City Care Centre)
 Cambridge (Clinic 9 at CUH)

Normally, following a call from the OOHs GP be offered an appointment at their local base, however 
if needed home visits can be arranged as each base has a receptionist, car & driver.

The C&P IUC service provides a valuable and credible alternative to that of 999, which is available 
24/7 to meet all our patient’s urgent care needs.  The service is able to manage high volumes of 
calls and via the NHS Pathways triage system combined with the clinical hub place patients into 
the most appropriate service based on their need.  

The IUC has the potential to further to directly integrate with other UEC services such as urgent 
treatment centres/GP practices as well as offering digital enabled solutions to allow patients to 
access self-care advice, book appointments and/or consult with clinicians. These are exciting 
developments that are being taken forward over the coming months.

Call Volumes

In terms of the total number of calls handled by the NHS 111 telephony/call centre this is fairly 
static, over the last 2 years, as of Jan 2017/18 the total number of calls received was 194,672 
compared with 194,978 2016/17 over the same period.

However, during the OOH period the proportion of calls has increased by some 30% from 57, 443 
in Jan 2016/17 compared to 75,319 over the same time period 2017/18.  This has resulted in an 
increase in OOH activity whereby:

 Patients requiring a base visit has increased by 33% (22,447)
 Patients requiring a home visit has increased by 23% (9,912)
 Patients receiving advice and guidance only has increased by 29% (31,312)

In the main approximately half the number of calls received OOH are closed down on the phone 
by a clinician working within the clinical hub providing advice and guidance, thus precluding patients 
from having to attend a face to face (F2F) appointments.  

In terms of IUC service performance the service is failing to meet its key performance indicators 
table 1 highlights the latest performance (up until Dec 17).

Key metric Tgt Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17
Calls Answered 21,227 19,573 18,205 19,100 17,940 18,552 19,148 18,449 24,842
Calls Answered 
within 60 secs 18,714 17,755 16,545 17,072 16,504 16,923 17,168 16,624 20,711

% Answered within 
60 secs 95% 88.1% 90.71% 90.88% 89.3% 92.0% 91.2% 89.6% 90.1% 83.3%

Calls Triaged 17,747 16,199 15,060 15,822 14,532 15,176 17,467 18,446 24,701
Calls Requiring 
Warm Transfer to 
CA

4,807 4,506 4,193 4,113 3,585 3,784 4,517 4,831 6,113

Warm Transferred to 
Clinical Advisor 3,693 3,196 3,014 2,697 2,399 2,825 3,244 3,160 3,707

% Warm 
Transferred 75% 76.8% 70.9% 71.8% 65.5% 66.9% 74.6% 71.8% 65.4% 60.6%
Rate of Ambulance 
Dispatch per Calls 
triaged

10% 10.2% 11.6% 11.5% 11.2% 11.7% 11.8% 12.3% 13.7% 12.7%

Patients referred to 
ED by 111 1,572 1,584 1,634 11 1,482 1,491 1,567 1,666 2,143

Rate of Referral to 
ED per Calls 
Triaged

6% 8.8% 9.7% 10.8% 9.9% 10.2% 9.8% 8.9% 9.0% 8.6%

Table 1 summary of IUC performance

141



Issues affecting the IUC service performance

There are a number of key issues affecting the IUC service performance.  Predominantly these are 
associated with the increasing number of calls coming into NHS 111 and the workforce required to 
process these calls.  In particular, the significant challenge associated with recruiting GPs to work 
shifts in out of Hours (OOH) 1830 – 0830, despite HUC offering favourable remuneration terms & 
conditions.  This can be attributed to 2 issues, namely;

 High cost of indemnity (GP insurance cover required to allow them to work in OOH), 
although GPs do receive financial support over winter from NHSE via the Winter Indemnity 
Scheme (WIS).

 Pressure associated with the Primary Care GP day job putting GPs off from working in 
OOHs

In addition, there is a high turnover of call handlers (Health Advisors) and Clinical Advisors this 
coupled with above average sickness rates means that there is a constant recruitment and retention 
challenge.

From a quality & safety perspective the key issues affecting the service currently are;

 General management of controlled drugs (recording & licensing)
 Clinical staff not fully compliant with all mandatory training requirements
 Some gaps in Nurse leadership due to recruitment
 Lack of dedicated Head of Service affecting the continuity of service delivery

In terms of recovering performance against the specified contracted targets, remedial action plans 
are in place and are monitored monthly.  Both CCG and HUC management & clinical leads are 
working together daily to improve the service for patients.

Patient Feedback 

Overall patient feedback about the service is positive, all comments received are reviewed monthly 
and actions taken where necessary.  The latest NHS Friends & Family Test survey Dec 17, 
highlighted the following 

88% of the patients who responded to the surveys would be either extremely likely or likely 
to recommend HUC’s services to friends and family if they needed similar care or treatment

There were 18 complaints received in Dec, against an average of 14, all complaints were 
acknowledged within 3 working days.

Examples of positive comments from patients;

 I have visited the out of hours centre a few times and have always been treated quickly 
and sympathetically.”

 “Excellent service, very short waiting time, excellent staff.”

 Very good services provided but waiting room is quite small. This is the only issue at 
Peterborough out of hours GP clinic.”

 “Efficient - doctor called back very quickly, he was reassuring and issued a 
prescription already aware of current medical situation - medication being taken.”

 “Although the nurse did not return our call as quickly as the operator said, when she did 
reply she was extremely certain that we should go to A&E and was very, very helpful. I 
would use the service again.”

142



 “I was ill outside of normal surgery hours, so no option but to use the out of hour’s 
service. However, it was very efficient. I was dealt with quite quickly.”

Examples of negative comments from patients;

 “Overall, service was good, pleasant reception staff and not long waiting time. My 
appointment however, was poor and pointless. No outcome or reassurance, left my 
appointment confused with no answers and a prescription for medication I previously was 
on which did not work and after tests, found I did not need. Poor communication - doctor 
suggested I have specific blood tests - booked in with my GP week later and no notes 
about bloods on system!?  Very disappointed.”

Future Developments (Gap Analysis)

In November 2017 NHSE issued a national specification describing what future IUC services should 
offer to patients and how they should operate.  The CCG has undertaken an exercise that maps 
the current service against the requirements & criteria set out in the specification to create a gap 
analysis.  The CCG has until to October 2019 to implement these changes; the key change areas 
are highlighted below;

 Linking social care access to NHS 111via IVR and to integrate services onto the DoS so 
that patients calling with a social care need can be directed to the most appropriate service 
without the need to call the social care helpline

 Directly bookable appointments to UTCs/MIUs/Dental services
 Improved clinical hub to allow more calls (target 50% by Mar 18) to be transferred to a 

clinician(s)
 Electronic prescribing to the nearest pharmacy to the patient which will require a national 

software update to the NHS 111 clinical system
 Implementing an NHS 111 Online digital solution offering patients access to remote triage 

from their mobile/tablet (pilot planned for March 18)

In Summary

The Integrated Urgent Care service is a vital part of the NHS’s urgent care response. While our 
service is challenged in terms of workforce and demand, we are working closely with Herts Urgent 
Care to continue to improve the service.

4. CONSULTATION

4.1 N/A

5. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

5.1 Linking social care to NHS 111 going forward.

6. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

6.1 National requirement.

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

7.1 N/A

8. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

8.1 None

143



Legal Implications

8.2 None

Equalities Implications

8.3 N/A

Rural Implications

N/A

9. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

9.1 None

10. APPENDICES

10.1 None

144



 

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 9

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Marek Zamborsky and Lee Miller
Head of Adult Mental Health, 
Learning Disability Commissioning and Contracting,
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Head of Transformation and Commissioning (Children and 
Maternity), Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Contact Officer(s): Communications and Engagement Team, Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough CCG

Tel. 01223 725304

BRIEFING UPDATE ON KEY CURRENT LOCAL MENTAL HEALTH WORKSTREAMS

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM:   Marek Zamborsky, Head of Adult Mental Health, 
Learning Disability Commissioning and Contracting,
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Lee Miller, Head of Transformation and Commissioning 
(Children and Maternity), Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Clinical Commissioning Group

Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee notes this update report on the 2017-18 
deliverables of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) Mental Health Strategy Document 
“Working together for Mental Health in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough – a framework for the next 
five years”.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 This report was produced at the request of the Health Scrutiny Committee.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This report is to update the Health Scrutiny Committee on mental health commissioning in and 
around Peterborough.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference Part 3, 
Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph No. 2.1 Functions determined by Council 
- Public Health and Scrutiny of the NHS and NHS providers.

3. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

3.1 INTRODUCTION

145



This briefing paper updates the Committee on the main NHS deliverables for 2017/18, as defined 
by the national policy (Five Year Forward View for Mental Health) and local mental health strategy, 
in particular:

 Collaborative work for mental health commissioning across NHS and local authorities  
 Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) performance 
 Early Intervention in Psychosis services
 Mental health crisis services 
 Enhanced Primary Care Services for Mental Health, known locally as PRISM
 Access of young people to mental health services
 Access of young people to eating disorder services.

Collaborative work for mental health commissioning across NHS and local authorities  

The STP Mental Health Strategy Group provides the opportunity for commissioners of services 
for children, young people, and adults of all ages from Peterborough City Council, 
Cambridgeshire County Council and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG):

 to meet with service user and carer representatives and Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough NHS Foundation Trust (CPFT) as the main mental health services provider

 to agree and progress priorities, and to develop a strategic view of the current status of 
services and priorities for improvement

 to provide both co-ordination between the many and varied mental health service 
developments and initiatives underway across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough

 to interface with the STP workstreams in which specific improvement areas for mental 
health services feature e.g. Urgent and Emergency Care, Primary Care and Peri-natal 
mental health care.

All mental health services commissioned by Peterborough City Council, Cambridgeshire County 
Council and the CCG have been mapped – service type, provider, and investment. The next step 
is to analyse this across Cambridgeshire and Peterborough and identify and address gaps, 
synergies, and duplication. This mapping is being used to inform the re-tendering of the 
Wellbeing and Recovery and Employment services through which approaches to joint 
commissioning are being tested.

3.4 Main NHS deliverables for 2017/18

Local areas must plan to deliver in full the implementation plan for the Five Year Forward View for 
Mental Health, including commitments to improve access to and availability of mental health 
services across the age range, develop community services, taking pressure off inpatient settings, 
and provide people with holistic care, recognising their mental and physical health needs.

The Mental Health Plan introduces incremental changes to mental health services during the period 
of five years, starting from 2015/16 until 2020/21, with specific targets for each year. 

The main priorities for 2017/18 and performance associated with these priorities are set out below.

Psychological Therapies 

We need to ensure that 16.8% of people with anxiety and depression access treatment to 
psychological therapies. This means an increase of 1.8% from 2016/17. 

For our CCG this means:

Number of people 18+ with 
depression and/or anxiety:

93,934

Target (%): 16.8%
Target (number): 15,781

146



Our performance:

We need to ensure that of those who are referred to psychological services, 75% do not wait 
more than six weeks and 95% do not wait more than 18 weeks for treatment. 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD
Actual 
(Volume) 3,405 3,611 3,765  10,781

Actual 
(%) 3.62% 3.84% 4.01%  11.48%

Plan 
(Volume) 3,600 3,600 3,600 3,600 10,800

Pan (%)
3.83% 3.83% 3.83% 3.83% 11.50%

Variance 
to Plan 
(Volume)

-195 11 165  -19

Variance 
to Plan 
(%)

-5.73% 0.30% 4.38%  -0.18%

147



Our performance for six week wait:

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD
Number 
receiving 
first 
treatment 
appointment 
in six weeks 
or less. 
(Actual)

1374 1613 1439  4426

Total 
(Actual) 1580 1820 1580 0 4980

Percentage 
(Actual) 87.0% 88.6% 91.1%  88.9%
Number 
receiving 
first 
treatment 
appointment 
<=six 
weeks. 
(Plan)

1350 1350 1350 1350 5400

Total (plan) 1800 1800 1800 1800 7200
Percentage 
(plan) 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0% 75.0%

148



Our performance for 18 week wait: 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD
Number 
receiving 
1st 
treatment 
appointment 
in 19 weeks 
or less 
weeks. 
(Actual)

1544 1776 1560  4880

Total 
(Actual) 1580 1820 1580 0 4980

Percentage 
(Actual) 97.7% 97.6% 98.7%  98.0%

Number 
receiving 
1st 
treatment 
appointment 
<=18 
weeks. 
(Plan)

1,710 1,710 1,710 1,710 6840

Total (plan)
1,800 1,800 1,800 1,800 7200

Percentage 
(plan) 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0% 95.0%

We need to ensure that at least 50% of those who enter treatment show clinical signs of recovery.

149



Our performance (please note that the national average is 46%):

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD

Actual 50.07% 48.25% 49.12%  49.10%

Plan 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

Other information to note:

 The CCG was successful, as one of the only two sites in the East of England, in 
securing the transformational fund to support expansion of psychological therapies for 
people with long-term conditions, specifically diabetes, heart conditions, and respiratory 
conditions. 

 Our service delivery in this area was recognised by NHS England as an example of 
outstanding practice, championed by the Mental Health National Clinical Director and 
published in the Health Service Journal. 

Early Intervention in Psychosis Services 

We need to ensure that at least 53% of people who experience first symptoms of psychosis enter 
specialist treatment within two weeks of being referred.  

Our performance:

3.5       Additional Main Mental Health Projects 

3.5.1 Crisis Prevention

The Crisis Care Delivery Manager’s role was extended for another year to support the work of the 
Mental Health Crisis Concordat Group. Significant work has been undertaken to improve the crisis 
and acute pathway within and at the front end of secondary services through the First Response 
Service (FRS) development.

150



3.5.2 First Response Service for Mental Health Crisis

The model is live and operating. The FRS provides immediate telephone triage and support for 
people in mental health crisis. The service welcomes referrals from everyone in the CCG’s area 
of all ages and is accessed through 111 and selecting option 2 (which diverts directly to the 
service, avoiding the need to go through usual 111 triage pathway).

Impact of the service:

 The service has demonstrated an immediate decline in the use of A&E for mental health 
with a 20% reduction in attendance despite the local context of many years of rapidly 
increasing figures. 

 There has also been a 26% reduction in the numbers of mental health patients admitted 
to acute hospitals from A&E. 

 Reduced ambulance call outs, assessments, and conveyances to A&E for mental health 
patients 

 Reduced need for Out of Hours (OOH) GPs to see mental health emergencies

 Positive impact on the urgent and emergency care system is predicted to increase once the 
service becomes more established.

The service is now responding to people previously unknown to traditional mental health 
services, meaning we are starting to treat our future mental health populations today. This has 
created a public expectation on the health system to achieve parity of esteem for mental health.

The service has changed the way that our patients and professionals are using services. Health 
visitors, drug and alcohol services, and GPs now have a service to which they can refer people 
which means a reduction in their time.

3.5.3 Suicide Prevention 

The information in this section is from the report to the Peterborough Health and Wellbeing 
Board. The suicide prevention strategy has been refreshed for 2017-2020 and the action plan has 
been updated with an aim to reduce suicide rates by 10% from 2016/17 numbers. The work is 
coordinated by the Public Health and local authority Mental Health Commissioning Teams, 
supported by the CCG. 

A new bereavement support service for people bereaved by suicide has been implemented and 

151



is receiving referrals. Training in suicide prevention for GPs is in development with planned roll-
out from April 2018. Other workstreams are continuing for example, the STOP suicide campaign 
and website and suicide prevention (ASIST) training.

A Zero Suicide Ambition now underpins the Suicide Prevention Strategy. A proposal that delivery 
of this ambition and the Suicide Prevention Strategy should be governed by the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Safeguarding Executive will be considered at the May meeting of that group. 
This will give both initiatives senior support and guidance. 

The Zero Suicide initiative will also aim to drive up quality of care by facilitating a learning culture 
and forum for suicide prevention, whereby both good and bad practice examples will be shared 
between organisations.

Where are we starting from?

Indicator
Peter
borou
gh 
trend

Current 
status

Current 
time 
period

Peterborou
gh current 
(#)

Peterbor
ough 
current 
(indicator 
value)

England 
value

Suicide rate - 
persons 
(directly 
standardised 
rate per 
100,000)

▲
Statistically 
similar to 
England

2014-16 54 10.9 9.9

Suicide rate - 
males 
(directly 
standardised 
rate per 
100,000)

▼
Statistically 
similar to 
England

2014-16 36 14.2 15.3

Suicide rate - 
females 
(directly 
standardised 
rate per 
100,000)

-
Statistically 
similar to 
England

2014-16 18 7.7 4.8

3.6   Enhanced Mental Health Primary Care Services (PRISM)

The PRISM service is improving mental health service delivery in primary care and support to GPs 
to manage service users aged 17-65 with mental health problems, usually of moderate to high 
severity, where the service user’s needs can be met appropriately in a primary care setting. 

The service is arranged into 12 PRISM virtual teams, each one providing service to a group of 
between five and 12 GP surgeries. Each GP surgery in Peterborough has access to the resources 
of the PRISM team. 

The First Phase – Core Team Roll out Across the CCG

The first phase of PRISM commenced roll out from May 2017. This phase included the roll out of 
the service where mental health staff are aligned to and working in GP practices.  

The staffing model rolled out provides:

 Primary Care Mental Health Practitioners
 Mental Health Liaison Practitioners
 Peer Support Workers

152



 Administration staff. 

The roll out of PRISM was completed at the end of December 2017 and the service is now running 
in all surgeries across the CCG’s area. For some areas PRISM has been running for over six 
months, whereas others have recently commenced with the service.

The roll out started in Huntingdon and Peterborough, followed by the Cambridge surgeries.

Early Outcomes from Phase One

There is a small subset of data available from GP surgeries with PRISM. Initial feedback and data 
shows:

 the time to assessment has dropped from 17.76 days in September 2016 to 12.96 days in 
November 2017. 

 positive GP feedback on consultant involvement and pilot of case discussions.
 a reduction in referrals to secondary care. The following chart shows referrals to secondary 

care from PRISM where a GP surgery now has the PRISM service compared to baseline 
data from 2016. On average there is a 50% reduction: 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17

PRISM

Baseline data 2016

Number of referrals to CPFT before and after introduction of PRISM 

GP survey/feedback so far

Improved GP experience of mental health services is another of the PRISM aims, therefore we 
have asked 50 of the early implementer GP practices for their views on the service and will 
continue to monitor feedback on an ongoing basis.

We are working on a GP communication outlining the feedback and the solutions going forward. 
Phase 2 of PRISM is now underway and includes realignment of consultants and secondary care 
locality teams which will increase the availability of specialist advice, support, and interventions 

Next Phases

The continued development of PRISM will be through delivery of Phase 2 and will include supporting 
people to step down from secondary care services when there is clinical agreement between primary 
and secondary care. Evidence-based interventions will be clearly defined and guidelines on where 
these will be provided put in place so that expectations of the service are realistic. 

Phase 2 will be achieved by increasing capacity in secondary care as a result of a reduction in 
assessments allowing increased treatment and developing/following robust relapse prevention 
plans. Phases 2 and 3 will incorporate the redesign of the Adult Locality Teams and alignment with 
PRISM teams, thereby enhancing the overall provision of community mental health services to 
people in the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough area.

153



Associated developments with PRISM

New wellbeing service – linked to Phase 2 service development 

A re-tender of the local authority and CCG third sector service portfolio (in the region of £1m, no 
change to current cost envelope) is being undertaken jointly by the CCG and our two local 
authorities. 

A draft wellbeing service specification has been developed which focuses on services that will fully 
integrate with PRISM and provide additional support e.g. for patients with personality disorder. Key 
priorities include: preventative services, post discharge support, and trusted assessment enabling 
PRISM staff to directly book into the appropriate third sector service without the need for multiple 
assessments.

The CCG financial contribution ensures equitable resources for the Peterborough population. 

Physical Health Checks

One of the aims of PRISM is to improve the physical health outcomes of patients with Serious 
Mental Illness (psychoses) by providing physical health checks with a focus on the PRISM worker 
supporting patients to attend the health check appointment and actively engage with interventions 
e.g. smoking cessation service.

A PRISM physical health HCA role is being piloted at Boroughbury Medical Centre to investigate 
how this might work in terms of the patient pathway and commissioning, contracting, and 
governance issues. 

Other developments include PRISM pharmacist, GP clinic population pilot, and Digital Technology 
considerations. 

3.7   Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)

Access Target for Children

We need to deliver more high-quality mental health services for children and young people so that 
at least 32% of children with a diagnosable condition are able to access evidence-based services 
by April 2019, including all areas being part of Children and Young People Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (CYP IAPT) by 2018.

Our Performance 

The performance data is from CPFT Child and Adolescent Mental Health (CAMH) data and it is 
noted to be behind target. The CCG is in discussion with CPFT to understand the rationale and the 
plan to pull back the figures by year end. The NHS access target is calculated nationally from the 
mental health services data set; however, our current figures only include CAMH services. The 
overall target is compiled from a range of providers of evidence based interventions and work 
continues both locally and with the national data team to ensure this information is collected and 
counted to truly reflect the number of young people accessing mental health support.

Apr
-17

Ma
y-
17

Jun
-17

Jul-
17

Aug
-17

Sep
-17

Oct
-17

Nov
-17

Dec
-17

Jan
-18

Feb
-18

Mar
-18

17/1
8 - 
Total 
new 
CYP

17/18 
- Total 
Indivi
dual 
CYP

n 152 186 207 164 155 181 179 205 131    1560 TBC 
at YE

Target 184 184 184 184 184 184 184 184 184 184 184 184 2208  
Variance -32 2 23 -20 -29 -3 -5 21 -53    -96  

154



Eating Disorder Services for Children and Young People 

We need to commission community eating disorder teams so that 95% of children and young people 
receive treatment within four weeks of referral for routine cases and one week for urgent cases. 
Attached to this report at Appendix 1 is a report given to Cambridgeshire Health Scrutiny Committee 
by Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Foundation Trust following the Health Service Ombudsman’s 
report into the care and treatment provided for Averil Hart. Averil died on 15th December 2012, 
following a four year history of anorexia nervosa and the Ombudsman’s report looked at the care 
provided by a number of organisations. 

Our Performance 

All young people awaiting an urgent referral are seen within one week, which is the national target.  
There is a delay in those awaiting a routine appointment within four weeks and we are working with 
CPFT to understand and address this drop in performance.

Length of time in weeks that patients have waited for an assessment where referral urgency is 
Urgent (<= 7 days)

Actual numbers

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18
2017/18 Year 

to date
0-1 week 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 3
1-2 weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
2-3 weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
3-4 weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5-6 weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6-7 weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7-8 weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8+weeks 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 3
Within Target 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 3
Within Target % 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%
Target 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%

Length of time in weeks that patients have waited for an assessment where referral urgency is 
Routine target is 4 weeks (<= 28 days)

Actual numbers

Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17 Aug-17 Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18

2017/18 
Year to 

date
0-1 week 2 3 2 3 1 3 7 2 23
1-2 weeks 1 3 3 5 1 2 5 3 23
2-3 weeks 2 1 2 1 6
3-4 weeks 1 1 1 1 1 2 7
4-5 weeks 1 1 2
5-6 weeks 1 1 1 2 5
6-7 weeks 1 2 1 4
7-8 weeks 1 1
8+weeks 2 2 1 1 1 1 8
Total 6 6 7 12 11 7 13 12 7 77
Within Target 4 4 5 9 7 6 11 9 4 59
Within Target % 66.67% 66.67% 71.43% 75.00% 63.64% 85.71% 84.62% 75.00% 57.14% 76.62%
Target 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%

A few examples of use of Mental Health Services in Peterborough

155



3.9.1   Referrals to the First Response Service – Community Crisis Support Services 

Of the registered CCG Peterborough practice population 1.55% have accessed our crisis 
response service so far. This is lower compared to the rest of localities. 

This is an increase from 0.75% access rate from the last report. 

This increase is showing that the dedicated BME access workers operating specifically in the 
Peterborough area are having an impact on the crisis care access rates. 

Locality Count Population 
(Practice)

Percentage

01 - Borderline 1556 110414 1.41%
02 - CamHealth Integrated Care 1313 88523 1.48%
03 - CATCH 3596 232910 1.54%
04 - Hunts Health 1263 70003 1.80%
05 - Hunts Care Partnership 1979 123338 1.60%
06 - Isle of Ely Health 
Consortium

1662 95996 1.73%

07 - Wisbech Practices 411 48424 0.85%
08 - Peterborough City 2246 144779 1.55%
Practice Unknown 623 - -

Basic demographic profile of patients accessing Mental Health Crisis Care First Response 
Service in Peterborough

 Twice as many women as men access crisis care services. 
 Significant majority of the people accessing the service are aged 18-64.
 Please note the November to January increase in calls to mental health crisis services. 

This is in line with the service modelling due to:

 Higher prevalence of mental illness among women.
 The service started as an adults service, with access to children’s services still being 

implemented. 
 Winter months account for increased activity levels across the NHS.

 
Gender / 
Age

Apr-
17

May
-17

Jun-
17

Jul-
17

Aug
-17

Sep
-17

Oct-
17

Nov
-17

Dec
-17

Jan-
18

Feb-
18

Gran
d 

Total
Female       765 974 940 935 807 817 844 954 971 105

4
189 9250

  0-15 4 9 10 4 8 16 14 13 11 8 3 100
  16-17 20 33 27 18 22 35 21 28 15 20 5 244
  18-64 702 868 849 859 710 709 746 857 886 958 172 8316
  65plus 39 64 54 54 67 57 63 56 59 68 9 590
Male  457 542 533 539 538 530 501 535 514 571 132 5392
  0-15 6 10 12 8 6 14 10 13 8 18 105
  16-17 12 13 12 5 14 5 17 15 11 18 3 125
  18-64 401 467 457 487 471 473 434 459 458 497 117 4721
  65plus 38 52 52 39 47 38 40 48 37 38 12 441
Unknown     2 2 4
  18-64 2 2 4

156



Gender / 
Age

Apr-
17

May
-17

Jun-
17

Jul-
17

Aug
-17

Sep
-17

Oct-
17

Nov
-17

Dec
-17

Jan-
18

Feb-
18

Gran
d 

Total
Not 
Specified   

1 2 3

  18-64 1 2 3
Grand 
Total

122
2

151
6

147
3

147
4

134
5

134
7

134
7

149
0

148
7

162
7

321 1464
9

3.9.2    Psychological Therapies

Number of people entering the treatment in 2017/18 to 6 February 2018

GP Area Referrals/ Entering 
Treatment

Cambridge 4734 42.61%
Fenland 1124 10.12%
Herts 349 3.14%
Huntingdon 2124 19.12%
Peterborough 2780 25.02%
Total 11,111 100.00%

Intensity of Treatment Breakdown

Referrals into low (step2) and high (step3) intensity treatment
GP Area Step 2 Step 3 Total
Cambridge 4738 70.16% 2015 29.84% 6753
Fenland 1055 68.33% 489 31.67% 1544
Herts 366 65.47% 193 34.53% 559
Huntingdon 2086 69.65% 909 30.35% 2995
Peterborough 2358 69.39% 1040 30.61% 3398
Total 10603 69.53% 4646 30.47% 15249

Step 2 treatment is mild depression and anxiety,
Step 3 is more moderate and some severe depression and anxiety that does not need specialist 
secondary care.

Referrals Source

People in Peterborough tend to utilise GP referral more that self-referral compared to other 
localities: 

GP Area GP Self Other
Cambridge 9.67% 82.33% 8.00%
Fenland 7.26% 81.48% 11.26%
Herts 13.47% 79.08% 7.45%
Huntingdon 11.08% 80.54% 8.38%
Peterborough 13.96% 73.20% 12.85%
Total 10.93% 79.42% 9.65%

157



3.10 SUMMARY

The implementation of the new service models is progressing well, although there remain many 
operational challenges ahead. 

The CCG is working in full partnership with the local authorities’ mental health and Public Health 
commissioning and other stakeholders, including voluntary sector organisations. 

The local Mental Health and Learning Disability NHS service is on track to meet all the 2017/18 
national performance targets, although maintaining quality and patients’ experience remains a 
challenge in the current financial climate. 

The focus of children’s services is to ensure implementation of transformation plans and ensure 
that local performance targets are recovered. 

The CCG and the local authorities, in addition to the national requirements, are implementing two 
significant services to support early intervention and holistic mental health care one the one hand, 
and a very proactive community based crisis care service on the other hand. These services are 
crucial for the local mental health sustainability. 

4. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985

4.1 Five Year Forward View for MH services: 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-
final.pdf

Implementing the Five Year Forward View:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/fyfv-mh.pdf

Working together for Mental Health in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough – a framework for the 
next five years (attached).

5. APPENDICES

  Appendix 1 – Cambridgeshire Health Committee Report dated 16 January 2018

158

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/fyfv-mh.pdf


 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Report for Cambridgeshire Health Committee 

 

Subject: 
Response of CPFT to the Health Service Ombudsman’s 
report regarding the investigation into a complaint made 
by Mr Nic Hart 

Date: 16th January 2018 

Author: Tracy Dowling Chief Executive 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 The Health Service Ombudsman for England investigated the complaint made by Mr 
Nic Hart. The complaint was in relation to the care and treatment provided for his 
daughter, Averil Hart. Averil died on 15th December 2012 following a four year history 
of anorexia nervosa. The complaint regarded the care provided by a number of 
organisations.  
 
This report relates only to the care provided Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Foundation Trust (CPFT). The complaint was also about the response Mr Hart and his 
family received from each NHS organisation. Again this report only relates to the 
findings relating to the complaint administration by CPFT.  
 
The Ombudsman’s report found that there were actions undertaken by CPFT which fell 
so far short of established good practice and the applicable guidance, that there was 
service failure.  
 
The report recognises the challenges the complaint presented in terms of complexity, 
scope, the serious nature of what had happened and the resulting emotion involved, 
but concluded that CPFT repeatedly failed to provide full written answers to Mr Hart’s 
questions, and that CPFT’s response to the formal complaint was significantly delayed. 
The Ombudsman therefore also found that there was maladministration of Mr Hart’s 
complaint by CPFT.  
  
Averil had been an inpatient on the S3 eating Disorders Unit run by CPFT on the 
Cambridge University Hospitals Addenbrooke’s site.  
Averil was discharged on 2nd August 2012, and was referred for follow –up by the 
Norfolk Community Eating Disorders Service (NCEDS) as Averil was due to 
commence at the University of East Anglia on Sunday 23rd September 2012. This 
service is also run by CPFT.  
 
 

  

159



 

2 
 

2. SERVICE FAILINGS FOUND AND ACTIONS TAKEN TO ADDRESS THE SERVICE 
FAILINGS 

 This section of the report aims to set out the service failings identified by the serious 
incident review and the Ombudsman’s report. It also states the actions which have 
been taken to address these failings.  
 
Discharge and transfer of care 

1. The risk assessment carried out at the time of Averil’s discharge was not robust 
or explicit enough. It should have included a contingency plan to follow if Averil’s 
condition deteriorated. 

2. The care coordinator from NCEDS should have attended Averil’s Care Planning 
Approach (CPA) meetings on the Eating Disorder Unit 

3. Averil should have been offered weekly appointments to be weighed during the 
interim period. 

4. Despite the efforts of the staff involved, staff shortages meant a gap in therapy 
and support for Averil at a very vulnerable time. 

 
Action taken:  
A care planning policy has been written for transfer or transition of care. 
Protocols have been signed up to and all transfers of service users between 
teams or services should now include a CPA meeting attended by 
representatives of the teams and external agencies, and carer / family who will 
be involved in the treatment pathway.  
This was developed in July 2014, reviewed and amended in November 2016 
and reviewed in April 2017.  
 
Weekly audits of CPA were carried out until care plans were meeting a 90% 
compliance standard for 4 weeks. This was achieved by December 2013.  
 
Non CPA care plans were also audited monthly until Trust standards were 
achieved.  
 
Staff completed Clinical Risk Level 2 training.  
 
A procedure for managing people on the waiting list has been developed, 
implemented and revised.   

 
 

Appointment of the NCEDS Care Coordinator 
1. The records kept of clinical supervision of the care co-ordinator were scant and 

poorly kept.  
2. The care co-ordinator should have had the benefit of support from a multi-

disciplinary team from the outset. 
3. Holiday leave cover should have been arranged to ensure Averil’s weekly 

monitoring continued whilst the care co-ordinator was on holiday 
 

Action taken: 
Specific guidelines about the clinical capacity of different staff, and the level of 
autonomy in decision making which they can exercise, have been produced and 
implemented. There are explicit criteria for clinical review of junior staff working 
involving direct contact with the client, and the notes.  

160



 

3 
 

These guidelines were implemented in June 2013, reviewed in December 2013 
and in February 2015.  
 
A high risk patient register has been produced and team guidelines have been 
developed, implemented and revised for the management of high risk patients.  
The guidelines include: 

 Documented weekly discussion in the multidisciplinary team (MDT) with a 
senior clinician present 

 A plan for monitoring the relevant clinical indicators 

 Specific triggers for senior review in the event of inter-current events 

 Specific triggers for action 

 Liaison with other healthcare workers including the GP 

 Explicit documentation of the rationale for the clinical decisions taken at 
each MDT. 

The revision to the guideline added that patients designated as high risk who 
are deteriorating and requiring weekly weighing by NCEDS are seen by another 
member of the NCEDS team for review when their therapist is away ( e.g. on 
holiday).  
 

Communications between NCEDS and the UEA medical centre 
1. Where care is shared, in this case with the UEA medical Centre, steps should 

be taken to establish effective two-way communication. This did not happen.  
 

Action taken: 
A guideline on medical monitoring has been written for GPs. 
North Norfolk CCG has commissioned an enhanced service from their GPs for 
medical monitoring. A protocol has also been written for patients of any GPs who 
do not participate in the enhanced service. Arrangements for liaison are explicitly 
stated. Arrangements for liaison are explicitly stated in the Policy for the 
Management of High Risk Patients.  
The recommendations for medical monitoring has been standardised in the high 
risk protocol.  
 
 

 
Lack of clarity about the role of the CPFT healthcare assistant when Averil was 
admitted to Cambridge University Hospital.  

1. The healthcare assistant deployed to ensure Averil did not display any 
behaviours to sabotage treatment, did not provide assistance with Averil’s 
physical care. This should have been explained at the time and it is 
recommended that this assistant could have provided more support or flagged 
that her role was no longer needed.  

 
Actions taken: 
An adult eating disorder service policy regarding the involvement of carers in patient 
care for patients whose condition is currently life threatening was written in May 2013 
and amended in November 2013.  
 
 
 

  

161



 

4 
 

3 FURTHER ACTIONS FOLLOWING RECEIPT OF THE OMBUDSMANS REPORT 
WITH REGARD TO THE MANAGEMENT OF COMPLAINTS 

  
The Trust has developed a Duty of Candour Policy which was not in place at the time 
of Averil’s death. This came into use on 1st October 2014.  
 
The Trust is also in the process of developing an approach to ‘learn from deaths’. This 
is a national requirement and as part of our approach in CPFT we have appointed a 
Family Liaison officer to support bereaved families.  
 
As part of our work on Zero Suicide the Trust is also considering how we support, and 
respond to bereaved families at this most difficult of times. This will include how we 
respond at the time of an incident, how we investigate with some independence, and 
how we demonstrate openness to failings in care and work with staff to support them in 
addressing any issues found.  
 
The speed with which formal complaints are responded to is not within NHS guidelines 
and there is an action plan in place to address this. As each complaint is signed off by 
the Chief Executive I have direct oversight of progress with this work.  
 
 

4 CONCLUSION 

 Averil Hart’s death was an injustice and there were service failings and mal - 
administration of the complaint received from her Father.  
 
CPFT accept the findings of the Ombudsman’s report and have taken actions to 
address these service failings. We continue to work to ensure that we can be assured 
that services are being systematically delivered in accordance with these policies and 
with good practice, and that staff are supported in delivering good services to some of 
our most vulnerable patients. 
 
The Insight  Report published at the same time as the Ombudsman’s Report 
demonstrates that there are challenges experienced across the country in the provision 
of eating disorder services. Some of the recommendations will require national action. 
CPFT is keen to engage with this work and to continue to learn from Averil’s case, and 
to share this learning with other services.   
 
CPFT apologise for the failings in Averil’s care and for the failings in the administration 
of the complaint. We will continue to ensure that these issues are addressed, and that 
monitoring is in place to provide the assurance of this.  
 

 
Author: Tracy Dowling 
Title: Chief Executive 
Date: 9th January 2018 
 
  

162



 

5 
 

Appendix 1: Summary of the Eating Disorder Services provided by CPFT 
 
 

1. Norfolk Community Eating Disorder Services (NCEDS) commissioned by Norfolk 

CCG - A service for over 18’s that will optimise quality and value for patients with 

Eating Disorders across Norfolk, excluding the localities managed by NHS Great 

Yarmouth and Waveney CCG. The service aims to improve both life expectancy and 

quality of life for adults with an eating disorder as locally as possible. 

2. Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Community Eating Disorder Services 

(CPCEDS) commissioned by C&PCCG -A service for over 18’s offering specialist 

assessment and psychological interventions to adults with eating disorders. Provides 

service for adults with moderate to severe eating disorders including anorexia 

nervosa, bulimia nervosa, and eating disorders not other specified  including binge 

eating disorder. 

3. Adult inpatient eating disorder interventions (Ward S3 Addenbrookes) 

commissioned by NHSE - Ward S3 is a 14 bed mixed-sex in-patient unit for adults 

aged 18-plus, based at Addenbrookes Hospital in Cambridge. It is a specialist unit for 

individuals with an eating disorder who have been assessed by the community team 

and are considered to need a more intensive approach to the treatment of their eating 

disorder 

4. Children and Young People inpatient eating disorder interventions (The Phoenix 

Centre, Darwin Site) commissioned by NHSE - The Phoenix Centre offers inpatient 

and day treatment programmes for young people (age 13-18) with complex eating 

disorders whose needs cannot be met by generic child and adolescent mental health 

services or their community CAMHS or community specialist eating disorder service 

 

163



This page is intentionally left blank

164



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No. 10

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Interim Director of Law and Governance 
Contact Officer(s): Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer / Joanna 

Morley, Democratic Services Officer
Tel. 01733 452508
Tel: 01733 452468

MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Interim Director of Law and Governance Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee:

1. Considers the responses from Cabinet Members and Officers to recommendations made at 
previous meetings as attached in Appendix 1 to the report and provides feedback including 
whether further monitoring of each recommendation is required.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The Health Scrutiny Committee agreed at a meeting held on 19 June 2017 that a report be 
provided at each meeting to note the outcome of any recommendations made at the previous 
meeting held thereby providing an opportunity for the Committee to request further monitoring of 
the recommendation should this be required.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 The report enables the Scrutiny Committee to monitor and track progress of recommendations
made to the Executive or Officers at previous meetings.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph 3.3:

The Scrutiny Committees will:

(a) Review and scrutinise the Executive, Committee and officer decisions and 
performance in connection with the discharge of any of the Council’s functions;

(b) Review and scrutinise the Council’s performance in meeting the aims of its policies 
and performance targets and/or particular service areas;

(c) Question Members of the Executive, Committees and senior officers about their 
decisions and performance of the Council, both generally and in relation to 
particular decisions or projects;

(d) Make recommendations to the Executive and the Council as a result of the scrutiny 
process.

165



3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND 

4.1

4.2

Appendix 1 of the report sets out the recommendations made to Cabinet Members or Officers at 
previous meetings of the Scrutiny Committee.   It also contains summaries of any action taken by 
Cabinet Members or Officers in response to the recommendations.

The progress status for each recommendation is indicated and if the Scrutiny Committee confirms 
acceptance of the items marked as completed they will be removed from the list.  In cases where 
action on the recommendation is outstanding or the Committee does not accept the matter has 
been adequately completed it will be kept on the list and reported back to the next meeting of the 
Committee.  It will remain on the list until such time as the Committee accepts the 
recommendation as completed.  

5. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

5.1 Timelier monitoring of recommendations made will assist the Scrutiny Committee in assessing 
the impact and consequence of the recommendations.

6. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

6.1 To assist the Committee in assessing the impact and consequence of recommendations made 
at previous meetings.

7. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

7.1 Minutes of meetings held on 4 September 2017 and 6 November 2017

8. APPENDICES

8.1 Appendix 1 – Monitoring Recommendations 

166



APPENDIX 1 - RECOMMENDATION MONITORING REPORT

HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Meeting date 
Recommendations 
Made

Portfolio Holder / 
Directorate 
Responsible

Agenda Item Title Recommendation Made Action Taken Progress Status

4 September 2017 Councillor Lamb, 
Cabinet Member for 
Public Health / Dr Liz 
Robin, Director of 
Public Health

4. PETERBOROUGH 
ANNUAL PUBLIC 
HEALTH REPORT

The Health Scrutiny Committee 
considered the report and 
RECOMMENDED that the  
Director of Public Health include 
in future Annual Public Health 
Reports details on healthy 
eating habits and statistics on air 
quality as both have an impact 
on the health of local people.

Update at 6 November 
2017 Meeting:
The Director of Public 
Health advised that the 
request from the Health 
Scrutiny Committee has 
been logged and will be 
taken in to consideration 
when preparing the 
Annual Public Health 
Report for 2018, next 
year.

Ongoing

6 November 2017 Aidan Fallon, Head 
of Communication & 
Engagement, 
Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough STP:

5. SUSTAINABLE 
TRANSFORMATION 
PARTNERSHIPS

The Health Scrutiny Committee 
noted the report and 
RECOMMENDED that the 
Head of Communication & 
Engagement, Cambridgeshire 
& Peterborough STP:

1. Develops an action plan 
that would fully address 
current and future workforce 
shortages.

2. Produce future reports in 
clear and plain English 

The Head of 
Communication & 
Engagement, 
Cambridgeshire & 
Peterborough STP 
provided the following 
response:

Arrangements are being 
made for Committee 
members to receive a 
bespoke workshop to 
address the workforce 
queries raised at the 
6th November meeting.  

Ongoing

167



Meeting date 
Recommendations 
Made

Portfolio Holder / 
Directorate 
Responsible

Agenda Item Title Recommendation Made Action Taken Progress Status

making them easier to read 
by the general public.

This workshop will be 
attended and facilitated 
by senior Human 
Resource leaders from 
the local NHS and care 
sector.  A formal report 
will then be submitted to 
a subsequent 
Committee meeting 
addressing the issues 
raised. 

Update as of 1 March 
2018: This workshop is 
currently being arranged 
and is likely to be held 
on 28 March 2018.

The recommendation 
regarding future reports 
is noted.

168



HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM No.  11

12 MARCH 2018 PUBLIC REPORT

Report of: Interim Director of Law and Governance 
Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Cabinet Member for Resources

Contact Officer(s): Paulina Ford, Senior Democratic Services Officer Tel. 01733 452508

FORWARD PLAN OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S
FROM: Senior Democratic Services Officer Deadline date: N/A

     It is recommended that the Health Scrutiny Committee:

1. Considers the current Forward Plan of Executive Decisions and identifies any relevant items for 
inclusion within their work programme or request further information.

1. ORIGIN OF REPORT

1.1 The report is presented to the Committee in accordance with the Terms of Reference as set out 
in section 2.2 of the report.

2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT

2.1 This is a regular report to the Health Scrutiny Committee outlining the content of the Forward 
Plan of Executive Decisions.

2.2 This report is for the Health Scrutiny Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference No. 
Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny Functions, paragraph 3.3:

The Scrutiny Committees will:

(f)  Hold the Executive to account for the discharge of functions in the following ways:

ii) By scrutinising Key Decisions which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in 
the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions;

3. TIMESCALES 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan?

NO If yes, date for 
Cabinet meeting 

N/A

4. BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES

4.1 The latest version of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions is attached at Appendix 1. The 
Forward Plan contains those Executive Decisions which the Leader of the Council believes that 

169



4.2

4.3

4.4

the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Member(s) can take and any new key decisions to be taken 
after 2 April 2018.

The information in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions provides the Committee with the 
opportunity of considering whether it wishes to seek to influence any of these executive decisions, 
or to request further information.

If the Committee wished to examine any of the executive decisions, consideration would need to 
be given as to how this could be accommodated within the work programme.

As the Forward Plan is published fortnightly any version of the Forward Plan published after 
dispatch of this agenda will be tabled at the meeting.

5. CONSULTATION

5.1 Details of any consultation on individual decisions are contained within the Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions.

6. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES OR IMPACT

6.1 After consideration of the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions the Committee may request 
further information on any Executive Decision that falls within the remit of the Committee.

7. REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATION

7.1 The report presented allows the Committee to fulfil the requirement to scrutinise Key Decisions 
which the Executive is planning to take, as set out in the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions in 
accordance with their terms of reference as set out in Part 3, Section 4 - Overview and Scrutiny 
Functions, paragraph 3.3.

8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED

8.1 N/A

9. IMPLICATIONS

Financial Implications

9.1 N/A

Legal Implications

9.2 N/A

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985

10.1 None

11. APPENDICES

11.1 Appendix 1 – Forward Plan of Executive Decisions

170



PETERBOROUGH CITY 
COUNCIL’S FORWARD PLAN 
OF EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 

PUBLISHED: 2 MARCH 2018

FORWARD PLAN

PART 1 – KEY DECISIONS
In the period commencing 28 clear days after the date of publication of this Plan, Peterborough City Council's Executive intends to take 'key decisions' on the issues set out below 

171



in Part 1.  Key decisions relate to those executive decisions which are likely to result in the Council spending or saving money in excess of £500,000 and/or have a significant 
impact on two or more wards in Peterborough.

If the decision is to be taken by an individual Cabinet Member, the name of the Cabinet Member is shown against the decision, in addition to details of the Councillor’s portfolio. If 
the decision is to be taken by the Cabinet, this too is shown against the decision and its members are as listed below:
Cllr Holdich (Leader); Cllr Fitzgerald (Deputy Leader); Cllr Ayres, Cllr Elsey; Cllr Hiller, Cllr Lamb; Cllr Smith; Cllr Seaton and Cllr Walsh.

This Plan should be seen as an outline of the proposed decisions for the forthcoming month and it will be updated on a fortnightly basis to reflect new key-decisions.  Each new 
Plan supersedes the previous Plan and items may be carried over into forthcoming Plans.  Any questions on specific issues included on the Plan should be included on the form 
which appears at the back of the Plan and submitted to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk,  Democratic and Constitutional Services Manager, Governance Department, Town 
Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388039). Alternatively, you can submit your views via e-mail to or by telephone on 01733 452460. For each decision a public report will 
be available from the Democratic Services Team one week before the decision is taken.

PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISION IN PRIVATE
Whilst the majority of the Executive’s business at the Cabinet meetings listed in this Plan will be open to the public and media organisations to attend, there will be some business 
to be considered that contains, for example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information.  In these circumstances the meeting may be held in private, and on the 
rare occasion this applies, notice will be given within Part 2 of this document, ‘notice of intention to hold meeting in private’. A further formal notice of the intention to hold the 
meeting, or part of it, in private, will also be given 28 clear days in advance of any private meeting in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings 
and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 

The Council invites members of the public to attend any of the meetings at which these decisions will be discussed (unless a notice of intention to hold the meeting in private has 
been given).

PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS
For complete transparency relating to the work of the Executive, this Plan also includes an overview of non-key decisions to be taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members, 
these decisions are listed at Part 3 and will be updated on a weekly basis.

You are entitled to view any documents listed on the Plan, or obtain extracts from any documents listed or subsequently submitted to the decision maker prior to the decision 
being made, subject to any restrictions on disclosure. There is no charge for viewing the documents, although charges may be made for photocopying or postage.  Documents 
listed on the notice and relevant documents subsequently being submitted can be requested from Philippa Turvey, Democratic and Constitutional Services Manager, Governance 
Department, Town Hall, Bridge Street, PE1 1HG (fax 08702 388038), e-mail to philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk or by telephone on 01733 452460. 

All decisions will be posted on the Council's website: www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions. If you wish to make comments or representations regarding the 'key decisions' 
outlined in this Plan, please submit them to the Democratic and Constitutional Services Manager using the form attached.  For your information, the contact details for the Council's 
various service departments are incorporated within this Plan.

172

mailto:philippa.turvey@peterborough.gov.uk
http://www.peterborough.gov.uk/executivedeisions


PART 1 – FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

KEY DECISIONS FROM 2 APRIL 2018
KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

SACRE Agreed 
Syllabus – 
KEY/02APRIL18/01
To adopt the SACRE 
(Standing Advisory 
Council for Religious 
Education) Agreed 
Syllabus

Councillor 
Lynne 
Ayres, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Education, 
Skills and 
University

April 2018 Children And 
Education

All 
Wards

Schools Lynne Rayner - 
Governor 
Services 
Manager - 01733 
863643 -
Lynne.Rayner@p
eterborough.gov.
uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

Amendment to Loan 
Facility – 
KEY/02APRIL18/02
To agree an amendment 
to the Council’s loan 
facility

Councillor 
David 
Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

April 2018 Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant stakeholders 
and Serco.

Marion Kelly, 
Corporate 
Director, 
Resources
Tel: 01733 
452520
Email: 
Marion.kelly@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

Advice provided by the 
Council's external financial and 
legal advisers

173



PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED KEY DECISIONS

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO 
THE DECISION 
MAKER 
INCLUDING 
EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

1. Personal Care and 
Support  (Homecare) 
in Peterborough – 
KEY/02MAY16/01
To approve the 
awarding of a contract 
to an external provider 
following a competitive 
tender exercise.

Councillor Wayne 
Fitzgerald
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health 

April 2018 Adult and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Rajnish Ahuja
Procurement Project 
Manager (Interim)
Tel: 01733 317471
Email: 
rajnish.ahuja@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other 
than the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

2. Peterborough Serco 
Strategic Partnership 
Contract 
Amendments – 
KEY/28NOV16/02 
To agree amendments 
to the Serco 
Partnership Contract

Councillor David 
Seaton Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant 
stakeholders and 
Serco.

Peter Carpenter,
Service Director – 
Financial Services
Tel: 01733 384564
Email: 
Peter.carpenter@pe
terborough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other 
than the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

174



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO 
THE DECISION 
MAKER 
INCLUDING 
EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

3. Serco ICT Contract 
Amendments – 
KEY/28NOV16/03
To agree amendments 
to the Serco ICT 
Contract.

Councillor David 
Seaton Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant 
stakeholders and 
Serco.

Peter Carpenter,
Service Director – 
Financial Services
Tel: 01733 384564
Email: 
Peter.carpenter@pe
terborough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other 
than the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

4. Affordable Warmth 
Strategy 2017 – 2019 
KEY/17APR17/03 
Recommendation to 
approve the Affordable 
Warmth Strategy 2017 
– 2019

Councillor Walsh, 
Cabinet Member 
for Communities 

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

The draft strategy 
will be placed on 
PCC Consultation 
pages for 3 week 
consultation 
period

Sharon Malia - 
Housing 
Programmes 
Manager, Tel: 01733 
863764 
sharon.malia@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other 
than the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

BRE Integrated 
Dwelling Level 
Housing Stock 
Modelling Report 
July 2016 Housing 
Renewals Policy 
2017 - 2019

175

mailto:sharon.malia@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:sharon.malia@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

5. Real Time Passenger 
Information - 
KEY/15MAY17/02 
Award of the Contract 
along with the agreement 
to sign the partnership and 
data sharing agreements 
with neighbouring local 
authorities and bus 
operators associated with 
this contract

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Consultation has 
taken place with 
bus operators in 
the city and will 
continue to do so 
for the duration of 
the tender 
process

Peter Tebb
Network and 
Traffic Manager
Tel: 01733 
453519
Email: 
Peter.tebb@pet
erborough.gov.u
k 

Amy Pickstone
Senior ITS 
Officer
5 317481
Email:amy.picks
tone@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any documents 
other than the report and 
relevant appendices to be 
published.
The decision will include 
an exempt annexe. By 
virtue of paragraph 3, 
information relating to the 
financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

176

tel:01733


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO 
THE DECISION 
MAKER 
INCLUDING 
EXEMPT 
APPENDICES 
AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

6. Approval to early 
infrastructure works to 
facilitate the design and 
build of two new 
schools on the Paston 
Reserve site – 
KEY/15MAY17/03
There is a requirement for 
infrastructure works to be 
undertaken on land 
identified under a S106 
Agreement to 
accommodate a new 2 
form entry primary school 
and an 8 form entry 
secondary school at the 
Paston Reserve site. 
These works include a 
new access road into the 
site from Newborough 
Road, relocation of 
overhead power cables 
and fencing to secure the 
site upon transfer to the 
Council. These works 
must be completed ahead 
of the programme to 
deliver the new school.

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development 
in consultation 
with Councillor 
Holdich, 
Leader of the 
Council

March 2018 Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Guntho
rpe

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Emma Everitt 
Capital Projects 
and Assets Officer
Tel: 01733 863660 
Email: 
emma.everitt@pet
erborough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be 
any documents 
other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.177

mailto:emma.everitt@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:emma.everitt@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATIO
N

CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO 
THE DECISION 
MAKER 
INCLUDING 
EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

7. Approval to award 
places on the Pseudo 
DPS for Residential Care 
Providers - 
KEY/29MAY17/04
Provide permission for the 
Council to enter into 
contractual arrangements 
with Residential Care 
Providers following the 
publication of a PIN notice 
inviting providers to submit 
prices and sign up to the 
Council's Residential Care 
Terms and Conditions. 
This ensures compliance 
with the Public 
Procurement Regulations 
2015 and the Care Act 
2014

Councillor 
Fitzgerald, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

July 2018 Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant 
internal and 
external 
stakeholders.

Helene Carr, Head 
of Commissioning 
Social Care Tel: 
01733 863901, 
Email: 
Helene.carr@peter
borough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other 
than the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

178



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT 
TO THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR EXEMPTION

8. Award of Contract - 
Social Care Platform  - 
KEY/24JULY17/01
To approve the award of a 
contract to develop and 
implement a technology 
platform that would sit
across the current adult 
and children’s social care 
IT systems

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment & 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All 
Wards

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

N/A

Peter 
Carpenter,
Service 
Director – 
Financial 
Services
01733 
384564
Peter.carpent
er@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

9. Award of Contract - 
Social Care e-
marketplace – 
KEY/24JULY17/02
To approve the awarding 
of a contract to provide a 
social care e-marketplace 
IT system

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment & 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All 
Wards

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

N/A

Peter 
Carpenter,
Service 
Director – 
Financial 
Services
01733 
384564
Peter.carpent
er@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

179

mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

10. Award of Contract - 
Social Care Operating 
Model  – 
KEY/24JULY17/05
To approve the awarding of 
a contract to develop a 
social care operating model 

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Wards Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

N/A

Peter 
Carpenter,
Service 
Director – 
Financial 
Services
01733 384564
Peter.carpente
r@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

The decision will 
include an exempt 
annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, 
information relating to 
the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person 
(including the authority 
holding that 
information).

180

mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISIO
N 
EXPECT
ED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

11. Acquisition of 
Regeneration Site – 
KEY/24JULY17/06
To approve the acquisition 
of a local regeneration site.

Councillor David 
Seaton Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central Relevant Internal 
and External 
Stakeholders.

Jane McDaid
Head of 
Peterborough 
Property 
services
Tel: 01733 
384540
Email: 
Jane.mcdaid@
peterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

The decision will 
include an exempt 
annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, 
information relating to 
the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person 
(including the 
authority holding that 
information).

12. Replacement Social Care 
System For Adult Social 
Care – KEY/21AUG17/01
Approval for purchase and 
implementation of 
replacement social care 
system for adult social care. 

Councillor 
Fitzgerald, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated Adult 
Social Care and 
Health

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Caroline 
Townsend, 
Programme 
Manager, 
Tel. No: 07920 
160512, 
Email:caroline.
townsend@pet
erborough.gov
.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

181

mailto:Jane.mcdaid@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Jane.mcdaid@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Jane.mcdaid@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

13. Approval of Entering Into 
Contracts With 
Residential and Nursing 
Home Providers In 
Accordance With Service 
User Choice of Home Via 
The Pseudo Dynamic 
Purchasing System as 
recommended by the PCC 
Legal Department – 
KEY/21AUG17/02
The Pseudo DPS will be 
opened for 4 years.
PCC needs to be able to 
call off the selected list 
as/when required for the 
entire 4 year period that 
PSEUDO DPS is opened. 

Councillor 
Fitzgerald, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.
ADASS Eastern 
Region

Helene Carr, 
Head of 
Commissionin
g Social Care 
Tel:01733 
863901, Email: 
helene.carr@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk 

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published

14. Award of Insurance 
Contract – 
KEY/18SEP17/01
Evaluation of insurance 
tenders received to be 
reviewed and award of 
contract to be made.

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

None.

Steve 
Crabtree, 
Chief Internal 
Auditor, 01733 
384557,steve.
crabtree@Pet
erborough.gov
.uk

Evaluation of insurance 
tender submissions 
prepared by the Council's 
brokers, JLT. 

182



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

15. Continuation of Housing 
Renewal Policy grants 
through the Care & Repair 
Agency – 
KEY/18SEP17/02
Permission is sought to 
continue to use the current 
tendering processes for non 
framework works funded 
through Repairs Assistance 
Grants and Disabled 
Facility Grants. A full 
procurement process is 
being undertaken to 
introduce frameworks for all 
of this work which is aimed 
to be in place by the 1st 
May 2018. This interim 
arrangement will allow the 
capital programme to be 
continued 

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

CMDN published 
on website

Sharon Malia 
Housing 
Programmes 
Manager 
sharon.malia
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

None

183



KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

16. Award of contract for the 
expansion and partial 
remodelling of Ken 
Stimpson Community 
School – KEY/18SEP17/03
The intention is to expand 
the school by 2 forms of 
entry (300 additional pupils 
plus 150 sixth form) to meet 
the growing need for 
secondary school places. A 
new building block is 
planned on the site with an 
extension to the dinning hall 
and minor remodelling to an 
adjacent building. As part of 
the remodelling the on site 
library will be demolished - 
following its relocation to a 
suitable site close by.

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Education, 
Skills and 
University

March 
2018

Children and 
Education 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Werrington Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Consultation will 
include: Senior 
School 
Management team, 
Sport England, 
local residents and 
the Department 
For Education

Stuart 
Macdonald. 
Schools 
Infrastructur
e. 07715 
802 489. 
stuart.macd
onald@pet
erborough.g
ov.uk

School Organisation Plan 
2015 -2022

184

mailto:stuart.macdonald@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:stuart.macdonald@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:stuart.macdonald@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:stuart.macdonald@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

17. Approval of Contract of 
Generalist Advice 
Services – 
KEY/16OCT17/04
To approve the contract to 
deliver general advice 
services to clients requiring 
help particularly around 
welfare benefits, debt and 
money management.

Councillor 
Seaton, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities

City wide 
service 
provision

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Voluntary sector 
advice agencies 
consulted in 
service design. 
Market testing of 
providers has also 
taken place.

Ian Phillips, 
Senior Policy 
Manager 
ian.phillips@
peterborough
.gov.uk 
863849

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published

18. ICT Infrastructure works 
for Fletton Quays – 
KEY/13NOV17/02
To agree to the 
procurement of ICT 
infrastructure works for 
Fletton Quays

 

Councillor 
Seaton, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee
 

N/A Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Peter 
Carpenter,
Service 
Director – 
Financial 
Services
01733 
384564
Peter.carpent
er@peterbor
ough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.
The decision will include 
an exempt annexe. By 
virtue of paragraph 3, 
information relating to the 
financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information). 

185

mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Peter.carpenter@peterborough.gov.uk


KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

19. Allocation of grant to 
provide 29 affordable 
homes at a site on 
Midland Road -  
KEY/11DEC17/02
To approve the allocation of 
grant to provide affordable 
homes

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central 
Ward

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

None - Ward Cllrs 
for Central Ward 
will be consulted

Anne Keogh 
Housing and 
Strategic 
Planning 
Manager tel: 
01733 
863815 
anne.keogh1
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published

20. Expansion and 
Remodelling of 
Marshfields School – 
KEY/11DEC17/03
To approve the proposed 
expansion and remodelling 
of Marshfields school

Councillor 
Lynne Ayres, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Education, 
Skills and 
University

March 
2018

Children and 
Education 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Dogsthorp
e Ward

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Public 
Consultation 
Meeting

Sharon 
Bishop, 
Capital 
Projects & 
Assets 
Officer 
Sharon.bisho
p@peterboro
ugh.gov.uk

School Organisational 
Plan

186

mailto:anne.keogh1@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:anne.keogh1@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:anne.keogh1@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.bishop@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.bishop@peterborough.gov.uk
mailto:Sharon.bishop@peterborough.gov.uk


DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

21. Purchase of land and 
building in the centre of 
Peterborough – 
KEY/11DEC17/06
To delegate authority to the 
Corporate Director of 
Growth and Regeneration 
to purchase the property

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Jane McDaid
Head of 
Peterborough 
Property 
services
Tel: 01733 
384540
Email: 
Jane.mcdaid
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.
The decision will 
include an exempt 
annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, 
information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

22. Disposal of freehold in 
Centre of the City – 
KEY/11DEC17/07
To delegate authority to the 
Corporate Director of 
Growth and Regeneration 
to sell the property

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Jane McDaid
Head of 
Peterborough 
Property 
services
Tel: 01733 
384540
Email: 
Jane.mcdaid
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.
The decision will 
include an exempt 
annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, 
information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

187



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

23. Purchase of building in 
the centre of 
Peterborough – 
KEY/11DEC17/08
To delegate authority to the 
Corporate Director of 
Growth and Regeneration 
to purchase the property

Councillor 
David Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Jane McDaid
Head of 
Peterborough 
Property 
services
Tel: 01733 
384540
Email: 
Jane.mcdaid@
peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any documents 
other than the report and 
relevant appendices to be 
published.
The decision will include 
an exempt annexe. By 
virtue of paragraph 3, 
information relating to the 
financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

24. Purchase of land to the 
east of the city - 
KEY/25DEC17/02 Delegate 
authority to the Corporate 
Director of Growth and 
Regeneration to purchase 
the property.

Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources, 
Councillor 
Seaton

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

East Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Jane McDaid
Head of 
Peterborough 
Property 
services
Tel: 01733 
384540
Email: 
Jane.mcdaid@
peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any documents 
other than the report and 
relevant appendices to be 
published.
The decision will include 
an exempt annexe. By 
virtue of paragraph 3, 
information relating to the 
financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information).

188



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATIO
N

CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

25. A605 Whittlesey Access 
Phase 2 - Stanground 
Access - KEY/25DEC17/03
To approve the design and 
construction of the A605 
Stanground East Junction 
Improvements for the 
financial year of 2017/18 - 
2018-19 and authorise the 
associated package of work 
to be issued to Skanska 
Construction UK Limited 
under the Council’s existing 
agreement with SKANSKA 
dated 18th September 2013 
(the Highways Services 
Agreement).

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Stanground 
South

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

The scheme is 
included in the 
fourth Local 
Transport Plan. 
Further 
consultation will 
be undertaken 
during the design 
process, 
including ward 
Councillors.

Lewis Banks, 
Principal 
Sustainable 
Transport 
Planning 
Officer. 

Tel: 01733 
317465, 
Email: 
lewis.banks
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

Fourth Local Transport 
Plan: 
www.peterborough.gov.uk
/ltp
National Productivity 
Investment Fund for the 
Local Road Network 
Application Form: 
https://www.peterborough.
gov.uk/upload/www.peter
borough.gov.uk/residents/
transport-and-
streets/A605Application.p
df?inline=true

189

https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/residents/transport-and-streets/A605Application.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/residents/transport-and-streets/A605Application.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/residents/transport-and-streets/A605Application.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/residents/transport-and-streets/A605Application.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/residents/transport-and-streets/A605Application.pdf?inline=true
https://www.peterborough.gov.uk/upload/www.peterborough.gov.uk/residents/transport-and-streets/A605Application.pdf?inline=true


DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

26. Approval of funding 
allocation for the 
improvement to open 
spaces in the CAN Do 
area of the city as part of 
the capital regeneration 
programme for the area -
KEY/25DEC17/04
Improvement to open 
spaces in the CAN Do area 
of the city as part of the 
capital regeneration 
programme for the area

Councillor 
Elsey, Cabinet 
Member for 
Waste and 
Street Scene

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central, 
North & 
Park 
wards

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Community 
engagement with 
local residents, 
businesses & 
partner 
organisations

Cate 
Harding, 
Community 
Capacity 
Manager. 

Tel: 01733 
317497. 
Email: 
Cate.harding
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

Budget allocation in MTFP 
2017/18

27. Approval of funding 
allocation for community 
facility improvements in 
the CAN Do area of the 
city as part of the capital 
Regeneration Programme 
for the area - 
KEY/25DEC17/05
community facility 
improvements in the CAN 
Do area of the city as part 
of the capital Regeneration 
Programme for the area

Councillor 
Seaton, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central, 
North & 
Park 
wards

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Community 
engagement with 
residents, groups, 
businesses and 
partner 
organisations

Cate 
Harding, 
Community 
Capacity 
Manager. 

Tel: 01733 
317497. 
Email: 
cate.harding
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

Budget allocation of £4m 
in MTFP 2017/8

190



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

28. Approval of funding 
allocation for the public 
realm improvements 
within the CAN Do area of 
the city as part of the 
capital regeneration 
programme for the area - 
KEY/25DEC17/06
public realm improvements 
within the CAN Do area

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central, 
North & 
Park 
wards

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Community 
engagement with 
local residents, 
groups, 
businesses and 
partner agencies

Cate 
Harding, 
Community 
Capacity 
Manager. 

Tel: 01733 
317497. 
Email: 
cate.harding
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

Budget allocation £3m in 
MTFP 2017/18

29. Approval of the Transport 
Programme of Capital 
Works.- KEY/5FEB18/01
To Approve The Transport 
Programme Of Capital 
Works For The 2018/19 - 
2020/21 Financial Years

Councillor 
Hiller, Cabinet 
Member for 
Growth, 
Planning, 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Lewis Banks, 
Principal 
Transport 
Planning 
Officer, 
01733 
317465, 
Lewis.Banks
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

Peterborough Local 
Transport Plan 4 (2016 – 
2021)
http://www.peterborough.g
ov.uk/ltp

191



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

30. Housing Related Support 
Grant Agreements 2018/2019 
– KEY/5FEB18/02
A decision is required to award 
specific grants for the funding of 
Housing Related Support, which 
will be funded through the 
Housing Related Support 
(formerly Supporting People) 
Programme for the period 1st 
April 2018 to 31st March 2019

Councillor 
Seaton, 
Cabinet 
Member 
for 
Resources

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

N/A All existing 
providers of HRS 
will be consulted

Sharon 
Malia, 
Housing 
Programmes 
Manager, 
Tel: 01733 
863764 
sharon.malia
@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published

31. Healthy Schools - 
KEY/19FEB18/01
Decision required is for 
Peterborough City Council to 
enter into an agreement with 
Cambridgeshire County Council 
to jointly commission a Healthy 
Schools programme to be 
delivered across Peterborough 
and Cambridgeshire from 01 
September 2018. The proposed 
contract will be for three years 
with an option to extend by a 
further two years. The total 
contract value over a five year 
period would be £1,100,000. 
The Peterborough City Council 
contribution to this total over a 
five year period would be 
£310,000.

Councillor 
Lamb, 
Cabinet 
Member 
for Public 
Health

March 
2018

Health 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.
A market testing 
exercise will be 
undertaken.

Julian Base
Head of 
Healthy 
Living
Tel: 01733 
207180
Email: 
julian.base@
peterborough
.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

192



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION 
MAKER INCLUDING 
EXEMPT APPENDICES 
AND REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

32. Adult Social Care 
Contracts for Placements 
in Care Homes - 
KEY/19FEB18/02
The Cabinet Member is 
recommended to authorise 
the Corporate Director for 
People and Communities to 
make residential 
placements in care homes 
until November 2018.

Councillor 
Fizgerald, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

March 
2018

Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.
Extensive 
consultation with 
the local care 
homes that 
focused on the 
terms and 
conditions of the 
service contract 
the Council will 
employ.

Gary Jones, 
Head of 
Service - 
Interim Head 
of Adults  
Commissioni
ng, 
Tel- 01733 
452450
Email: 
gary.jones@
peterborough
.gov.uk; 

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

33. Approval of Better Care 
Fund Section 75 
agreement – 
KEY/19MAR18/01
To approve the revised 
Better Care Fund Section 
75 Agreement between the 
Council and Clinical 
Commissioning Group to 
reflect the 2017-19 Better 
Care Fund plans and 
associated financial 
arrangements.

Councillor 
Fitzgerald, 
Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member for 
Integrated 
Adult Social 
Care and 
Health

March 
2018

Health
Scrutiny 
Committee

All N/A Caroline 
Townsend, 
Programme 
Manager 
Better Care 
Fund, 07920 
160512, 
caroline.town
send@peterb
orough.gov.u
k

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than the 
report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published

193



PART 2 – NOTICE OF INTENTION TO TAKE DECISIONS IN PRIVATE

KEY DECISIONS TO BE TAKEN IN PRIVATE 

KEY DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS / 
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO 
THE DECISION 
MAKER 

NONE

 

194



PART 3 – NOTIFICATION OF NON-KEY DECISIONS

NON-KEY DECISIONS

NON KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

Public Space 
Protection Order
The Cabinet Member to 
authorise 
commencement of the 
necessary public 
consultation for the 
Public Space Protection 
Order under Section 72 
(3) of the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime & 
Policing Act 2014

Councillor 
Walsh, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Communities

April 2018 Adults and 
Communities

Fletton 
and 
Woodston

Police, Fire 
Service, Internal 
PCC departments, 
local residents

Laura Kelsey, 
Senior PES 
Officer
E-mail: 
laura.Kelsey@pet
erborough.gov.uk 
Tel: 01733 
453563

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

ICT Strategy 
The Cabinet member to 
authorise the Council's 
ICT Strategy and Client 
arrangements to ensure 
that ICT Services are fit 
for purpose to deliver the 
Council’s objectives

Cabinet 26 March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources

N/A N/A Peter Carpenter, 
Service Director - 
Financial 
Services
Tel:
Email:peter.carpe
nter@peterborou
gh.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

195



NON KEY DECISION 
REQUIRED

DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

Approval of draft 
updated Regulation 
123 list and 
consolidated 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) governance 
policies.
Agreement from Cabinet 
to go out to consultation 
on a refreshed 
Regulation 123 list and 
the consolidated 
Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
governance policies.

Cabinet 16 July 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All 
Wards

A public consultation 
will take place once 
the draft documents 
have been approved 
for consultation by 
Cabinet

Phil Hylton Senior 
Strategic 
Planning Officer, 
tel: 863879 
philip.hylton@pet
erborough.gov.uk

Draft Reg 123 list and draft CIL 
governance policy 

196



PREVIOUSLY ADVERTISED DECISIONS
DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 

MAKER
DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS / 
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING 
EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

1. Vivacity Funding –
To fund Vivacity £1278 until 
March 2017 (via DWP grant 
funding) to provide digital 
support for UC claimants to 
make benefit claims online at 
Central Library.

Councillor 
David 
Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Ian Phillips
Social Inclusion 
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Ian.phillips@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

Service Specification 
and SLA to jointly 
commission with 
Cambridgeshire 
County Council

2. Delivery of the Council’s 
Capital Receipt Programme 
through the sale of Welland 
House, Dogsthorpe - 
To authorise the sale of 
Welland House, Dogsthorpe 

Councillor 
David 
Seaton
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Dogsthor
pe 
Councill
ors:
Ash, 
Saltmars
h, Sharp

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

David Gray
Capital Projects 
Officer
Tel: 01733 384531
Email: 
david.gray@peterbo
rough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

197



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

3. Proposal for Loan of 
Senior Management Staff 
Under Joint Arrangements 
– 
To approve a sharing 
agreement for senior 
management staff. 

Councillor 
David 
Seaton
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Fiona McMillan
Interim Director of 
Law and 
Governance
Tel: 01733 452361
Fiona.McMillan@p
eterborough.gov.u
k 

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

4. Funding of Information, 
Advice and Guidance 
services within the 
voluntary sector - 
To authorise award of grants.

Councillor 
David 
Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
& Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Ian Phillips 
Senior Policy 
Manager
Tel: 01733 863849
Email: 
ian.phillips@peterb
orough.gov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

5. Daily cleanse around 
Gladstone Street and 
nearby streets - 
Daily mechanical cleanse in 
the area focused around 
Gladstone Street and other 
nearby streets. This will 
encompass a mechanical 
sweeper and operative.

Councillor 
Elsey, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Waste and 
Street 
Scene

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central 
Ward
Cllrs 
Hussain, 
Amjad 
Iqbal, 
Jamil

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.
Cross party task 
and finish group 
report which went 
to the Growth, 
Environment and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee.  It was 
also part of the full 
council decision to 
implement as part 
of the budget for 
2017-18.

James 
Collingridge, Amey 
Partnership 
Manager, 
Tel: 01733 864736 
Email: 
james.collingridge
@peterborough.go
v.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

198



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

6. A Lengthmans to be 
deployed on Lincoln 
Road Millfield - 
There will be a daily 
presence along Lincoln 
Road, the operative will 
litter pick, empty bins as 
well as report fly-tips and 
other environmental 
issues.

Councillor 
Elsey, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Waste and 
Street Scene

March 2018 Growth, 
Environment
& Resources
Scrutiny 
Committee

Central Ward
Cllrs Hussain, 
Amjad Iqbal, 
Jamil

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Cross party task 
and finish group 
report which went 
to the Growth, 
Environment and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee and it 
was also 
approved at Full 
Council as part of 
the 2017-18 
Budget.

James 
Collingridge, 
Amey 
Partnership 
Manager, Tel: 
01733 864736 
Email: 
james.collingri
dge@peterbor
ough.gov.uk 

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

7. 2017/18 VCS grant 
funding -
Award of grant to VCS 
organisations to provide 
Information, Advice and 
Guidance services

Councillor 
Seaton, 
Cabinet 
Member for 
Resources

March 2018 Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All wards Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Ian Phillips 
Senior Policy 
Manager 
Tel: 863849 
Email: 
ian.phillips@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated 
that there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and 
relevant appendices 
to be published.

199



DECISION REQUIRED DECISIO
N 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

8. Draft Developers Contribution 
Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD)
To approve the draft Developers 
Contribution SPD for public 
consultation

Cabinet 26 March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Anne Keogh 
Housing and 
Strategic 
Planning 
Manager 
tel:863815 
anne.keogh1
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published

9. Approval of the Preliminary Draft 
of the Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan for Public Consultation – 
Approval of the Preliminary Draft of 
the Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
for Public Consultation

Cabinet 26 March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Public consultation 
will follow approval 
by Cabinet

Richard Kay, 
Head of 
Sustainable 
Growth
Email:
richard.kay@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk Tel: 
01733 863795

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

200



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

10. Inclusion of Investment 
Acquisition Strategy in the 
Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) - 
To recommend to Council 
that the Investment 
Acquisition Strategy be 
included in the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy to enable 
the Council to acquire 
investment properties

Cabinet 26 March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources

N/A Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Jane.McDaid
@peterboroug
h.gov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

The decision will 
include an exempt 
annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, 
information relating 
to the financial or 
business affairs of 
any particular person 
(including the 
authority holding that 
information).

11. Grant funding for voluntary 
organisations – 
To provide funding for 
voluntary organisations in 
Peterborough to carry out 
essential support for 
vulnerable people, 
particularly in relation to 
welfare benefits assistance 
and other crisis support.

Councillor 
Seaton, 
Cabinet 
Member 
for 
Resources

March 2018 Adults and 
Communities 
Scrutiny 
Committee

N/A Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

Ian Phillips
Social 
Inclusion 
Manager

Tel: 01733 
863849 Email: 
Ian.Phillips@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

201



DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS 
RELEVANT TO THE 
DECISION 
SUBMITTED TO THE 
DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND 
REASONS FOR 
EXEMPTION

12. Healthy Workplace - 
Decision required is for 
Peterborough City Council to 
enter into an agreement with 
Cambridgeshire County 
Council to jointly commission 
a Healthy Workplace 
programme to be delivered 
across Peterborough and 
Cambridgeshire from 01 April 
2018. The proposed contract 
will be for three years with an 
option to extend by a further 
two years. The total contract 
value over a five year period 
would be £350,000. The 
Peterborough City Council 
contribution to this total over 
a five year period would be 
£125,000.

Councillor 
Lamb, 
Cabinet 
Member 
for Public 
Health

March 2018 Health 
Scrutiny 
Committee

All Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders.

A market testing 
exercise has been 
undertaken.

Julian Base
Head of 
Healthy Living

Tel: 01733 
207180
Email: 
julian.base@p
eterborough.g
ov.uk

It is not anticipated that 
there will be any 
documents other than 
the report and relevant 
appendices to be 
published.

202



PART 4 – NOTIFICATION OF KEY DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER URGENCY PROCEDURES

DECISION REQUIRED DECISION 
MAKER

DATE 
DECISION 
EXPECTED

RELEVANT 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

WARD CONSULTATION CONTACT 
DETAILS /  
REPORT 
AUTHORS

DOCUMENTS RELEVANT TO 
THE DECISION SUBMITTED 
TO THE DECISION MAKER 
INCLUDING EXEMPT 
APPENDICES AND REASONS 
FOR EXEMPTION

1. Disposal of freehold in 
North West of the City – 
KEY/11DEC17/05
To delegate authority to the 
Corporate Director of 
Growth and Regeneration 
to sell the property

Councillor 
David 
Seaton 
Cabinet 
Member 
for 
Resources

March 
2018

Growth, 
Environment 
and 
Resources 
Scrutiny 
Committee

Ravens
thorpe

Relevant internal 
and external 
stakeholders

Jane McDaid
Head of 
Peterborough 
Property 
services
Tel: 01733 
384540
Email: 
Jane.mcdaid@
peterborough.
gov.uk

It is not anticipated that there 
will be any documents other 
than the report and relevant 
appendices to be published.

The decision will include an 
exempt annexe. By virtue of 
paragraph 3, information 
relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any 
particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information).

203



DIRECTORATE RESPONSIBILITIES

RESOURCES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director's Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
City Services and Communications (Markets and Street Trading, City Centre Management including Events, Regulatory Services, Parking Services, Vivacity Contract, 
CCTV and Out of Hours Calls, Marketing and Communications, Tourism and Bus Station, Resilience)
Strategic Finance
Internal Audit
Schools Infrastructure (Assets and School Place Planning)
Waste and Energy
Strategic Client Services (Enterprise Peterborough / Vivacity / SERCO including Customer Services, ICT and Business Support)

PEOPLE AND COMMUNITIES DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office at Bayard Place, Broadway, PE1 1FB
Adult Services and Communities (Adult Social Care Operations, Adult Social Care and Quality Assurance, Adult Social Care Commissioning, Early Help – Adults, 
Children and Families, Housing and Health Improvement, Community and Safety Services, Offender Services)
Children’s Services and Safeguarding (Children’s Social Care Operations, Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance, Safeguarding Boards – Adults and Children’s, Child 
Health, Clare Lodge (Operations), Access to Resources)
Education, People Resources and Corporate Property (Special Educational Needs and Inclusion, School Improvement, City College Peterborough, Pupil Referral Units, 
Schools Infrastructure)
Business Management and Commercial Operations (Commissioning, Recruitment and Retention, Clare Lodge (Commercial), Early Years and Quality Improvement)

GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Legal and Democratic Services 
Electoral Services
Human Resources (Business Relations, HR Policy and Rewards, Training and Development, Occupational Health and Workforce Development)
Performance and Information (Performance Management, Information Governance, Systems Support Team, Coroner’s Office, Freedom of Information)

GROWTH AND REGENERATION DEPARTMENT Corporate Director’s Office Stuart House, St Johns Street, Peterborough, PE1 5DD
Development and Construction (Development Management, Planning Compliance, Building Control)
Sustainable Growth Strategy (Strategic Planning, Housing Strategy and Affordable Housing, Climate Change and Environment Capital, Natural and Built Environment)
Opportunity Peterborough
Peterborough Highway Services (Network Management, Highways Maintenance, Street Naming and Numbering, Street Lighting, Design and Adoption of Roads, 
Drainage and Flood Risk Management, Transport Policy and Sustainable Transport, Public Transport)
Corporate Property

PUBLIC HEALTH DEPARTMENT Director’s Office at Town Hall, Bridge Street, Peterborough, PE1 1HG
Health Protection, Health Improvements, Healthcare Public Health.

204



THIS PAGE IS LEFT INTENTIONALLY BLANK

205



This page is intentionally left blank

206


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Health Scrutiny Committee  Meeting Held on 8 January 2018
	5 Dental Services in Peterborough
	5. Appendix 1 - List of Contracts in Peterborough
	5. Appendix 2 - Dental Needs Assessment

	6 Ambulance Service - Ambulance Response Program (ARP) And The Impact On Peterborough
	7 Winter Pressures
	8 Update On The Successes And Failures Of Integrated Urgent Care 1 Year On
	9 Briefing Update On Key Current Local Mental Health Workstreams
	9. Appendix 1 - Cambridgeshire health committee repot

	10 Monitoring Scrutiny Recommendations
	10. Appendix 1 - Recommendation Monitoring Report

	11 Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
	11. Appendix 1 - Forward Plan of Executive Decisions - 2 April 2018


